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EXPLANATORY NOTE REGARDING THIS ANNUAL REPORT

On December 28, 2018, our Board of Directors approved a change of Washington Gas Light Company's fiscal year from the period beginning on October 1
and ending on September 30 to the period beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31. This annual report on Form 10-K is for the twelve-month
period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019. References in this report to "calendar year" refer to the year ended December 31. References in this
report to "transition period" refer to the three-month transition period from October 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018. References in this report to "fiscal
year" refer to the twelve-month period ending on September 30. For comparison purposes, the unaudited data for twelve months ended December 31, 2018
and three months ended December 31, 2017 are presented.

SAFE HARBOR FOR FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Washington Gas Light Company (Washington Gas) is an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of, among other entities, WGL Holdings, Inc (WGL). WGL is
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of AltaGas Ltd. (AltaGas). Except where the content clearly indicates otherwise, any reference in this report to
“Washington Gas”,” “we,” “
all of its subsidiaries.

» &«

us”, “our” or “the Company” refers to Washington Gas Light Company. References to “WGL” refer to WGL Holdings, Inc. and

Certain matters discussed in this report, excluding historical information, include forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to the outlook for earnings, dividends, revenues and other future financial business performance, strategies,
financing plans, AltaGas' integration of us and other expectations. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by words such as, but not limited to,
“estimates,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “believes,” “plans” and similar expressions, or future or conditional terms such as “will,” “should,” “would”
and “could.” Forward-looking statements speak only as of the filing date of this report, and the registrant assumes no duty to update them. Factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from forward-looking statements or historical performance include those discussed in Item 1A. Risk Factors and may
include, but are not limited to the following:

2 B .

. hazards involved in the storage, transportation, moving of marketing of hydrocarbon products;

. leaks, mechanical problems, incidents, or other operational issues could affect public safety and the reliability of Washington Gas’ distribution
system;

. the availability of natural gas supply or an inability to obtain an adequate supply of gas to satisfy present and future demands;

. challenges in securing the necessary transportation or storage capacity to deliver or acquire the volume of gas necessary to meet customer

demands and future growth expectations;

. cyberattacks, including cyberterrorism, or other information technology security breaches or failures;

. the inability to meet commitments under various orders and agreements associated with regulatory approvals for the Merger;

. the Merger may not achieve its expected results and Washington Gas may be unable to successfully integrate into the operations of AltaGas;
. the occurrence of unexpected costs in connection with the Merger;

. securities class action suits and derivative suits;

. the loss of certain administrative and management functions and services provided by AltaGas;

. changes in AltaGas' strategy or relationship with Washington Gas that could affect our performance or operations;
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the ability to access capital and the costs at which Washington Gas is able to access capital and credit markets, including changes in the credit
ratings of Washington Gas, WGL, and AltaGas;

disruptions or decline in the local economy in which Washington Gas operates;

the credit-worthiness of customers; suppliers and derivatives counterparties;

changes in the value of derivative contracts and the availability of suitable derivative counterparties;

rules implementing the derivatives transaction provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act may impose costs on our derivatives activities;
failures of Washington Gas service providers that could negatively impact the Company’s business;

compliance with Section 404(a) of Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

acts of nature and catastrophic events, including terrorist acts;

an inability to attract and retain key management and sufficiently skilled operational personnel;

strikes or work stoppages by unionized employees;

changes in the costs of providing retirement plan benefits;

the extent to which we are allowed to recover from our customers, through the regulatory process, costs and expenses related to our operations
and the ability of the Company to earn a reasonable rate of return on its invested capital;

concerns involving climate change and the movement for carbon neutral energy sources;

changes in energy commodity market conditions, including the relative prices of alternative forms of energy such as electricity, fuel oil and
propane;

physical and financial risks associated with climate change;

unusual weather conditions and changes in natural gas consumption patterns;

costs associated with certain legacy operations of Washington Gas and environmental remediation efforts;
the outcome of new and existing matters before courts, regulators, government agencies or arbitrators;
changes to government fiscal and trade policies;

regulatory and financial risks related to pipeline safety legislation;

changes to the tax code and our ability to quantify such changes and seek recovery for the manner in which corporate taxes are shared with
customers; and

changes in accounting principles and the effect of accounting pronouncements issued periodically by accounting standard-setting bodies.

All such factors are difficult to predict accurately and are generally beyond the direct control of the registrant. Readers are urged to use care and consider
the risks, uncertainties and other factors that could affect the registrant’s business as described in this annual report on Form 10-K.
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GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS AND DEFINITIONS

Part I

Accelerated Pipe Replacement Programs (APRPs): Programs focused
on replacement activities, targeting specific piping materials, installed years
and/or locations which are undertaken on an expedited basis in an effort to
improve safety, system reliability and to reduce potential greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions.

Accounting Standards Codification (ASC): The source of authoritative
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

Accounting Standards Update (ASU): An update issued to communicate
changes to an ASC.

Active Customer Meters: Natural gas meters that are physically
connected to a building structure within the Washington Gas distribution
system that are receiving natural gas distribution service.

AltaGas Ltd. (AltaGas): AltaGas is a Canadian corporation that became
the parent company of WGL Holdings, Inc. upon consummation of the
Merger on July 6, 2018.

AltaGas Services (U.S.) Inc. (ASUS): ASUS is a wholly owned
subsidiary of AltaGas. It is the parent company of all AltaGas' U.S.
subsidiaries.

Area-Wide Contract: A contract between Washington Gas and the
General Services Administration for utility and energy-management
services.

Asset Optimization Program: A program to optimize the value of
Washington Gas’ long-term natural gas transportation and storage capacity
resources during periods when these resources are not being used to
physically serve customers.

Bundled Service: Service in which customers purchase both the natural
gas commodity and the distribution or delivery of the commodity from the
local regulated utility. When customers purchase bundled service from
Washington Gas, no mark-up is applied to the cost of the natural gas
commodity that is passed through to customers.

Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) Agreement: An agreement
whereby a service provider performs certain ongoing support functions.

CARE Ratemaking Adjustment (CRA): A billing mechanism in the state
of Virginia that is designed to minimize the effect of factors such as
conservation on utility net revenues.

City Gate: A point or measuring station at which a gas distribution
company, such as Washington Gas, receives natural gas from an
unaffiliated pipeline or transmission system.

Competitive Service Provider (CSP): Also referred to as Third-Party
Marketer (see definition below).

Conservation and Ratemaking Efficiency (CARE Plan): Provides for
the CRA as well as cost effective conservation and energy efficient
programs.

Delivery Service: The regulated distribution or delivery of natural gas to
retail customers. Washington Gas provides delivery service to retail
customers in Washington, D.C. and parts of Maryland and Virginia.

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization
(EBITDA): A non-GAAP performance measure that is used in assessing
the results of Washington Gas' operations.

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC): An independent
agency of the federal government that regulates the interstate transmission
of electricity, natural gas, and oil. The FERC also reviews proposals to
build liquefied natural gas terminals and interstate natural gas pipelines.

Financial Contract: A contract in which no commodity is transferred
between parties and only cash payments are exchanged in amounts equal to
the financial benefit of holding the contract.
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Firm Customers: Customers whose natural gas supply will not be
disrupted by the regulated utility to meet the needs of other customers.
Typically, this class of customer comprises residential customers and most
commercial customers.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP): A standard
framework of accounting rules used to prepare, present and report financial
statements in the United States of America.

Hampshire: Hampshire Gas Company is a subsidiary of WGL that
provides regulated interstate natural gas storage services to Washington Gas
under a FERC approved interstate storage service tariff.

Heating Degree Day (HDD): A measure of the variation in weather
based on the extent to which the daily average temperature falls below 65
degrees Fahrenheit.

Heavy Hydrocarbons (HHCs): Compounds, such as hexane, that
Washington Gas is injecting into its distribution system to treat vaporized
liquefied natural gas or domestic sources of gas that have had such HHCs
removed as a result of liquids processing.

Interruptible Customers: Large commercial customers whose service
can be temporarily interrupted in order for the regulated utility to meet the
needs of firm customers. These customers pay a lower delivery rate than
firm customers and they must be able to readily substitute an alternate fuel
for natural gas.

Lower-of-Cost or Net Realizable Value: The process of adjusting the
value of inventory to reflect the lesser of its original cost or its net
realizable value.

Mark-to-Market: The process of adjusting the carrying value of an asset
or liability to reflect its current fair value.

Merger Agreement: A reference to the agreement, consummated July 6,
2018, governing the merger of WGL's into an indirect, wholly-owned
AltaGas subsidiary, with WGL surviving as an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of AltaGas (the Merger).

Part I

New Customer Meters Added: Natural gas meters that are newly
connected to a building structure within the Washington Gas distribution
system. Service may or may not have been activated.

Normal Weather: A forecast of expected HDDs based on historical HDD
data.

PROJECTpipes: An accelerated pipe replacement program that provides
a recovery mechanism for costs of eligible infrastructure replacements in
the District of Columbia.

PSC of DC: The Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia,
a three-member board that regulates Washington Gas’ distribution
operations in the District of Columbia.

PSC of MD: The Maryland Public Service Commission, a five-member
board that regulates Washington Gas’ distribution operations in Maryland.

Purchase of Receivables (POR): A program in Maryland, whereby
Washington Gas purchases receivables from participating CSPs at approved
discount rates.

Revenue Normalization Adjustment (RNA): A regulatory billing
mechanism in the state of Maryland designed to stabilize the level of net
revenues collected from customers by eliminating the effect of deviations in
customer usage caused by variations in weather from normal levels, and
other factors such as conservation.

SCC of VA: The Commonwealth of Virginia State Corporation
Commission is a three-member board that regulates Washington Gas’
distribution operations in Virginia.

Service Area: The region in which Washington Gas operates. The service
area includes the District of Columbia, and the surrounding metropolitan
areas in Maryland and Virginia.

Steps to Advance Virginia’s Energy Plan (SAVE Plan): An accelerated
pipe replacement program that provides a recovery mechanism for costs of
eligible infrastructure replacements in the state of Virginia.
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Strategic Infrastructure Development and Enhancement Plan
(STRIDE Plan): An accelerated pipe replacement program that provides a
recovery mechanism for reasonable and prudent costs associated with
infrastructure replacements in the state of Maryland.

Tariffs: Documents approved by the regulatory commission in each
jurisdiction that set the prices Washington Gas may charge and the practices
it must follow when providing utility service to its customers.

Therm: A natural gas unit of measurement that includes a standard
measure for heating value. We report our natural gas sales and deliveries in
therms. A therm of gas contains 100,000 British thermal units of heat, or
the energy equivalent of burning approximately 100 cubic feet of natural
gas under normal conditions. Ten million therms equal approximately one
billion cubic feet of natural gas. A dekatherm is 10 therms and is
abbreviated Dth.

Third-party Marketer: Unregulated companies that sell natural gas and
electricity directly to retail customers. WGL Energy Services, an affiliate of
Washington Gas, is a third-party marketer.

Unbundling: The separation of the delivery of natural gas or electricity
from the sale of these commodities and related services that, in the past,
were provided only by a regulated utility.

Utility Net Revenues: A non-GAAP measure calculated as operating
revenues less the associated cost of gas and applicable revenue taxes. The
cost of gas associated with sales to customers and revenue taxes are
generally pass through amounts.

Washington Gas: Washington Gas Light Company (Washington Gas) is
an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of, among other entities, WGL.

Weather Normalization Adjustment (WNA): A billing adjustment
mechanism in Virginia that is designed to minimize the effect of variations
from normal weather on utility net revenues.

Part I

WGL: WGL Holdings, Inc. (WGL), a holding company that is the
indirect parent company of Washington Gas Light Company and other
affiliated subsidiaries of Washington Gas. It is an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of AltaGas.

WGL Energy Services: WGL Energy Services, Inc. is a subsidiary of
WGTL that sells natural gas and electricity to retail customers on an
unregulated basis.

WGL Energy Systems: WGL Energy Systems, Inc. is a subsidiary of
WGL that provides commercial energy efficient and sustainable solutions
to government and commercial clients.

WGL Midstream: WGL Midstream is a subsidiary of WGL that engages
in acquiring and optimizing natural gas storage and transportation assets.

Wrangler SPE LLC (Wrangler): Wrangler SPE LLC is a bankruptcy
remote special purpose entity that owns all the shares of the common stock
of Washington Gas. It was established as a wholly owned subsidiary of
WGL upon consummation of the Merger with AltaGas.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Corporate Overview

Washington Gas, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of AltaGas, has been engaged in the natural gas distribution business since its incorporation by an
Act of Congress in 1848. It was incorporated in Virginia in 1953 and in the District of Columbia in 1957. Washington Gas promotes the efficient use of clean
natural gas to improve the environment for the benefit of customers, investors, employees, and the communities it serves.

Following the July 2018 merger pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Washington Gas became an indirect, majority owned subsidiary of, among other
entities, AltaGas and WGL. In connection with the Merger, and at the command of Washington Gas’ regulators, WGL, the former parent entity of Washington
Gas, formed a wholly owned subsidiary, Wrangler SPE LLC (Wrangler), a bankruptcy remote, special purpose entity to own the common stock of
Washington Gas. Wrangler was formed for the purpose of “ring fencing” Washington Gas, that is removing Washington Gas from the bankruptcy estate of
AltaGas and its affiliates in the event that any parent or affiliate entity becomes the subject of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings.

On December 20, 2019, Washington Gas redeemed all the outstanding shares of its preferred stock. As a result, Washington Gas is now an indirect, wholly
owned subsidiary of AltaGas and WGL. At December 31, 2019, we had 1,574 employees.

Products and Services

Washington Gas is a regulated public utility company that sells and delivers natural gas to customers in accordance with tariffs approved by regulatory
commissions in the District of Columbia and the surrounding metropolitan areas in Maryland and Virginia. At December 31, 2019, Washington Gas’ service
area had a population estimated at 5.9 million and included approximately 2.2 million households and commercial structures. Washington Gas operations are
such that the loss of any one customer or group of customers would not have a significant adverse effect on its business.

Natural Gas Distribution

Washington Gas' core business is to provide regulated distribution of natural gas to retail customers under tariff rates designed to provide for a return on the
investment used in providing that service. The rates are also designed to provide for recovery of operating expenses and federal and state income taxes
incurred in providing that service. Washington Gas also sells natural gas at no margin to customers who have not elected to purchase natural gas from
unregulated third-party marketers (refer to the section entitled “Natural Gas Unbundling”). Washington Gas recovers the cost of the natural gas purchased to
serve firm customers through recovery mechanisms as approved in jurisdictional tariffs. Any difference between gas costs incurred on behalf of firm
customers and the gas costs recovered from those customers is deferred on the balance sheet as an amount to be collected from or refunded to customers in
future periods. Therefore, increases or decreases in the cost of gas associated with sales made to firm customers have no direct effect on Washington Gas’ net
revenues and net income.

Rates and Regulatory Matters

Washington Gas is regulated by the PSC of DC, the PSC of MD and the SCC of VA which approve its terms of service and the billing rates that it charges
to its customers. The rates charged to utility customers are designed to recover Washington Gas’ operating expenses and natural gas commodity costs and to
provide a return on its invested capital, including the equity in the net assets used in its firm gas sales and delivery service. For each jurisdiction in which
Washington Gas operates, changes in customer usage profiles are reflected in rate case proceedings and rates are adjusted accordingly.

For a discussion of current rates and regulatory matters, refer to the section entitled “Rates and Regulatory Matters” in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis.

Seasonality of Business Operations

Washington Gas’ business is weather-sensitive and seasonal because the majority of its business is derived from residential and small commercial
customers who use natural gas for space heating. Excluding deliveries for electric generation, 77% and 75% of the total therms delivered in Washington Gas’
service area occurred during its first and fourth quarters for calendar years 2019 and 2018, respectively. Washington Gas’ earnings are typically generated
during these two quarters, and Washington Gas typically incurs net losses in the second and third quarters. The seasonal nature of the business creates large
variations in short-term cash requirements, primarily due to the season-to-season fluctuations in the level of customer accounts receivable, unbilled revenues
and storage gas inventories. Washington Gas finances these seasonal requirements primarily through the sale
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of commercial paper backed by a revolving credit facility. For information on our management of weather risk, refer to the section entitled “Weather Risk” in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. For information about management of cash requirements, refer to the section entitled “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Natural gas supply requirements for the utility are also affected by changes in the natural gas consumption patterns of our customers that are driven by
factors other than weather. Natural gas usage per customer may decline as customers change their consumption patterns for various reasons, including:
(i) more volatile and higher natural gas prices; (ii) customer upgrades to more energy efficient appliances and building structures and (iii) a decline in the
economy in the region in which we operate.

In certain of Washington Gas’ jurisdictions (Maryland and Virginia) there are billing mechanisms in place which are designed to eliminate the effects of
variance in customer usage caused by weather and other factors such as conservation. In the District of Columbia, there is no weather normalization billing
mechanism, nor does Washington Gas hedge to offset the effects of weather. As a result, colder or warmer weather will result in variances to financial results.
On January 13, 2020, Washington Gas filed an application with the PSC of DC that requested approval for a weather normalization billing mechanism.

Natural Gas Supply and Capacity
Capacity and Supply Requirements

Washington Gas must contract for reliable and adequate natural gas supplies, interstate pipeline capacity and storage capacity to provide natural gas to its
distribution system. Washington Gas has adopted a diversified portfolio approach designed to address constraints on supply by using multiple supply receipt
points, dependable interstate pipeline transportation and storage arrangements, and its own storage and peak shaving capabilities. Washington Gas’ supply
and pipeline capacity plan is based on forecasted system requirements, and takes into account estimated load growth, attrition, conservation, geographic
location, interstate pipeline and storage capacity and contractual limitations and the forecasted movement of customers between bundled service and delivery
service. Under reduced supply conditions, Washington Gas may implement contingency plans in order to maximize the number of customers served.
Contingency plans include requests to the general population to conserve and target curtailments to specific sections of the system, consistent with
curtailment tariffs approved by regulators in each of Washington Gas’ three jurisdictions.

Washington Gas obtains natural gas supplies that originate from multiple regions throughout the United States. At December 31, 2019, Washington Gas had
multiple service agreements with four pipeline companies that provides firm transportation and/or storage services directly to Washington Gas’ city gates.
These contracts have expiration dates ranging from calendar years 2020 to 2044. Additionally, Washington Gas has contracted with various interstate pipeline
and storage companies to add to its storage and transportation capacity and continues to monitor other opportunities to acquire or participate in additional
pipeline and storage capacity to support customer growth and improve or maintain the high level of service expected by its customer base. Energy-marketing
companies that sell natural gas to customers located within Washington Gas’ service territory are responsible for acquiring natural gas for their customers;
however, Washington Gas allocates certain storage and pipeline capacity related to these customers in accordance with regulatory requirements.

Natural Gas Unbundling

Customer choice programs for natural gas customers are available to all of Washington Gas’ regulated utility customers in the District of Columbia,
Maryland and Virginia. These programs allow customers to purchase their natural gas from unregulated third-party marketers, rather than purchasing this
commodity as part of a bundled service from the local utility. When customers choose to purchase the natural gas commodity from unregulated retail
marketers, Washington Gas’ net income is not affected because Washington Gas charges its customers the cost of gas without any mark-up. When customers
select an unregulated third-party marketer as their gas supplier, Washington Gas continues to charge these customers to deliver natural gas through its
distribution system at rates identical to the delivery portion of the bundled sales service customers. Of Washington Gas’ 1.2 million active customers at
December 31, 2019, approximately 171,000 customers purchased their natural gas commodity from unregulated third-party marketers.

Asset Optimization Contracts

Washington Gas, under its asset optimization program, makes use of storage and transportation capacity resources when those assets are not required to
serve utility customers. The objective of this program is to derive a profit to be shared with its utility customers. Washington Gas executes commodity-related
physical and financial contracts in the form of forwards, futures and options as part of an asset optimization program that is managed by its internal staff.
These transactions are accounted for as derivatives. Sharing mechanisms are approved by our regulators in all three jurisdictions, accordingly, any changes in
fair
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value of the derivatives are recorded either through earnings for margins that are retained by Washington Gas or as regulatory assets or liabilities for realized
gains and losses that will be included in the rates charged to customers.

Refer to the sections entitled “Results of Operations” and “Market Risk” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis for further discussion of the asset
optimization program and its effect on earnings.

Safety and Reliability of the Natural Gas Distribution System

Maintaining and improving the public safety and reliability of Washington Gas’ distribution system is our highest priority. Doing so allows Washington Gas
to provide benefits to both customers and investors through improved customer service. Washington Gas continually monitors and reviews changes in
requirements of the codes and regulations that govern the operation of the distribution system and refines its safety practices, with a particular focus on
design, construction, maintenance, operation, replacement, inspection and monitoring practices to meet or exceed these requirements. Significant changes in
regulations can impact the cost of operating and maintaining our distribution system.

Washington Gas has accelerated pipe and infrastructure replacement programs in place in the District of Columbia, Maryland, and Virginia. These are long-
term programs subject to both changing conditions and regulatory review and approval in five-year increments. Washington Gas is accelerating pipe and
infrastructure replacement to further enhance the safety and reliability of the natural gas delivery system. Washington Gas is allowed to begin recovering the
cost, including a return, for these investments immediately through approved surcharges for each accelerated pipe or infrastructure replacement program.
Once new base rates are put into effect in a given jurisdiction, expenditures previously recovered through the surcharge will be collected through the new base
rates.

Competition

The Natural Gas Delivery Function

The natural gas delivery function is regulated by local and state regulatory commissions. To support this function, Washington Gas has approximately $4
billion of invested assets at December 31, 2019, to serve customers through safe and reliable distribution system assets. Because of the high fixed costs and
significant safety and environmental considerations associated with building, operating and maintaining a natural gas distribution system, Washington Gas
expects to continue being the sole owner and operator in its current franchise areas for the foreseeable future. The nature of Washington Gas’ customer base
and the distance of most customers from interstate pipelines mitigate the threat of bypassing its facilities by other potential delivery service providers.

Competition with Other Energy Products

Washington Gas faces competition based on customers’ preference for other energy products and the prices of those products compared to natural gas. In
the residential market, which generates a significant portion of Washington Gas’ net income, the most significant product competition occurs between natural
gas and electricity. Because the cost of electricity is affected by the cost of fuel used to generate electricity, such as natural gas, Washington Gas generally
maintains a price advantage over competitive electricity supply in its service area for traditional residential uses of energy such as heating, water heating and
cooking. In 2019, Washington Gas added 11,156 residential customers and 742 commercial, interruptible and group metered apartments. In the interruptible
market, fuel oil is the prevalent energy alternative to natural gas. Washington Gas’ success in this market depends largely on the relationship between natural
gas and oil prices. The supply of natural gas primarily is derived from domestic sources, and the relationship between supply and demand generally has the
greatest impact on natural gas prices. Since the source of a large portion of oil comes from foreign countries, political events and foreign currency conversion
rates can influence oil supplies and prices to domestic consumers.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations related to environmental matters. These laws and regulations may require expenditures over
an extended time frame to control environmental effects. Most of the environmental liabilities we have recorded are for costs expected to be incurred to
remediate sites where we or a predecessor affiliate operated manufactured gas plants. Estimates of liabilities for environmental response costs are difficult to
determine with precision because of the various factors that can affect their ultimate level.

See Note 12 — Environmental Matters of the Notes to Financial Statements for further discussion of environmental response costs.
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Available Information

Washington Gas makes copies of its SEC filings available, free of charge, on its website (www.washingtongas.com) as reasonably practicable after they are
filed with the SEC. Such filings are also available, free of charge, on the SEC’s website (www.sec.gov/edgar/).

12
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risk factors described below should be read in conjunction with other information included or incorporated by reference in this annual report on
Form 10-K. Based on current information, the company believes that the following identifies the most significant risk factors that could affect its operations.

The ownership and operation of Washington Gas’ business is subject to hazards of transporting, storing, and marketing hydrocarbon products.

These hazards include, without limitation, blowouts, fires, explosions, gaseous leaks, releases and migration of harmful substances, hydrocarbon spills,
corrosion, and acts of vandalism and terrorism. Any of these hazards can interrupt operations, impact AltaGas’ reputation, cause loss of life or personal injury,
result in loss of or damage to equipment, property, information technology systems, related data and control systems, and cause environmental damage that
may include polluting water, land or air.

Further, such ownership and operations carry the potential for liability related to worker health and safety, including, without limitation, the risk of any or
all of government imposed orders to remedy unsafe conditions, potential penalties for contravention of health and safety laws, licenses, permits and other
approvals, and potential civil liability. Compliance with health and safety laws (and any future changes) and the requirements of licenses, permits and other
approvals are expected to remain material to Washington Gas’ business.

No assurances can be given that the occurrence of any of the above listed events or the additional workers’ health and safety issues relating thereto will not
require unanticipated expenditures, or result in fines, penalties or other consequences (including, without limitation, changes to operations) material to
Washington Gas’ business and operations.

Leaks, mechanical problems, incidents or other operational issues could affect public safety and the reliability of Washington Gas’ distribution
system, which could materially affect Washington Gas’ results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Washington Gas’ business is exposed to operational issues, hazards and risks inherent in storing and transporting natural gas that could affect the public
safety and reliability of its distribution system. These issues, such as leaks, equipment failure, problems and incidents, including explosions and fire, could
and have resulted in legal liability, repair and remediation costs, increased operating costs, significant increased capital expenditures, regulatory fines and
penalties and other costs and a loss of customer confidence. Any liabilities resulting from the occurrence of any of these events may not be covered by
insurance, or may not be fully covered by insurance (which typically only covers injuries or property loss), and Washington Gas may be unable to recover
from customers through the regulatory process all of these repair, remediation and other costs and earn its authorized rate of return on these costs.

Washington Gas may be unable to obtain an adequate supply of gas to satisfy present and future customer demand and it may be unable to secure
the necessary transportation or storage capacity to deliver or acquire the volume of gas necessary to meet its current obligations or growth demands.

In order to service customer demand, the Company must acquire an adequate supply of natural gas, have the appropriate capacity to store its gas supply,
and have adequate pipeline transportation capacity to secure the transportation of its required gas supply. We purchase almost all of our natural gas supply
from third party sources that must then be transported primarily through pipelines to our service territories. The Company depends on the ability of natural
gas producers, pipeline gathers, natural gas processes, commodity storage facilities, and interstate pipelines to meet these requirements. In addition, the
Company may construct transmission and distribution pipe to deliver additional capacity into growth areas within its service territory in order to meet
customer demand. If the Company is unable to secure adequate supplies of gas in a timely manner because of a failure of its upstream suppliers or if it were
unable to acquire adequate pipeline capacity or construct new infrastructure to transport our gas, the Company may be unable to meet the requirements of its
customers.
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A significant disruption to or reduction in pipeline capacity may occur due to events such as operational failures or disruptions, hurricanes, tornadoes,
floods, or other weather-related events, freeze off of natural gas wells, terrorist or cyberattacks or other acts of war, or legislative or regulatory actions or
requirements, including remediation related to integrity inspections and future regulations related to climate change, could reduce the Company’s normal
supply of gas, which may affect the Company’s ability to serve customer demand and may reduce the Company’s earnings. These factors may also cause the
demands of our customers to fluctuate or increase, for example our customers may require additional natural gas during periods of sustained cold weather.
Further, our ability to construct new infrastructure to transport our gas could be adversely affected by the timing of Washington Gas’ participation in new
interstate pipeline construction projects, local permitting requirements, the ability to acquire necessary rights of way, and an increase in legal challenges
facing large infrastructure projects designed to bring commodity supply to Washington Gas’ market.

Additionally, Washington Gas purchases almost all of its gas supply from sources that must then be transported to its service territory. There may be
inadequate pipeline transportation or storage capacity to meet the Company’s current or future demands. Any inability to secure an adequate supply of gas or
to secure or build adequate pipeline transportation capacity to satisfy customer demands could result in defaults under contracts with customers, penalties and
financial damage payments, costs relating to procedures to recover from a disruption of service, the loss of key licenses and operating authorities, and the loss
of customers, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business and financial results.

Cyberattacks, including cyberterrorism or other information technology security breaches, or information security or technology failures may
disrupt our business operations, increase our costs, lead to the disclosure of confidential information, and damage our reputation.

Washington Gas’ business processes are increasingly reliant upon information systems automation provided by infrastructure, technologies, and data. A
failure of these information systems could lead to the impairment of business processes, and there is a risk of cascading failure of information systems leading
to the impairment of multiple business processes. Security breaches of our information technology infrastructure, including cyberattacks and cyberterrorism,
or other failures of our information technology infrastructure could lead to disruptions of our natural gas distribution operations and otherwise adversely
impact our ability to safely and effectively operate our pipelines and serve our customers. Such security breaches of our information technology infrastructure
could adversely affect our business reputation, diminish customer confidence, subject us to financial liability or increased regulation, increase our costs and
expose us to material legal claims and liability and adversely affect our operations and financial results. Despite steps Washington Gas may take to detect,
deter, mitigate, and respond to potential security threats, the techniques used by those who wish to obtain unauthorized access, disable or sabotage systems, or
steal confidential information and data change frequently and there is no guarantee that the Company will be successful in protecting against cyberattacks. To
the extent that the occurrence of any of these cyberattacks is not fully insured, it could adversely affect Washington Gas’ financial condition and results of
operations.

In addition, the Company collects personally identifiable information (PII) regarding its customers and employees as part of its business processes and
activities. An attack on or failure of our information technology systems could result in the unauthorized release of customer or employee PII or Company
data that is crucial to our operational security or could adversely affect our ability to deliver and collect on customer bills. The federal and state legislative and
regulatory environment surrounding PII, information security and data privacy is evolving and is likely to become increasingly demanding. Should the
Company experience a breach, it could face substantial compliance costs, reputational damage, and uncertain litigation risks.

Washington Gas may encounter unexpected difficulties or costs in meeting commitments made under various orders and agreements associated
with regulatory approvals for the Merger.

As aresult of the process to obtain regulatory approvals required for the Merger, Washington Gas is committed to various programs, contributions and
investments in several agreements and regulatory approval orders. It is possible that Washington Gas may encounter delays, unexpected difficulties or
additional costs in meeting these commitments in compliance with the terms of the relevant agreements and orders. Failure to fulfill the commitments in
accordance with their terms could result in increased costs or result in penalties or fines that could have a material adverse effect on Washington Gas’
business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.

The merger of WGL with AltaGas may not achieve its anticipated results, and WGL, including Washington Gas, may be unable to integrate the
operations in the manner expected.
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WGL and AltaGas entered into the Merger Agreement expecting that the Merger to yield various benefits, including, among other things, cost savings and
operating efficiencies. Achieving the anticipated benefits of the Merger is subject to a number of uncertainties, including whether the businesses of WGL and
AltaGas can be integrated in an efficient, effective and timely manner. The combination of two independent businesses is complex, costly, and time-
consuming; and may divert significant management attention and resources, including those of Washington Gas, to combining WGL’s and AltaGas’ business
practices and operations, which could otherwise have been devoted to business opportunities of WGL and, specifically, Washington Gas. This process may
disrupt Washington Gas’ business.

In addition, it is possible that the integration process could take longer than anticipated and could result in the disruption of Washington Gas’ business,
processes, and systems; or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures, practices, and policies, any of which could adversely affect the combined
company’s ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Merger as and when expected. The overall combination of WGL’s and AltaGas’ businesses may
also result in material unanticipated problems, expenses, liabilities, competitive responses, and loss of customer and other business relationships. Failure to
achieve these anticipated benefits or the incurrence of unanticipated expenses and liabilities could have a material adverse effect on Washington Gas’
business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.

Washington Gas may incur unexpected costs in connection with the Merger.

Washington Gas expects to continue to incur non-recurring expenses associated with the Merger, as well as continuing expenses related to combining the
operations of the two companies. Washington Gas may incur additional costs in the integration of the businesses of Washington Gas and AltaGas. Although
Washington Gas expects that the elimination of certain duplicative costs, as well as the realization of other efficiencies related to the integration of the two
businesses, will offset any Merger-related costs over time, the combined company may not achieve this net benefit in the near term, or at all.

WGL and AltaGas may become targets of securities class action suits and derivative suits, which could result in substantial costs and divert
management attention and resources.

Securities class action suits and derivative suits are often brought against companies who have entered into mergers and acquisition transactions. There can
be no assurance that WGL or AltaGas will not be targets of such suits in the future, and no guarantee that WGL or AltaGas can successfully defend against
any such actions. Defending against these claims, even if meritless, could result in substantial costs to WGL and AltaGas and could divert the attention of
management.

As an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of AltaGas, Washington Gas is dependent on AltaGas for certain services under a services agreement.
Loss of such services, if any, could have a material impact on Washington Gas’ business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Washington Gas receives general corporate services from AltaGas under a service agreement approved by the SCC of VA. Under the agreement,
Washington Gas relies on AltaGas for certain administrative and management functions and services, including human resources, employee benefits, finance,
legal, accounting, tax, information technology, and office services. Should AltaGas not be able to provide such services to Washington Gas for any reason,
Washington Gas will need to use its own resources for such services or otherwise find a substitute provider for such services. Washington Gas, however, may
not have sufficient internal resources to effectively provide such services or may not be able to contract with a substitute service provider on similar terms or
at all. Moreover, the costs of obtaining a substitute service provider, if found, may be substantial and overly burdensome for Washington Gas. Washington
Gas may also experience an interruption in the provision of such services to it. In addition, in light of AltaGas' familiarity with Washington Gas, a substitute
service provider, if any, may not be able to provide the same level of service due to lack of preexisting synergies. If Washington Gas cannot support necessary
services from its internal resources or otherwise locate providers that are able to provide it with substantially similar services, Washington Gas’ business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.

As an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of AltaGas, Washington Gas is affected by AltaGas' strategic decisions and performance.

As an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of AltaGas, Washington Gas’ business, operations, and financial performance (including its ability to access
capital, receive equity, and ability to spend capital) can be affected by a wide range of strategic
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decisions that AltaGas may make from time to time. Significant changes in AltaGas’ strategy, its relationship with Washington Gas, as well as material
adverse changes in the performance of AltaGas, could have a material adverse effect on Washington Gas’ business, financial condition, operating results and
prospects.

Washington Gas may be unable to access capital or the cost of capital may significantly increase.

Washington Gas’ ability to obtain adequate and cost-effective financing depends on the liquidity of the financial markets, its credit ratings, and the ability
of it and AltaGas to access the financial markets. Disruptions in the capital and credit markets could adversely affect Washington Gas’ ability to access short-
term and long-term capital. Washington Gas’ access to funds under its commercial paper program is dependent on investor demand for its commercial paper.
Disruptions and volatility in the global credit markets could limit the demand for Washington Gas’ commercial paper borrowings or result in the need to offer
higher interest rates to investors, which would result in higher expense and could adversely impact liquidity. The Company’s credit ratings, as well as the
ratings of WGL and AltaGas impact the Company’s ability to access credit markets and the costs of borrowing under available credit lines. A negative change
in the Company’s (or its affiliates”) ratings outlook or any downgrade in current investment-grade credit ratings, particularly below investment grade, could
adversely affect Washington Gas’ costs of borrowing and/or access to sources of liquidity and capital. An increase in borrowing costs without the ability to
recover those higher costs in the rates charged to Washington Gas’ customers, which would be impacted by the merger-related commitment that prohibits
Washington Gas from recovering any incremental financing costs due to a credit downgrade, would adversely affect earnings or cash flows by limiting
Washington Gas’ ability to earn its allowed rate of return. Additionally, disruptions in the credit market, including as a result of natural disasters, catastrophic
events (including terrorist acts and health and safety epidemics), could adversely affect Washington Gas’ access to sources of liquidity and increase its
borrowing costs

A decline in the local economy in which Washington Gas operates may reduce net revenue growth and reduce future earnings and cash flows.

Substantially all of our natural gas utility customers are located in Virginia, Maryland and the District of Columbia. A general decline in the economy of the
region in which Washington Gas operates or a change in the usage patterns and financial condition of customers in the region due to factors beyond
Washington Gas' control may adversely affect Washington Gas’ ability to grow its customer base and collect revenues from existing customers, which may
negatively affect net revenue growth and increase costs.

We are exposed to counterparty and contract-related risks that could adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

We may extend credit to counterparties, including other utilities, holding companies, banks, gas exploration and production companies, government-backed
utilities and other participants in the energy industry relating to the sale, purchase and delivery of commodities. In addition, certain of our outstanding debt,
including our medium-term notes, may accrue interest at variable rates based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR). In July 2017, the United
Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority (FCA), which regulates LIBOR, announced that the FCA intends to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the
calculation of LIBOR after 2021. It is not possible to predict the effect of these changes, other reforms or the establishment of alternative reference rates in
the United Kingdom or elsewhere. Although we believe we have prudent policies in place to manage our credit risk, we may not be able to collect amounts
owed to us, which could adversely affect our liquidity and results of operations.

Our risk management strategies and related hedging activities may not be effective in managing risks and may cause increased volatility in our
earnings and may result in costs and losses for which rate recovery may be disallowed.

We are exposed to commodity price, weather, and interest rate risks. For gas purchases to serve utility customers, Washington Gas attempts to manage its
exposure to these risks, in part, through regulatory recovery mechanisms. In addition, we attempt to mitigate risks by hedging, setting risk limits and
employing other risk management tools and procedures. These risk management activities may not be effective and cannot eliminate these risks in their
entirety. If these tools and procedures are ineffective, we could incur significant losses, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results and
liquidity. In addition, although Washington Gas generally anticipates rate recovery of its costs or losses incurred in connection with these risk management
activities, a regulator could subsequently disallow these costs or losses from the determination of revenues, which could adversely affect our financial results
and increase the volatility of our earnings.
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Rules implementing the derivatives transaction provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act could have an adverse impact on our ability to hedge risks
associated with our business.

The Dodd-Frank Act regulates derivatives transactions, which include certain instruments, such as interest rate swaps, and commodity options, financial
and other contracts, used in our risk management activities. The Dodd-Frank Act requires that a registered clearing facility clear most swaps and that the
swaps trade on a designated exchange or swap execution facility, with certain exceptions for entities that use swaps to hedge or mitigate commercial risk. The
Dodd-Frank requirements relating to derivative transactions have not been fully implemented by the SEC and the Commaodity Futures Trading Commission.
When fully implemented, the law and any new regulations could increase the operational and transactional cost of derivatives contracts and affect the number
and/or creditworthiness of available counterparties.

Failure of our service providers could negatively impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Certain of our information technology, customer service, supply chain, pipeline and infrastructure installation and maintenance, engineering, payroll, and
human resources functions that we rely on are provided by third-party vendors. Some of these services may be provided by vendors from centers located
outside of the United States. Services provided pursuant to these agreements could be disrupted due to events and circumstances beyond our control,
including natural disasters, catastrophic events (including terrorist acts and health and safety epidemics) and uncertain economic and political conditions. Our
reliance on these service providers could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Failure of the Company’s internal controls and procedures for financial reporting could adversely affect investor confidence and expose the
Company to additional risks.

Beginning in 2019, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting were required to be in compliance with the requirements of Section 404(a) of
Sarbanes-Oxley, and the related rules of the Securities Exchange Commission and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. Washington Gas’ failure
to satisfy the requirements of Section 404(a) on an ongoing basis, or any failure of its internal controls could adversely affect investor confidence, cause
reputational damage, and expose the Company to monetary penalties. Any such effects of non-compliance could have an adverse effect on Washington Gas’
results of operations, financial conditions and cash flows.

Natural disasters and catastrophic events, including terrorist acts, may adversely affect our business.

Natural disasters and catastrophic events such as fires, earthquakes, explosions, floods, tornados, terrorist acts, health and safety epidemics, and other
similar occurrences, could damage our operational assets, including our utility facilities, and information technology infrastructure, and could reduce
employee productivity. Such events could likewise damage the operational assets of our suppliers or customers. These events could disrupt our ability to meet
customer requirements, significantly increase our response costs, and significantly decrease our revenues. Unanticipated events or a combination of events,
failure in resources needed to respond to events, or a slow or inadequate response to events may have an adverse impact on our operations, financial
condition, and results of operations. The availability of insurance covering catastrophic events, sabotage and terrorism may be limited or may result in higher
deductibles, higher premiums, and more restrictive policy terms.

Washington Gas may be unable to retain key management and to attract and compensate sufficient skilled employees and contractors to meet its
needs in field operations and construction activities.

Washington Gas depends on the experience and industry knowledge of its officers and other key employees to execute its business plans. The success of the
company depends in part upon its ability to attract retain key management personnel and other employees, including its highly skilled operational employees.
In addition, Washington Gas relies on its field employees and contractors to perform maintenance, construction and other operational activities to maintain
and enhance its distribution system. These activities require specific skills and experience to meet internal and external standards and procedures and there is
no guarantee that the Company will be able to recruit and train such personnel. Certain events, such as an aging workforce without appropriate replacements,
mismatch of skillsets to future needs, or the unavailability of contract resources may lead to operating challenges and increased costs. If we are unable to
attract, train, and retain, and appropriately qualified workforce our operations could be negatively affected.
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Washington Gas’ business and financial condition could be adversely impacted by strikes or work stoppages by its unionized employees.

Washington Gas’ business is dependent upon employees who are represented by unions and are covered by collective bargaining agreements. Disputes with
the unions could result in work stoppages that could impact the delivery of natural gas and other services, which could affect our relationships with
customers, vendors and regulators and adversely affect Washington Gas’ business and financial condition.

The cost of providing retirement plan benefits to eligible current and former employees is subject to changes in the performance of investments,
demographics, and other factors and assumptions. These changes may have a material adverse effect on us.

The cost of providing retirement plan benefits to eligible current and former employees is subject to changes in the market value of our retirement plan
assets, changing bond yields, changing demographics and changing assumptions. Any sustained declines in equity markets, reductions in bond yields,
increases in health care cost trends, or increases in life expectancy of beneficiaries may have an adverse effect on our retirement plan liabilities, assets and
benefit costs. Additionally, Washington Gas may be required to increase our contributions in future periods in order to preserve the current level of benefits
under the plans and/or due to federal funding requirements.

Changes in the regulatory environment or unfavorable rate regulation may restrict or delay Washington Gas’ ability to earn a reasonable rate of
return on its capital invested to provide utility service and to recover fully its operating costs.

Washington Gas is regulated by several regulatory commissions and agencies. These regulatory commissions generally have authority over many of the
activities of Washington Gas’ business including, but not limited to, the rates it charges to its customers, the amount and type of securities it can issue, the
nature of investments it can make, the nature and quality of services it provides, safety standards, collection practices and other matters. These regulators also
may modify Washington Gas’ rates to change the level, type and methods that it utilizes to recover its costs, including the costs to acquire, store, transport and
deliver natural gas. In addition, the regulatory environment and rate regulation can be affected by new laws and political considerations. Most significantly,
we incur both planned and unplanned costs to operate, improve, maintain and repair our operational assets. The amount of these costs may vary from our
expectations due to significant unanticipated repairs, maintenance and remediation of our assets, changes in legal and regulatory requirements, natural
disasters, terrorism, changes in interest rates of our indebtedness and other events. To the extent these costs are not included in approved rates or tariffs, we
seek our recovery through rate cases; however, the regulatory process may be lengthy and costs may be disallowed, causing us to suffer the negative financial
effects of costs incurred without the benefit of rate relief. Additionally, the actions of regulatory commissions may restrict or delay Washington Gas’ ability to
earn a reasonable rate of return on invested capital.

Climate change concerns and the movement for carbon neutral energy sources pose challenges to the Company’s operating model.

Climate change and the costs that may be associated with its impacts have the potential to affect our business in many ways, including increasing the costs
we incur in providing our products and services, impacting the demand for and consumption of our products and services (due to change in both costs and
weather patterns), and affecting the economic health of the regions in which we operate. Energy customers are also increasingly indicating preferences for
carbon-neutral and renewable sources of energy.

Regulatory and legislative responses to climate change have been mixed, and the politics of the matter has created much uncertainty about how governing
bodies will respond, making long-term corporate planning around climate change issues difficult owing to the shifting landscape. We believe existing laws
and regulations will continue to evolve and may require expenditures over a long timeframe. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may expose
Washington Gas to fines, penalties and operational interruptions that could adversely affect its financial results. Moreover, new environmental requirements,
revisions and reinterpretations of existing environmental requirements and changes in environmental enforcement policies and practices may stretch
Washington Gas’ operational resources and adversely affect its financial results.
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Certain jurisdictions within Washington Gas’ operating territory have adopted initiatives to address climate change that include setting targets to reduce
GHG (often expressed in measures of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions), requiring the use of varying amounts of renewable electricity, and banning fossil
fuel use, including natural gas, in new construction. Carbon taxes, which would include a tax on natural gas emissions also continue to be considered. Such
actions have multiple implications and risks for Washington Gas, including supply availability and sourcing risks, and higher product costs as the company
investigates new sources of non-traditional carbon neutral gaseous fuels. Related risks include the ability of the existing infrastructure to access and safely
deliver these new fuels. Other risks include lower revenue from reduced gas deliveries as customer demand declines in response to company-initiated
efficiency programs, penetration high-efficiency appliances and technologies, new building standards, and external forces, including potential government
sponsored policy initiatives that promote electrification.

Additional risks include securing regulatory and policy support for changes in the Company’s business operations and pricing model that allow recovery of
associated costs and offer returns sufficient to attract and maintain capital. Erosion of investor confidence in fossil fuel-based companies is leading some to
divest from the sector completely. Maintaining investor confidence and attracting capital will be dependent depend on successfully demonstrating our ability
to reduce emissions associated with the use of our products, and the failure to do so may materially and adversely affect our business, reputation, and
financial results.

Changes in the relative prices of alternative forms of energy may weaken the competitive position of Washington Gas’ delivery service, which
could reduce growth in natural gas customers, reduce the volume of natural gas delivered and negatively affect Washington Gas’ cash flows and
earnings.

The price of natural gas delivery service that Washington Gas provides competes with the price of other forms of energy such as electricity, heating oil and
propane. An increase in the price of natural gas compared to other sources of energy may cause the competitive position of our natural gas delivery service to
decline. A decline in the competitive position of natural gas service may lead to fewer natural gas customers, lower volumes of natural gas delivered, lower
cash flows and lower earnings.

Washington Gas is subject to physical and financial risks associated with climate change.

Changing weather patterns that may be attributable to climate change make it harder for the Company to predict weather patterns and plan for winter
heating seasons. Increased or decreased energy use due to weather changes may require the Company to invest in additional gathering, storage, or other
infrastructure and warmer weather could lead to decreased demand for natural gas, which would negatively impact the Company’s financial results. Extreme
weather conditions can contribute to increased stress on Company systems, which could include service interruptions. From an operational perspective,
increasingly severe and variable weather could affect our ability to secure and deliver our product and perform system replacement, repair, and maintenance
work, while also potentially disrupting our supply chain. Interferences of this sort are likely to drive up the cost of system operations. To the extent climate
change negatively impacts a region’s economic health, through rising sea levels, increases in number of and/or severity of weather events, displacement or
other means, any such impact could have a negative effect on the Company’s customer base, and correspondingly, on revenues. Additionally, climate change
activism could lead to business interruptions for the Company as citizen engagement on this issue has in the past targeted Washington, DC for business
disruption and may do so in the future.

Our business, earnings and cash requirements are highly weather sensitive and seasonal.

The earnings of Washington Gas can vary from year to year depending, in part, on weather conditions. Forecasts of sales are based on “normal” weather,
which represents a long-term historical average. Warmer-than-normal weather can reduce our utility margins as customer consumption declines. In Maryland
and Virginia, we currently have in place regulatory mechanisms and rate designs intended to stabilize the level of net revenues that we collect from customers
by eliminating the effect of deviations in customer usage caused by variations in weather from normal levels, and other factors such as conservation. If our
rates and tariffs are modified to eliminate these provisions, then we would be exposed to significant risk associated with weather. Weather can also impact our
operating costs related to system maintenance which is not covered by regulatory mechanisms.

Certain legacy operations of the Company have exposed it to potential liabilities in connection with environmental remediation efforts.
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Washington Gas has identified up to ten sites where it or its predecessors may have operated manufactured gas plants (MGPs). Though Washington Gas
ceased all such operations and last used any such plant in 1984, it is aware of the presence of coal tar and certain other by-products of gas manufacturing
processes at certain sites and its potential presence at others. The Company is currently remediating certain properties, and is involved in remediation
negotiations and planning for certain other properties both in its individual capacity and collectively with other parties. Environmental remediation efforts
typically have a long time frame, are costly, and are subject to the unexpected, making such efforts difficult to plan and budget for. Company management
and personnel may have to devote significant time and resources to these efforts and there is no guarantee that the costs associated with any remediation
efforts would not have a negative impact on the Company’s earnings.

Washington Gas is subject to various legal proceedings and management cannot predict the outcome of such proceedings.

In the course of its business, Washington Gas is subject to lawsuits, regulatory proceedings, and other claims arising out of its operations. Defense and
settlement costs associated with these proceedings can be substantial, even with respect to matters that we believe have no merit. Due to the inherent
uncertainty of the litigation process, contested regulatory proceedings, or the progress of other claims, the resolution of any particular matter could have a
material adverse effect on the financial position or operating results of Washington Gas.

Changes to government fiscal and trade policies could adversely affect Washington Gas’ strategic decisions and operating performance.

Any changes in the US trade policy could trigger retaliatory actions by affected companies resulting in increased costs for goods used in our normal course
of business, such as steel pipe. Higher than expected inflation or tariffs may increase costs of construction and operations.

Washington Gas may face regulatory and financial risks related to pipeline safety legislation.

A number of proposals to require increased oversight of pipeline operations and increased investment in and inspections of pipeline facilities are pending or
have been proposed in the United States Congress. Additional operating expenses and capital expenditures may be necessary to remain in compliance with the
increased federal oversight resulting from such proposals. While we cannot predict with certainty the extent of these expenses and expenditures or when they
will become effective, the adoption of such proposals could result in significant additional costs to Washington Gas’ business. Washington Gas may be unable
to recover from customers through the regulatory process all or some of these costs and may be unable to earn its authorized rate of return on these costs.

Changes in taxation and the ability to quantify such changes could adversely affect our financial results.
We are subject to taxation by the various taxing authorities at the federal, state and local levels where we do business. Legislation or regulation which could
affect our tax burden could be enacted by any of these governmental authorities. The outcome of regulatory proceedings regarding how corporate taxes are

shared with customers and the period over which it will be shared could significantly impact future earnings and cash flows. Separately, a challenge by a
taxing authority or a change in our ability to use tax benefits such as carryforwards or tax credits may impact our financial results.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

At December 31, 2019, Washington Gas provided services in various areas of the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia, and held certificates of
convenience and necessity, licenses and permits necessary to maintain and operate its properties and businesses.

At December 31, 2019, Washington Gas had approximately 588 miles of transmission mains, 13,293 miles of distribution mains and 12,964 miles of
distribution services.

Washington Gas owns approximately 20 acres of land and two buildings at 6801 and 6803 Industrial Road in Springfield, Virginia. The Springfield site
houses both operating and certain administrative functions of the utility. Washington Gas also holds title to land and buildings used as substations for its
utility operations. Washington Gas holds title to land and buildings used for utility operational functions, such as gate stations or substations throughout its
service territory in the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia.

Washington Gas also has peak shaving facilities in Springfield, Virginia (Ravensworth Plant) and Rockville, Maryland (Rockville Plant).

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time the Company is involved in various litigation matters arising out of the normal course of business. In particular, the nature of our
business ordinarily results in periodic regulatory proceedings before various state and federal authorities. For information regarding pending federal and state
regulatory matters, see Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Financial Statements.

Silver Spring, Maryland Incident

On April 23, 2019, the National Transportation and Safety Board (NTSB) held a hearing during which it found, among other things, that the probable cause
of the August 10, 2016, explosion and fire at an apartment complex on Arliss Street in Silver Spring, Maryland “was the failure of an indoor mercury service
regulator with an unconnected vent line that allowed natural gas into the meter room where it accumulated and ignited from an unknown ignition source.
Contributing to the accident was the location of the mercury service regulators where leak detection by odor was not readily available.” Washington Gas
disagrees with the NTSB’s probable cause findings. Following this hearing, on June 10, 2019, the NTSB issued an accident report.

In connection with the incident, a total of 37 civil actions related to the incident were filed against WGL and Washington Gas in the Circuit Court for
Montgomery County, Maryland. All of these suits sought unspecified damages for personal injury and/or property damage.

All personal injury and property damage claims asserted by residents at the Flower Branch Apartments have been settled and paid. The Company has been
reimbursed by its insurers for the amounts paid in the settlements.

Also, in connection with the incident, on September 5, 2019, the PSC of MD ordered the Company, within 30 days, to (i) provide a detailed response to the
NTSB’s probable cause findings and (ii) provide evidence regarding the status of a 2003 mercury regulator replacement program and, if the program was not
completed, to show cause why the PSC of MD should not impose a civil penalty on the Company. (Show-Cause Order).

On November 18, 2019 the Technical Staff of the PSC of MD, the Maryland Office of People’s Counsel (OPC), Montgomery County, MD and the
Apartment and Office Building Association of Metropolitan Washington (AOBA) filed written comments on the Company’s Response to the Show-Cause
Order. Technical Staff commented that the PSC of MD may impose a civil
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penalty but did not expressly recommend same. Montgomery County, MD, OPC and AOBA requested that the PSC of MD impose a civil penalty on the
Company.

On December 17, 2019 the PSC of MD held a public hearing near the apartment complex at Arliss Street, at which some residents requested that the
Company accelerate and complete its mercury service regulator program and that the Company absorb the cost of same.

The Company intends to file comments with the PSC of MD responding to all written comments and resident testimony.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

All of the outstanding shares of Washington Gas' common stock are owned by Wrangler, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of AltaGas Ltd. Washington
Gas' common stock is not publicly traded.

On December 17, 2018, we voluntarily registered Washington Gas' common stock under Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, effective on such date.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Washington Gas meets the conditions set forth in General Instruction I(1) of Form 10-K and has omitted the information called for by this Item pursuant to
General Instruction I(2) of Form 10-K.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Introduction

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (Management’s Discussion and Analysis) analyzes the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of Washington Gas. This discussion follows the format permitted in accordance with General
Instruction I(2) of Form 10-K, in light of Washington Gas’ status as a wholly-owned subsidiary of AltaGas as permitted under General Instruction I(1) of
Form 10-K. It includes management’s narrative analysis of results of operations and reasons for material changes. This narrative discusses past financial
results and potential factors that may affect future results, potential future risks and approaches that may be used to manage them. Except where the content
clearly indicates otherwise, “Washington Gas,” “we,” “us,” “our” or the "Company" refers to Washington Gas Light Company.

» «
>

Management’s Discussion and Analysis is designed to provide an understanding of our operations and financial performance and should be read in
conjunction with the company’s financial statements and the Notes to Financial Statements.

Executive Overview

Washington Gas has one operating segment that engages in its core business of delivering and selling natural gas under tariffs approved by regulatory
commissions in the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia. Net income was $99.8 million for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 compared to
a net loss of $35.4 million for the same period ended December 31, 2018. The increase in net income was mainly from $58.0 million increase in operating
revenues driven by the impact of rate cases, accelerated pipe replacement programs and customer growth, and a $159.5 million decrease in operation and
maintenance due to the lower merger commitments and related costs.

Factors critical to the success of Washington Gas include: (i) operating a safe and reliable natural gas distribution system; (ii) having sufficient natural gas
supplies to meet customer demands; (iii) being competitive with other sources of energy such as electricity, fuel oil and propane; (iv) having access to sources
of liquidity; (v) recovering the costs and expenses of this business in the rates charged to customers, and (vi) earning a fair, just and reasonable rate of return
on invested capital.

Results of Operations

Our chief operating decision maker utilizes the non-GAAP measure, EBITDA, as the primary measure of profit and loss in assessing the results of
operations. We believe that our use of EBITDA enhances the ability to evaluate Washington Gas' performance because it excludes interest and income tax
expense, which are affected by corporate-wide strategies of AltaGas such as capital financing. It also excludes depreciation and amortization which do not
affect cash flows.

EBITDA should not be considered an alternative to, or a more meaningful indicator of our operating performance than, net income.

The following table reconciles EBITDA to net income for the calendar years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, three months ended December 31, 2018
and 2017, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.

Calendar Years Ended Three Months Ended Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30, Increase (Decrease)
Calendar Fiscal
2018 2017 Year Three Months Year
2019 audited) 2018 (unaudited) 2018 2017 2019 2018 2018
(In millions) vs. 2018  vs. 2017 vs. 2017
Net income (loss) $ 99.8 $ (35.4) $ 492 $ 579 $ 266) $ 131.8 $ 1352 $ 8.7) $ (158.4)
Interest expense 62.6 59.2 15.7 15.0 58.5 52.2 3.4 0.7 6.3
Income tax expense
(benefit) 19.0 (42.9) 7.8 24.9 (25.9) 79.8 61.9 (17.1) (105.7)
Depreciation and
amortization 142.6 136.4 34.9 33.6 135.1 129.4 6.2 1.3 5.7
EBITDA $ 3240 $ 1173  $ 107.6 $ 1314 $ 1411 $ 3932 $ 2067 $ (23.8) $ (252.1)

Summary Financial Results

The following table summarizes the Company’s financial data for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, three months ended December 31,
2018 and 2017, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.

Calendar Year Ended Three Months Ended Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30, Increase (Decrease)
Calendar Fiscal
2018 2017 Year Three Months Year
2019 (unaudited) 2018 (unaudited) 2018 2017 2019 2018 2018
(In millions) vs. 2018  vs. 2017 vs. 2017

Net revenues:



Operating revenues  $ 1,330.7 $ 1,272.7  $ 4021 $ 3775 $ 12481 $ 1,167.0 $ 58.0 $ 246 $ 81.1

Less: Cost of gas 461.6 438.9 156.6 124.8 407.0 297.9 22.7 31.8 109.1
Less: Revenue taxes 81.8 82.7 24.2 24.0 82.5 75.1 (0.9) 0.2 7.4
Total net revenues 787.3 751.1 221.3 228.7 758.6 794.0 36.2 7.4 (35.4)
Operation and
maintenance 405.0 564.5 102.7 82.4 544.2 340.6 (159.5) 20.3 203.6
General taxes and other
assessments 67.8 64.0 144 16.0 65.6 59.6 3.8 (1.6) 6.0
Other income
(expenses)-net 9.5 (5.1) 3.4 1.1 (7.7) (0.6) 14.6 2.3 (7.1)
EBITDA $ 3240 $ 1175 $ 107.6 $ 1314 % 1411 $ 3932 $ 2065 $ (238) $ (252.1)
Revenues

Operating revenues increased by $58.0 million in the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 compared to calendar year 2018 mainly driven by the impact
of rate cases, accelerated pipe replacement programs, customer growth and other increases from conservation programs, recovery of various costs, and
increases from interruptible and special contracts. We also utilize the non-GAAP measure of net revenues, calculated as revenues less the associated cost of
energy and applicable revenue taxes, to assist in the analysis of profitability. The cost of the natural gas commodity (as adjusted for Asset Optimization
sharing) and revenue taxes are included in the rates that Washington Gas charges to customers as reflected in operating revenues. Accordingly, changes in the
cost of gas and revenue taxes associated with sales made to customers generally have no direct effect on utility net revenues, operating income or net income.
Net revenues should not be considered an alternative to, or a more meaningful indicator of our operating performance than, operating revenues. Additionally,
net revenues may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. The table above reconciles net revenues to operating revenues for the
reporting periods as part of the reconciliation of operating revenues to EBITDA. Net revenues increased by $36.2 million in the calendar year ended
December 31, 2019 compared to calendar year 2018.

The following are the main drivers noted above for the increase in operating revenues, as well as the additional drivers for the increase in net revenues:

Impact of rate cases. $16.2 million increase due to new base rates in Maryland, effective December 2018. Refer to “Rates and Regulatory Matters” for
further discussion of these matters.

Accelerated replacement programs. $11.7 million increase due to approved accelerated replacement programs that were in place with an associated
surcharge mechanism to recover the cost, including a return, on those capital investments.

Customer growth. $6.3 million increase due to customer growth. At the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, average active customer meters increased
by approximately 12,000 over the number of average active customer meters for the same period of 2018, contributing to the increase. Adding new customers
directly drives earnings growth through additional distribution revenues.

Asset optimization. $11.0 million decrease due to asset optimization. We recorded a net gain of $18.5 million including an unrealized gain of $5.4 million
associated with our energy-related derivatives for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, compared to a net gain of $29.5 million including an
unrealized gain of $7.6 million for the calendar year ended December 31, 2018.

Estimated effects of weather and consumption patterns. Weather, when measured by HDDs, was 7.9% and 2.5% warmer than normal for the calendar
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, driving lower net revenues of $3.0 million. In the District of Columbia, where Washington Gas does
not have a billing mechanism or financial instruments to offset the effects of weather, the comparatively warmer weather for the calendar year ended
December 31, 2019 resulted in a negative variance to net revenues. Natural gas consumption patterns may be affected by shifts in weather patterns in which
customer heating usage may not correlate highly with average historical levels of usage per heating degree days that occur. Natural gas consumption patterns
may also be affected by non-weather related factors such as customer conservation. Refer to the section entitled "Weather Risk" for a discussion of billing
mechanisms in Maryland and Virginia, which are designed to eliminate the net revenue effects of variations in customer usage caused by weather and other
factors such as conservation.

Other. $16.0 million increase from conservation programs, recovery of various costs, and increases from interruptible and special contracts.
Operation and Maintenance Expenses

Operating and maintenance expenses decreased $159.5 million in calendar year 2019 compared to calendar year 2018. The decrease was mainly driven by
lower Merger commitments and related costs, offset by higher employee labor costs and benefits, corporate shared service cost paid to AltaGas after the
Merger, and higher cost on safety and reliability activities including leak repair and mitigation.

Depreciation and Amortization
The $6.2 million increase between calendar year 2019 and 2018 represented higher depreciation expense on capital additions.
Other income (expense)

The $14.6 million increase in other income (expenses) for the calendar year 2019 compared to the calendar year 2018 was mainly driven by $13.5 million
expense for charitable contributions as part of the Merger commitments that were recorded in 2018.

Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate for calendar year 2019 was 16.0% compared to 54.8% for calendar year 2018. The change in the effective income tax rate is
primarily due to adjustments related to the amortization of excess deferred taxes. Refer to Note 9 — Income Taxes of the Notes to Financial Statements for
details.

Statistical Information

Key gas delivery, weather and meter statistics are shown in the table below for the calendar years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, three months ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.

Gas Deliveries, Weather and Meter Statistics



Calendar Years Ended Three Months Ended Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30, Increase (decrease)
Calendar Three Fiscal Year
Year 2019 Months 2018
VS. 2018 vs. VS.
2019 2018 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2017

Gas Sales and
Deliveries (millions of
therms)
Firm 1,410.0 1,461.6 473.7 4412 1,455.6 1,269.8 (51.6) 325 185.8
Interruptible 259.4 245.5 67.2 72.2 250.7 245.1 13.9 (5.0) 5.6
Electric generation 67.0 172.8 24.3 32.1 180.6 87.6 (105.8) (7.8) 93.0
Other 36.8 37.4 — — — — (0.6) — —
Total deliveries 1,773.2 1,917.3 565.2 545.5 1,886.9 1,602.5 (144.1) 19.7 284.4
Degree Days

Actual 3,552 3,820 1,398 1,335 3,759 3,127 (268) 63 632

Normal 3,855 3,917 1,392 1,419 3,944 3,970 (62) 27) (26)
Percent colder
(warmer) than normal (7.9)% (2.5)% 0.4% (5.9)% 4.7)% (21.2)% n/a na na
Average active
customer meters 1,189,000 1,177,000 1,181,000 1,167,000 1,173,000 1,155,000 12,000 14,000 18,000
Ending active
customer meters 1,192,462 1,184,830 1,184,830 1,169,294 1,177,976 1,163,655 7,632 15,536 14,321
New customer meters
added 11,898 11,975 3,216 3,673 12,581 12,488 77) (457) 93

Gas Service to Firm Customers

The volume of gas delivered to firm customers is highly sensitive to weather variability as a large portion of the natural gas delivered by Washington Gas is
used for space heating. Washington Gas’ rates are based on an assumption of normal weather. The tariffs in the Maryland and Virginia jurisdictions include
provisions that consider the effects of the RNA and the WNA/CRA mechanisms, respectively, that are designed to, among other things, eliminate the effect
on net revenues of variations in weather from normal levels (refer to the section entitled “Weather Risk” for a further discussion of these mechanisms and
other weather-related instruments included in our weather protection strategy).

During the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, the comparison in natural gas deliveries to firm customers primarily reflects 7.9% warmer than normal
weather when measured by HDDs, compared to 2.5% warmer than normal weather for the prior year. We also had an increase in average active customer
meters of approximately 12,000 during the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, when compared to the prior year.

Many customers choose to buy the natural gas commodity from unregulated third-party marketers, rather than purchase the natural gas commodity and
delivery service from Washington Gas on a bundled basis. This does not affect Washington Gas' net income because Washington Gas charges its customers
the cost of gas without any mark-up. Of Washington Gas’ 1.2 million
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active customers at December 31, 2019, approximately 171,000 customers purchased their natural gas commodity from unregulated third-party marketers.
Gas Service to Interruptible Customers

Washington Gas must curtail or interrupt service to this class of customer when the demand by firm customers exceeds specified levels. Therm deliveries to
interruptible customers increased by 13.9 million therms during the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the prior year primarily due to
increased demand in 2019.

In the District of Columbia, the effect on net income of any changes in delivered volumes and prices to interruptible customers is limited by margin-sharing
arrangements that are included in Washington Gas’ firm rate designs. Rates for interruptible customers in Maryland and Virginia are based on a traditional
cost of service approach. In Virginia, Washington Gas retains a majority of the margins earned on interruptible gas and delivery sales. Washington Gas shares
actual non-gas margins from interruptible sales service customers that are in excess of delivery service rates. In Maryland, Washington Gas retains a defined
amount of revenues based on a set threshold. Effective December 2018, Washington Gas no longer shares interruptible margins in Maryland.

Gas Service for Electric Generation

Washington Gas delivers natural gas for use at two electric generation facilities in Maryland that are each owned by companies independent of WGL.
During the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, deliveries to these customers decreased by 105.8 million therms from the calendar year 2018.
Washington Gas shares with firm customers a significant majority of the margins earned from natural gas deliveries to these customers. Therefore, changes in
the volume of interruptible gas deliveries to these customers do not materially affect either net revenues or net income.

Cost of Gas

Washington Gas’ cost of natural gas purchased includes both fixed and variable components. Washington Gas pays fixed costs or “demand charges” to
pipeline companies for system capacity needed to transport and store natural gas. Washington Gas pays variable costs, or the cost of the natural gas
commodity itself, to natural gas producers and suppliers. Variations in the utility’s cost of gas expense result from changes in gas sales volumes, the price of
the gas purchased and the level of gas costs collected through the operation of firm gas cost recovery mechanisms. Under these regulated recovery
mechanisms, Washington Gas records cost of gas expense equal to the cost of gas recovered from customers and included in revenues. The difference
between the firm gas costs incurred and the gas costs recovered from customers is deferred on the balance sheet as an amount to be collected from or refunded
to customers in future periods. Therefore, increases or decreases in the cost of gas associated with sales made to firm customers have no direct effect on
Washington Gas’ net revenues and net income. Changes in the cost of gas can cause significant variations in Washington Gas’ cash provided by or used in
operating activities. Washington Gas receives from or pays to its customers in the District of Columbia and Virginia, carrying costs associated with under-
collected or over-collected gas costs recovered from its customers using short-term interest rates. Additionally, included in “Utility cost of gas” for
Washington Gas are the net margins associated with our asset optimization program. To the extent these amounts are shared with customers, they are a
reduction to the cost of gas invoiced to customers. Refer to the section entitled “Market Risk” for a further discussion of Washington Gas’ optimization
program.

The average commodity cost of gas invoiced to Washington Gas (excluding the cost and related volumes applicable to asset optimization) were $0.28,
$0.37, $0.30, and $0.27 per therm for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September
30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
General Factors Affecting Liquidity

Washington Gas generally meets its liquidity and capital needs through cash on hand, retained earnings, the issuance of commercial paper and long-term
debt, and equity infusions from its parent holding companies, routed through Wrangler. Access to short-term debt markets is necessary for funding our short-
term liquidity requirements, the most significant of which include buying natural gas and pipeline capacity, and financing both accounts receivable and
storage gas inventory. We have accessed long-term capital markets primarily to fund capital expenditures and retire long-term debt. Under the Merger
commitments agreed to by AltaGas and Washington Gas during the Merger and other rules imposed by regulatory commissions or laws in Washington Gas’
service territory, the Company is prohibited and/or restricted in its ability to make advances or issue loans to an affiliate or parent holding company without
prior regulatory commission approval.

Our plans provide sufficient liquidity to satisfy our financial obligations. Generally, pursuant to its Merger commitments, Washington Gas can make
dividend payments in the ordinary course of business unless any of the following regulatory
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limitations apply: (i) Washington Gas will not pay extraordinary dividends to its parent for three years from the date of the Merger close, (ii) Washington Gas
will not pay dividends to its parent company if Washington Gas’ senior unsecured debt rating is below investment grade or (iii) Washington Gas will not
make a dividend payment to its parent company if the payment would result in its equity level to drop below 48%. At December 31, 2019, we had no
significant restrictions on our cash balances or retained earnings that would affect the payment of dividends.

Short-Term Cash Requirements and Related Financing

Washington Gas has seasonal short-term cash requirements to fund the purchase of storage gas inventory in advance of the winter heating season. The
Company collects the cost of gas under cost recovery mechanisms approved by our regulators.

In the first and fourth quarters of each calendar year, Washington Gas’ large sales volumes cause its cash requirements to peak when combined storage
inventory, accounts receivable, and unbilled revenues are at their highest levels. In the second and third quarters of each calendar year, after the heating
season, Washington Gas typically experiences a seasonal net loss due to reduced demand for natural gas. During this period, large amounts of Washington
Gas’ current assets are converted to cash.

Washington Gas uses short-term debt in the form of commercial paper or unsecured short-term bank loans to fund seasonal cash requirements. Our policy is
to maintain back-up bank credit facilities in an amount equal to or greater than our expected maximum commercial paper position. In December 2019, we
classified $100.0 million commercial paper balance as "Long-term debt" on Washington Gas' balance sheets due to its ability and intent to refinance these
balances on a long-term basis.

On July 19, 2019, Washington Gas entered into an amended and restated senior unsecured revolving credit facility with a term of five years, plus two one-
year extension options, available with the bank group’s approval (the Credit Facility). The Credit Facility amended and restated Washington Gas’ prior $350
million credit facility and permits Washington Gas to borrow up to $450 million with an option to increase the facility by an additional $100 million with the
bank group’s approval, for a total potential maximum borrowing of $550 million. The interest rate of loans made under the credit facilities will be a
fluctuating rate per annum that will be set using certain parameters at the time each loan is made. Bank credit balances available to Washington Gas under the
existing credit facility, net of commercial paper balances were $50.0 million and $54.0 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Long-Term Cash Requirements and Related Financing

The primary drivers of our long-term cash requirements are capital expenditures and long-term debt maturities. Our capital expenditures primarily relate to
adding new utility customers and system supply and maintaining the safety and reliability of Washington Gas’ distribution system.

Security Ratings

On December 11, 2019, Standard & Poor’s Rating Services (S&P) revised its outlook on AltaGas from negative to stable, and raised the senior unsecured
debt credit rating for Washington Gas from BBB+ to A- and its outlook from negative to stable. Washington Gas has ring fencing measures in place that
financially separate Washington Gas from WGL, AltaGas and its affiliates as a way to protect its consumers from financial instability or bankruptcy that may
be experienced by Washington Gas' parents or affiliates. S&P views the ring-fencing provisions sufficient to insulate Washington Gas from AltaGas and its
other subsidiaries to warrant three-notches of ratings separation between Washington Gas and AltaGas. The credit rating for Washington Gas' commercial
paper remained at A-2.

On January 30, 2020, Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) downgraded the ratings of Washington Gas' senior unsecured debt credit rating to A3 from A2
and its commercial paper rating to P-2 from P-1. The outlook for Washington Gas is stable. Moody's affirmed the ratings of WGL's Baal for senior unsecured
rating and P-2 commercial paper rating and changed its outlook to stable from negative.

The table below reflects the credit ratings for the outstanding debt instruments of Washington Gas as of December 31, 2019.

Rating Service Senior Unsecured Commercial Paper
Fitch Ratings@ A F2
Moody’s Investors Service A3 P-2
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services A- A-2

(@ The credit ratings by Fitch Ratings for Washington Gas were revised on July 10, 2018 and the long-term debt ratings outlook was adjusted to stable.

Ratings Triggers and Certain Debt Covenants
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Under the terms of Washington Gas' revolving credit agreements and private placement notes, the ratio of consolidated financial indebtedness to
consolidated total capitalization cannot exceed 0.65 to 1.0 (65.0%). At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Washington Gas' ratios of consolidated financial
indebtedness to consolidated total capitalization were 52% and 47%, respectively. In addition, Washington Gas is required to inform lenders of changes in
corporate existence, financial conditions, litigation and environmental warranties that might have a material effect on debt ratings. The failure to inform the
lenders’ agent of material changes in these areas might constitute default under the agreements. Additionally, failure to pay principal or interest on any other
indebtedness may be deemed a default under our credit agreements. A default, if not remedied, may lead to a suspension of further loans and/or acceleration
in which obligations become immediately due and payable. In addition, certain of the credit facilities of Washington Gas contain cross-default provisions. At
December 31, 2019 and 2018, we were in compliance with all of the covenants under our revolving credit facilities, term loan facility, and private placement
notes.

Historical Cash Flows

The following table summarizes Washington Gas' net cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities for calendar years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, three months ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017:

Calendar Years Ended Three Months Ended Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30, Increase / (Decrease)
Calendar Three Fiscal vear
year Months y
2018 2017 2019 2018 2018
(In millions) 2019 (Unaudited) 2018 (Unaudited) 2018 2017 vs. 2018 vs. 2017  vs. 2017
Cash provided by (used in): .
Operating activities $ 2033 $ 56.3 $ (94.5) $ (285)$ 1223 $ 2073 $ 1470 $ (66.0)$  (85.0)
Financing activities $ 2194 $ 4488 $ 2269 $ 1104 $ 3323 $ 196.1 $ (229.4) $ 1165 $ 1362
Investing activities $ (433.0) $ (440.3) $ (126.0) $ (753)$  (389.6) $ (403.4) $ 73 $ (50.7)$ 138

Cash Flows Provided by Operating Activities

Washington Gas' cash flows from operating activities principally reflect gas sales and deliveries and the cost of operations. Cash flow provided by
operating activities was $203.3 million for the calendar year 2019, a $147.0 million increase from calendar year 2018. The increase was mainly driven by
decreased cash payments for Merger commitments and related costs due to the Merger in 2018.

Cash Flows Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash flows provided by financing activities was $219.4 million in the calendar year 2019 compared to $448.8 million in 2018. The $219.4 million cash
flows from financing activities in 2019 was mainly driven by $298.5 million proceeds from issuance of medium-term note in September 2019, $103.5 million
net proceeds from commercial paper borrowings, offset by $50.0 million long-term debt repayment and $100.7 million in dividend payments on preferred and
common stocks. Additionally, we paid $28.7 million to redeem three outstanding series of preferred stock in December 2019. The $448.8 million cash flows
from financing activities in 2018 was mainly driven by $402.7 million capital infusion from our parent company, $134.0 million net proceeds from short-term
borrowings, offset by $50 million long-term debt repayment and $90.8 million dividend payments on preferred and common stocks in 2018.
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Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

Net cash flows used in investing activities totaled $433.0 million and $440.3 million for the calendar years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, which primarily consists of capital expenditures made by Washington Gas.

The following table depicts our actual capital expenditures for calendar years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, three months ended December 31, 2018,
and for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. Our capital outlays include expenditures to extend service to new areas, and to ensure safe,
reliable and improved service for our utility.

Capital Expenditures

Calendar Years Ended Three Months Ended Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, December 31 September 30,

(In millions) 2019 2018 2018 2017 2018 2017
New business(® $ 135.1 $ 1493 $ 332 % 242 $ 1413 $ 129.4
Replacements:

Accelerated Replacement Programs(® 167.1 124.3 31.8 24.4 111.7 131.0

Other 87.8 92.9 22.6 10.4 70.5 68.1
Customer information system — — — — — 28.1
Other utility 43.0 77.0 16.8 4.5 72.3 40.4
Cash basis adjustments — — 21.6 11.8 3.0) 6.4
Total © $ 433.0 $ 4435 $ 126.0 $ 753 $ 3928 $ 403.4

@ Includes certain projects that support the existing distribution system.

(®)Represents capital expenditures (excluding cost of removal), both approved, and expected to be approved, under our Accelerated Pipeline Replacement Programs in all jurisdictions. Refer to the
section entitled "Accelerated Pipeline Replacement Programs" for a further discussion.

(©Excludes Allowance for Funds Used During Construction and cost of removal.

Accelerated Pipe Replacement Programs (APRPs). APRPs are in place in all three of our jurisdictions. Washington Gas is accelerating pipe replacement in
order to reduce risk and further enhance the safety and reliability of the pipeline system. Each regulatory commission having jurisdiction over Washington
Gas’ retail rates has APRPs with an associated surcharge mechanism to recover the cost, including a return, on those capital investments between base rate
cases. In contrast to the traditional rate-making approach to capital investments, for the APRPs, Washington Gas is receiving recovery for these investments
through the approved surcharges for each program and is authorized to invest in each of these programs over a five-year period. The following table
summarizes the status of our current accelerated pipe replacement programs in three of
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Jurisdiction

Estimated Cost

Status Expected in-service date

District of Columbia

Estimated $305 million over the five-
year period from April 2020 to
December 2024, plus additional
expenditures in subsequent periods.

Washington Gas has submitted an application for Individual assets are placed into
the second phase of PROJECT pipes to the service throughout the program.
Public Service

Commission of the District of Columbia (PSC of

DC). In the interim, Phase 1 has been extended to

March 31, 2020 for an amount not to exceed

$12.5 million.

Maryland Estimated $350 million over the five-  The second phase of the accelerated Individual assets are placed into
year period from January 2019 to utility pipe replacement programs in service throughout the program.
December 2023, plus additional Maryland (STRIDE 2.0) began in January 2019.
expenditures in subsequent periods.

Virginia Estimated $500 million over the five-  The second phase of the accelerated pipe Individual assets are placed into

year period from January 2018 to
December 2022, including cost of
removal, plus additional expenditures in
subsequent periods.

replacement programs in Virginia (SAVE 2.0) service throughout the program.

began in January 2018.

Refer to "Rates and Regulatory Matters" for a further discussion on rate case decisions during the periods including the transfer of costs from surcharge to

base rate recovery.

Contractual Obligations, Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Other Commitments.

Contractual Obligations

Washington Gas has certain contractual obligations incurred in the normal course of business that require fixed and determinable payments in the future.
These commitments include long-term debt, unconditional purchase obligations for pipeline capacity, transportation and storage services, certain natural gas
commodity commitments and our commitments related to the business process outsourcing program. In addition, Washington Gas has made certain
commitments related to the Merger with AltaGas.

The total contractual obligations and commitments for Washington Gas at December 31, 2019 for future calendar years are shown below.

Estimated Contractual Obligations and Commitments(?

Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total

Pipeline and storage contracts(® $ 272.7  $ 259.5 $ 2544 $ 2452  $ 2128  $ 7914  $ 2,036.0
Long-term debt® — — — 20.0 100.0 1,326.0 1,446.0
Interest expense(©) 60.8 60.8 60.8 59.8 59.5 965.9 1,267.6
Gas purchase commitments(@ 314.4 356.6 340.6 317.9 321.0 1,969.8 3,620.3
Operating leases 6.0 5.6 5.5 5.5 5.6 46.3 74.5
Business process outsourcing(® 21.9 12.7 4.0 0.5 — — 39.1
Environmental® 5.0 3.3 0.8 0.8 0.5 0.3 10.7
Merger commitments(® 6.3 2.9 1.5 1.5 1.5 3.3 17.0
Total $ 687.1 $ 7014 $ 667.6 $ 651.2 $ 7009 $ 5,103.0 $ 8,511.2

(@Represents minimum payments for natural gas transportation, storage and peaking contracts.
(®Represents scheduled repayment of principal.
(9Represents the scheduled interest payments associated with long-term debt.
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@Includes known and reasonably likely commitments to purchase fixed volumes of natural gas. Cost estimates are based on forward market prices at December 31, 2019. Certain of our gas
purchase agreements have optionality, which may cause increases in these commitments.

(@ Represents fixed costs to service providers related to various contracts for business process outsourcing.

® Includes committed payments related to certain environmental response costs.

@Represents the estimated future payments of Merger commitments that has been accrued but not paid. At December 31, 2019, the cumulative amount of merger commitments that has been
expensed was $136.6 million, of which $17.0 million has not been paid. In addition, there are certain regulatory commitments that were and will be expensed as the costs are incurred, including
the hiring of damage prevention trainers in each jurisdiction for a total of $2.4 million over 5 years; investing up to $70.0 million over a 10 year period to further extend natural gas service; and
spending $8.0 million for leak mitigation within 3 years after the Merger close.

The table above reflects fixed and variable obligations. Certain of these estimates reflect likely purchases under various contracts and may differ from

minimum future contractual commitments disclosed in Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Financial Statements.

For commitments related to Washington Gas’ pension and post-retirement benefit plans, refer to Note 10 — Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit
Plans of the Notes to Financial Statements.

Credit Risk
Wholesale Credit Risk

Washington Gas enters into transactions with wholesale counterparties for the purpose of meeting firm ratepayer commitments, to optimize the value of its
long-term capacity assets, and for hedging natural gas costs. Certain wholesale suppliers that sell natural gas to Washington Gas may have relatively low
credit ratings or may not be rated by major credit rating agencies. In the event of a counterparty’s failure to deliver contracted volumes of gas or fulfill its
payment obligations, Washington Gas may incur losses that would typically be passed through to its sales customers under the purchased gas cost adjustment
mechanisms; however, Washington Gas may be at risk for financial loss to the extent these losses are not passed through to its customers.

Washington Gas operates under an existing wholesale counterparty credit policy that is designed to mitigate credit risks through requirements for credit
enhancements including, but not limited to, letters of credit, parent guarantees and cash collateral when deemed necessary. In accordance with this policy,
Washington Gas has obtained credit enhancements from certain of its counterparties. If certain counterparties or their guarantors meet the policy’s
creditworthiness criteria, Washington Gas may grant unsecured credit to those counterparties or their guarantors. The creditworthiness of all counterparties is
continuously monitored.

The following table provides information on our credit exposure, net of collateral, to wholesale counterparties as of December 31, 2019.

Credit Exposure to Wholesale Counterparties (In millions)

Number of
Exposure Counterparties Net Exposure of
Before Credit Offsetting Credit Net Greater Than Counterparties
Rating(@ Collateral® Collateral Held® Exposure 10%@ Greater Than 10%
Investment Grade $ 360 $ — 3 36.0 2 % 20.3
Non-Investment Grade — — — — —
No External Ratings 9.3 2.4 6.9 1 5.4

@ Investment grade is primarily determined using publicly available credit ratings of the counterparty. If the counterparty has provided a guarantee by a higher-rated entity (e.g., its parent), it is
determined based upon the rating of its guarantor. Included in “Investment grade” are counterparties with a minimum Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s Investor Service rating of BBB- or Baa3,
respectively.

®) Includes the net of all open positions on energy-related derivatives subject to mark-to-market accounting requirements and the net receivable/payable for the realized transactions. Amounts due
from counterparties are offset by liabilities payable to those counterparties to the extent that contractual netting arrangements are in place.

(© Represents cash deposits and letters of credit received from counterparties, not adjusted for probability of default.

@ Using a percentage of the net exposure.

Retail Credit Risk

Washington Gas is at risk of non-payment of utility bills by customers. To manage this customer credit risk, Washington Gas may require cash deposits
from high risk customers to cover payment of their bills until the requirements for the deposit refunds are met. Base rates include a provision for recovery of
uncollectible accounts based on historical levels of charge offs of accounts receivable. Washington Gas also has a provision in its Gas Administrative Charge
mechanism that includes an
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allowance for commodity amounts included in uncollectible accounts. In addition, Washington Gas has a POR program in Maryland and the District of
Columbia, whereby it purchases receivables from participating energy marketers at approved discount rates, which incorporates the risk of non-payment by
the retail customers for these receivables.

Market Risk

We are exposed to various forms of market risk including commodity price risk, weather risk and interest-rate risk. The following discussion describes
these risks and our management of them.

Price Risk

Washington Gas faces price risk associated with the purchase and sale of natural gas. Washington Gas generally recovers the cost of the natural gas to serve
customers through gas cost recovery mechanisms as approved in jurisdictional tariffs; therefore, a change in the price of natural gas generally has no direct
effect on Washington Gas’ net income. However, Washington Gas is responsible for following competitive and reasonable practices in purchasing natural gas
for its customers.

To manage price risk associated with its natural gas supply to its firm customers, Washington Gas: (i) actively manages its gas supply portfolio to balance
sales and delivery obligations; (ii) injects natural gas into storage during the summer months when prices are generally lower, and withdraws that gas during
the winter heating season when prices are generally higher and (iii) enters into hedging contracts and other contracts that may qualify as derivative
instruments related to the sale and purchase of natural gas.

Washington Gas executes commodity-related physical and financial contracts in the form of forward, futures and option contracts as part of an asset
optimization program that is managed by its internal staff. Under this program, Washington Gas realizes value from its long-term natural gas transportation
and storage capacity resources when they are not being fully used to serve utility customers. Regulatory sharing mechanisms in all three jurisdictions allow
the profit from these transactions to be shared between Washington Gas’ customers and shareholders.

The following two tables summarize the changes in the fair value of our net assets (liabilities) associated with the energy-related derivatives during the
calendar year ended December 31, 2019.

Changes in Fair Value of Energy-Related Derivatives

(In millions)

Net assets (liabilities) at January 1, 2019 $ (106.3)
Net fair value of contracts entered into during the period 8.4
Other changes in net fair value 27.9
Realized net settlement of derivatives 4.2)

Net assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2019 $ (91.0)

Roll Forward of Energy-Related Derivatives

(In millions)

Net assets (liabilities) at January 1, 2019 $ (106.3)
Recorded to income 5.5
Recorded to regulatory assets/liabilities 14.0
Realized net settlement of derivatives 4.2)

Net assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2019 $ (91.0)

The maturity dates in calendar years of our net assets (liabilities) associated with the energy-related derivatives recorded at fair value at December 31, 2019,
is summarized in the following table based on the level of the fair value calculation under Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 820.
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Maturity of Net Assets (Liabilities) Associated with our Energy-Related Derivatives

(In millions) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets $ — % — % — % — 3 — 3 — 8 —
Level 2 — Significant other observable inputs 6.7) 0.5 — — — — (6.2)
Level 3 — Significant unobservable inputs 2.9 2.8 (0.3) 2.2) (3.4) (84.6) (84.8)

Total net assets (liabilities) associated with our
energy-related derivatives

$ 38 $ 33 $ (03) $ (22 $ (34 $ (84.6) $  (91.0)

Refer to Note 14 — Derivatives and Note 15 — Fair Value Measurements of the Notes to Financial Statements for a further discussion of our derivative
activities and fair value measurements.

Weather Risk

The Company is exposed to various forms of weather risk due to seasonal operations, with a significant portion of its revenues derived from the delivery of
natural gas to residential and commercial heating customers during the winter heating season. Weather conditions directly influence the volume of natural gas
delivered by Washington Gas. Weather patterns tend to be more volatile during “shoulder” months within our calendar year in which Washington Gas is going
into or coming out of the winter heating season. During the shoulder months within quarters ending June 30 (particularly in April and May) and December 31
(particularly in October and November), customer heating usage may not highly correlate with historical levels or with the level of heating degree days that
occur, particularly when weather patterns experienced are not consistently cold or warm.

Washington Gas does not have a weather related instrument or billing adjustment mechanism in the District of Columbia and as a result, its revenues are
volume driven and current rates are based upon an assumption of normal weather. Without weather protection strategies, variations from normal weather will
cause our earnings to increase or decrease depending on the weather pattern.

Billing Adjustment Mechanisms. In Maryland, Washington Gas has an RNA billing mechanism that is designed to stabilize the level of net revenues
collected from Maryland customers by eliminating the effect of deviations in customer usage caused by variations in weather from normal levels and other
factors such as conservation. In Virginia, Washington Gas has a WNA billing adjustment mechanism that is designed to eliminate the effect of variations in
weather from normal levels on utility net revenues for residential, commercial and industrial and group metered apartment customers. Additionally, in
Virginia, as part of the CARE plan, Washington Gas has a CRA mechanism that eliminates the effect of conservation for residential customers.

Interest-Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest-rate risk associated with our short-term and long-term financing. Washington Gas has previously utilized derivative instruments
in order to reduce its exposure to the risk of interest-rate volatility, with resulting gains and losses typically being recovered through each jurisdiction’s overall
allowed rate of return.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Washington Gas had outstanding commercial paper and project financing of $399.5 million and $311.5 million,
respectively. The carrying amount of commercial paper and project financing approximates their fair value. At December 31, 2019, a change of 100 basis
points in the underlying average interest rate for our commercial paper would have caused a change in interest expense of approximately $2.3 million.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Washington Gas had outstanding fixed-rate MTNs and other long-term debt of $1,330.9 million and $1,035.0 million,
respectively, excluding current maturities and commercial paper. At December 31, 2019, the fair value of Washington Gas’ fixed-rate debt was $1,480.8
million. Our sensitivity analysis indicates that fair value would increase by approximately $77.3 million or decrease by approximately $71.6 million if interest
rates were to decline or increase by 10%, respectively, from current market levels. In general, such an increase or decrease in fair value would impact earnings
and cash flows only if Washington Gas were to reacquire some or all of these instruments in the open market prior to their maturity.

At December 31, 2019, a total of $1,202.5 million, or approximately 89.3% of the face amount of Washington Gas’ outstanding long-term debt, excluding
current maturities and commercial paper, have make-whole call options which would require us to pay a premium over the face amount if we were to exercise
them.
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Refer to Note 14 — Derivatives of the Notes to Financial Statements for a further discussion of our interest-rate risk management activity.

Rates and Regulatory Matters
Washington Gas makes its requests to modify existing rates based on its determination of the level of net investment in plant and equipment, operating
expenses, and a level of return on invested capital that is just and reasonable.

Summary of Major Rate Increase Applications and Results

Test Year 12 Increase in Annual Revenues Allowed Rate of
Application Effective Months (Millions) Return
Jurisdiction Filed Date Ended Requested Granted Overall Equity
District of Columbia 1/13/2020 12/31/2019 $ 35.2 14.70% 7.56%(a) 10.4%(a)
District of Columbia 2/26/2016 3/24/2017 9/30/2015 % 17.3 7.60% $ 8.5 3.70% 7.57% 9.25%
Maryland 4/22/2019 10/15/2019 3/31/2019 $ 35.9 6.64% $ 27.0 5.04% 7.24% 9.70%
Maryland 5/15/2018  12/11/2018 3/31/2018 $  56.3 10.96% $ 28.6 5.69% 7.30% 9.70%
Virginia 7/31/2018 1/2/2019 12/31/2017 $ 37.6 7.18% $ 132 2.52% 7.22% 9.20%
Virginia 6/30/2016 11/28/2016 9/30/2015$  45.6 9.30% $ 34.0 6.93% — %(b) 9.50%

(@ The overall rate of return and return on equity are rates requested by Washington Gas in its most recent rate case.
®) The Virginia order did not specify an overall allowed rate of return.

The following is a discussion of significant current regulatory matters. Refer to the section "Accelerated Pipe Replacement Programs" above for a
discussion of regulatory matters associated with those programs.

District of Columbia Jurisdiction

PROJECTpipes 2 Plan. On December 7, 2018, Washington Gas filed a request with the PSC of DC for approval of the PROJECTpipes 2 Plan, the second
phase of Washington Gas' APRP, to cover the period from October 1, 2019 through December 31, 2024. The PROJECTpipes 2 Plan seeks to address
relatively higher risk pipe associated with an aging infrastructure by replacing pipe materials and components, as well as adding new features to enhance the
safety of Washington Gas’ system, with an estimated total cost of $305.3 million. On September 5, 2019, the PSC of DC issued an order extending the
original PROJECTpipes an additional six months through March 31, 2020, in an amount not to exceed $12.5 million. On September 13, 2019, Washington
Gas submitted a revised five year final annual project list. The parties are engaged in settlement negotiations, as directed by the PSC of DC. On February 14,
2020, a final settlement conference report was submitted, and the PSC of DC continues to review the PROJECTpipes 2 Plan.

District of Columbia 2020 Rate Case. On January 13, 2020, Washington Gas filed an application for authority to increase charges for gas service in the
District of Columbia. The requested rates are designed to collect approximately $35.2 million in total annual revenues. Of the approximate $35.2 million
revenue increase requested, $9.1 million represents costs collected through the PROJECTpipes surcharge; therefore, the incremental amount of the base rate
increase is approximately $26.1 million. The Company requests that new rates be implemented by January 1, 2021.

Maryland Jurisdiction

Maryland Rate Case 2019. On April 22, 2019, Washington Gas filed an application with the PSC of MD to increase its base rates for natural gas service,
generating $30.8 million in additional annual revenue. The revenue increase represented an increase in base rates of $35.9 million, of which approximately
$5.0 million relates to costs being collected through the monthly STRIDE surcharges for system upgrades. The filing also requested an increase to the
Company’s return on equity from 9.7% to 10.4%. The Company also proposed a Safety Response Tracker to reconcile leak management expenses above or
below the test year level on an annual basis outside of a base rate case. On August 30, 2019 Washington Gas, the Staff of the PSC of MD, the Maryland
Office of People’s Counsel and the Apartment & Office Building Association of Metropolitan Washington submitted a Stipulation and Settlement designed to
generate an additional $27.0 million in base rates. The Stipulation stated an overall rate of return of 7.42%, established a return on equity of 9.70%, and stated
a common equity ratio of 53.5% for the Company’s hypothetical capital structure. The Stipulation and Settlement did not adopt the proposed Safety Response

Tracker. On October

34



Washington Gas Light Company
Part II
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

15, 2019 the PSC of MD issued Final Order No. 89303 which accepted the Stipulation and Settlement without change. Pursuant to Order No. 89303
Washington Gas’s revised base rates went into effect for service rendered on or after October 15, 2019.

Maryland Rate Case 2018. On May 15, 2018, Washington Gas filed an application with the PSC of MD to increase its base rates for natural gas service,
generating $41.3 million in additional annual revenue. The PSC of MD granted the Company $28.6 million in new revenues and increased the Company’s
return on equity to 9.7%. On January 10, 2019, Washington Gas filed an application for rehearing with the PSC of MD, alleging two errors in the agency’s
final order. On June 25, 2019, the PSC of MD issued an order granting in part and denying in part Washington Gas’ application for a rehearing, resulting in an
additional $0.5 million increase in annual distribution revenues.

Maryland Show-Cause Order. Following the NTSB hearing that examined the August 10, 2016, explosion and fire at an apartment complex in Silver
Spring, Maryland, on September 5, 2019, the PSC of MD ordered the Company, within 30 days, to (i) provide a detailed response to the NTSB’s probable
cause findings, and (ii) provide evidence regarding the status of a 2003 mercury regulator replacement program, and if the program was not completed, to
show cause why the Commission should not impose a civil penalty on the Company. See Item 3 - Legal Proceedings and Note 13 - Commitments and
Contingencies of the Notes to Financial Statements for additional information.

Virginia Jurisdiction

Application for the SAVE Act Plan Rider. On September 3, 2019, Washington Gas filed with the SCC of VA an application for approval of the SAVE Plan
Rider for Calendar Year 2020 of its annual adjustment of its Commission-approved SAVE Act under which the Company's 2020 SAVE Plan Rider is
reconciled and adjusted. Washington Gas proposed to invest approximately $132 million over calendar year 2020 to continue work on previously approved
distribution and transmission system accelerated replacement programs. Public comments were due by October 31, 2019. The SCC of VA issued an Order on
November 26, 2019, approving a SAVE Rider for 2020 in the amount of approximately $13.8 million. The SAVE Rider rates approved by the Commission
reflect an investment of approximately $127 million over the 12-month period beginning on January 1, 2020.

Virginia Rate Case - 2018. On July 31, 2018, Washington Gas filed an application with the SCC of VA to increase its base rates for natural gas service by
$37.6 million, which includes $14.7 million of revenue associated with natural gas pipeline replacement initiatives previously approved by the SCC of VA
and paid by customers through a monthly rider. Additionally, the requested revenue increase incorporated the effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the Tax
Act). Interim rates became effective, subject to refund, for usage in the January 2019 billing cycle. On September 16, 2019, the HE issued a report that made
certain recommendations, to which the Company responded on October 21, 2019. Thereafter, on December 20, 2019, the SCC of VA issued a Final Order that
accepted some of the HE’s findings and either rejected or made adjustments to others. The Final Order included approval of (i) an increase in base rates of
$13.2 million to reflect the transfer of $101.9 million of SAVE investment from the SAVE Rider to rate base (no additional revenue increase); and (ii)
amortization of unprotected plant-related and non-plant-related excess deferred income tax over 8 years.

For the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, Washington Gas made the following pre-tax adjustments based on the HE’s recommendations and
Commission's Final Order: (i) reduced “Operating revenues-Utility” by $7.9 million to accrue additional amounts of liability subject to refund; (ii) reduced
“Operating revenues-Utility” by $9.0 million associated with the revised amortization of the Tax Act liability; and (iii) wrote off $2.0 million in “Regulatory
Assets - Other” and charged to “Operation and maintenance” expense. Additionally, the Company reduced income tax expense by $8.5 million related to the
amortization of excess deferred income tax, and recorded $5.5 million after-tax impairment of a tax regulatory asset related to flow through income taxes. The
total impact from the adjustments for the calendar year 2019 was a $18.9 million reduction in "Income before income taxes" and a $10.9 million reductions in
"Net Income" on Washington Gas' statements of operations.

On January 9, 2020, Washington Gas filed a petition for reconsideration regarding the Commission’s decision to disallow recovery through base rates of the
$7.1 million regulatory asset related to previously flowed through income taxes. On January 30, 2020, the Commission issued its Order on Reconsideration
denying the Company’s petition, and directing the Company to issue rate refunds, as well as to begin return of regulatory liabilities over a twelve-month
period, within 90 days of the date of the Order on Reconsideration.

Critical Accounting Policies
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Preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in compliance with GAAP requires the selection and the application of appropriate technical
accounting guidance to the relevant facts and circumstances of our operations, as well as our use of estimates to compile the consolidated financial statements.
The application of these accounting policies involves judgment regarding estimates and projected outcomes of future events, including the likelihood of
success of particular regulatory initiatives, the likelihood of realizing estimates for legal and environmental contingencies, and the probability of recovering
costs and investments in both the regulated utility and non-regulated business segments.

We have identified the following critical accounting policies discussed below that require our judgment and estimation, where the resulting estimates have a
material effect on our net income.

Accounting for Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized in the period in which customers obtain control of promised goods or services and performance
obligations are satisfied in an amount equal to the consideration in which the Company is entitled to receive in exchange for the promised goods and services.
Generally, control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customer when the natural gas is delivered to the customer.

For regulated deliveries of natural gas, Washington Gas reads meters and bills customers on a monthly cycle basis. The billing cycles for customers do not
coincide with the accounting periods used for financial reporting purposes. Washington Gas accrues estimated unbilled revenues for gas that has been
delivered but not yet billed at the end of an accounting period by jurisdiction and customer class, including the estimated effects of billing adjustment
mechanisms.

See Note 1 — Accounting Policies and Note 2 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers of the Notes to Financial Statements for additional information.
Accounting for Regulatory Operations—Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

Washington Gas accounts for its regulated operations in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 980, Regulated Operations
(ASC Topic 980), which results in differences in the application of GAAP between regulated and unregulated businesses.

Washington Gas’ jurisdictional tariffs contain mechanisms that provide for the recovery of the cost of gas consumed by firm customers. Under these
mechanisms, Washington Gas periodically adjusts its firm customers’ rates to reflect fluctuations in the cost of gas. Annually, Washington Gas reconciles the
difference between the gas costs collected from firm customers and the cost of gas incurred, defers any difference and either recovers deficiencies from, or
refunds excess recoveries to, customers over a period of time authorized by its regulators.

The current regulatory environment and Washington Gas’ specific facts and circumstances support both the continued application of ASC Topic 980 for our
regulatory activities and the conclusion that all of our regulatory assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2019 are recoverable or refundable through rates
charged to customers. See Note 3 — Regulated Operations of the Notes to Financial Statements for further discussion of our regulated operations.

Accounting for Contingencies

We account for contingent liabilities utilizing ASC Topic 450, Contingencies. By their nature, the amount of the contingency and the timing of a contingent
event and any resulting accounting recognition are subject to our judgment of such events and our estimates of the amounts. Actual results related to
contingencies may be difficult to predict and could differ significantly from the estimates included in reported earnings. For a discussion of contingencies, see
Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Financial Statements.

Accounting for Derivatives

We enter into both physical and financial contracts for the purchase and sale of natural gas and apply the fair value requirements of ASC Topic 815,
Derivatives and Hedging. The financial and physical contracts that qualify as derivative instruments and are subject to the mark-to-market accounting
requirements are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments which are recoverable or refundable to
customers when they settle are subject to ASC Topic 980 and are recorded as regulatory assets or liabilities while changes in the fair value of derivative
instruments not affected by rate regulation are reflected in earnings.

Judgment is required in determining the appropriate accounting treatment for our derivative instruments, including our ability to: (i) evaluate contracts and
other activities as derivative instruments subject to the accounting guidelines of ASC Topic 815; (ii) determine whether or not our derivative instruments are
recoverable from or refundable to customers in future periods and
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(iii) derive the estimated fair value of our derivative instruments. See Note 14 — Derivatives of the Notes to Financial Statements for a discussion of our
derivatives.

Accounting for Fair Value Instruments

Fair value is based on actively quoted market prices when they are available. In the absence of actively quoted market prices, we seek indicative price
information from external sources, including broker quotes and industry publications. If pricing information from external sources is not available, internal
models are used to estimate prices based on available historical and near-term future price information and/or the use of statistical methods. These inputs are
used with industry standard valuation methodologies. See Note 15 — Fair Value Measurements of the Notes to Financial Statements for a discussion of our
valuation methodologies.

Accounting for Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

Washington Gas maintains defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans for eligible employees (the "Plans"). The measurement of
the Plans’ obligations and costs is dependent on a variety of factors, such as employee demographics, the level of contributions made to the Plans, earnings on
the Plans’ assets and mortality rates. The following assumptions are also critical to this measurement. These assumptions are derived on an annual basis with
the assistance of a third-party actuarial firm:

. Discount rate,

. Expected long-term return on plan assets,

. Rate of compensation increase,

. Healthcare cost trend rate and

. Projected increases to the Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) plan stipend.

The following table illustrates the effect of changing these actuarial assumptions, while holding all other assumptions constant:

Effect of Changing Critical Actuarial Assumptions

(In millions) Pension Benefits Health and Life Benefits
Increase Increase
Percentage-Point (Decrease) in Increase (Decrease) in Increase

Change in Ending (Decrease) in Ending (Decrease) in
Actuarial Assumptions Assumption Obligation Annual Cost Obligation Annual Cost
Expected long-term return on plan assets +/- 1.00 pt. n/a $(7.5)/ $7.5 n/a $(5.2) / $5.2
Discount rate +/- 0.25 pt. $(33.1)/ $35.8 $(2.7)/$2.8 $(8.5)/ $9.0 $(0.0) / $0.0
Rate of compensation increase +/- 0.25 pt. $5.5/$(4.5) $0.8 / $(0.8) n/a n/a
Healthcare cost trend rate +/- 1.00 pt. n/a n/a $5.8/$(5.1) $0.6 / $(0.5)
Projected increases to the HRA plan stipend +/- 1.00 pt. n/a n/a $22.6 / $(18.8) $2.8/%(2.2)

See Note 10 — Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits of the Notes to Financial Statements for additional discussion of the Plans.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following issues related to our market risks are included under Item 7 of this report and are incorporated by reference into this discussion.

. Price Risk

. Weather Risk

. Interest-Rate Risk
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Balance Sheets

(In thousands)

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment

At original cost

5,962,866 $ 5,702,927
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,579,718) (1,513,590)
Net property, plant and equipment 4,383,148 4,189,337
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 17,069 6,082
Receivables
Accounts receivable 259,053 292,871
Gas costs and other regulatory assets 9,894 6,020
Unbilled revenues 160,546 189,497
Allowance for doubtful accounts (18,708) (29,461)
Net receivables 410,785 458,927
Materials and supplies—principally at average cost 20,184 19,727
Storage gas 87,977 103,929
Prepaid taxes 34,576 27,193
Other prepayments 33,867 28,232
Receivables from associated companies 12,421 4,819
Derivatives 6,553 19,488
Other 19,619 20,347
Total current assets 643,051 688,744
Deferred Charges and Other Assets
Regulatory assets
Gas costs 98,717 141,636
Pension and other post-retirement benefits 39,435 86,493
Other 84,886 99,105
Prepaid post-retirement benefits 366,508 249,462
Right of use asset 40,004 —
Derivatives 10,370 11,318
Other 30,620 50,490
Total deferred charges and other assets 670,540 638,504
Total Assets 5,696,739 $ 5,516,585
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES
Capitalization
Common shareholder’s equity 1,572,196 $ 1,562,573
Preferred stock — 28,173
Long-term debt 1,430,949 1,035,033
Total capitalization 3,003,145 2,625,779
Current Liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt — 50,000
Notes payable and project financing 299,483 311,460
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 267,408 325,509
Customer deposits and advance payments 40,052 54,370
Gas costs and other regulatory liabilities 105,399 75,151
Accrued taxes 23,781 28,451
Payables to associated companies 57,923 95,228
Operating lease liability 5,850 —
Derivatives 4,069 20,295
Other 30,032 32,074
Total current liabilities 833,997 992,538
Deferred Credits
Unamortized investment tax credits 2,575 33233
Deferred income taxes 462,475 454,248
Accrued pensions and benefits 115,837 156,210



Asset retirement obligations 206,820 300,769

Regulatory liabilities
Accrued asset removal costs 254,429 264,556
Other post-retirement benefits 199,665 121,345
Excess deferred taxes and other 404,700 431,913
Operating lease liability 53,642 —
Derivatives 97,695 116,847
Other 61,759 49,147
Total deferred credits 1,859,597 1,898,268
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 13)
Total Capitalization and Liabilities $ 5,696,739 $ 5,516,585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended Ended December Ended
December 31, 31, September 30,

(In thousands) 2019 2018 2018 2017
OPERATING REVENUES $ 1,330,651 $ 402,101 $ 1,248,063 $ 1,166,968
OPERATING EXPENSES

Utility cost of gas 461,574 156,641 407,043 297,856

Operation and maintenance 404,961 102,728 544,180 340,604

Depreciation and amortization 142,565 34,948 135,071 129,428

General taxes and other assessments 149,618 38,552 148,178 134,696

Total Operating Expenses 1,158,718 332,869 1,234,472 902,584

OPERATING INCOME 171,933 69,232 13,591 264,384
Other income (expense) — net 9,478 3,494 (7,592) (545)
Interest expense 62,567 15,706 58,504 52,207
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES 118,844 57,020 (52,505) 211,632
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) 19,032 7,847 (25,863) 79,840
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 99,812 $ 49,173 % (26,642) $ 131,792
Loss on preferred stock extinguishment 556 — — —
Dividends on preferred stock 1,169 330 1,320 1,320
NET INCOME (LOSS) APPLICABLE TO COMMON
STOCK $ 98,087 $ 48,843 % (27,962) $ 130,472

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Calendar Year

Fiscal Years

Ended Three Months Ended
December 31,  Ended December 31, September 30,

(In thousands) 2019 2018 2018
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 99,812 $ 49,173 (26,642) 131,792
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS), BEFORE INCOME TAXES:
Pension and other post-retirement benefit plans

Change in prior service cost (649) (226) (675) (767)

Change in actuarial net gain (loss) 16,262 (6,246) 6.324 6.232

Total pension and other post-retirement benefit plans $ 15613 $ (6,472) 5649 $ 5 465

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) RELATED TO OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS) 4,077 (1,675) 2,957 2,157
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) $ 11,536 $ (4,797) 2692 $ 3.308
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) $ 111,348 $ 44,376 (23950) $ 135,100

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Calendar Year Ended

Three Months Ended

Fiscal Years Ended September 30,

December 31, December 31,
(In thousands) 2019 2018 2018 2017
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) 99,812 $ 49,173  $ (26,642) $ 131,792
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Depreciation and amortization 142,565 34,948 135,071 129,428
Amortization of:
Other regulatory assets and liabilities—net 8,491 1,859 6,917 6,422
Debt related costs 1,501 382 1,580 1,448
Deferred income taxes—net 19,690 8,012 (26,435) 77,586
Accrued/deferred pension and other post-retirement benefit cost (1,466) (330) 11,127 22,547
Compensation expense related to stock-based awards 3,626 1,353 19,067 16,153
Provision for doubtful accounts 17,266 5,940 20,224 14,484
Impairment loss 2,042 2,453 37,969 =
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative contracts (5,429) 4,200 (10,379) (48,950)
Amortization of investment tax credits (658) (165) (702) (751)
Other non-cash charges (credits)—net 2,436 (453) (2,450) (1,592)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (Note 18) (86,547) (201,840) (43,050) (141,238)
Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities 203,329 (94,468) 122,297 207,329
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital contributions from parent — 100,000 402,728 —
Long-term debt issued 298,482 — — 195,556
Long-term debt retired (50,000) (50,000) — —
Debt issuance costs (3,130) — (366) (661)
Long-term commercial paper issued (retired)—net 100,000 _ — —
Notes payable issued (retired)—net 3,483 200,999 (27,998) 81,000
Project financing — —_ 53,018 9,314
Dividends on common stock and preferred stock (100,736) (24,078) (88,908) (87,118)
Payment for preferred stock extinguishment (28,729) _ _ _
Other financing activities—net — = (6,197) (1,982)
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 219,370 226,921 332,277 196,109
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures (excluding AFUDC) (432,974) (126,013) (392,830) (403,438)
Insurance proceeds related to investing properties _ _ 3,238 —
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (432,974) (126,013) (389,592) (403,438)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED
CASH (10,275) 6,440 64,982 —
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash at Beginning of the Year 71,423 64,983 1 1
Cash, Cash equivalents and Restricted Cash at End of the Year $ 61,148 $ 71,423 64,983 $ 1

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Note 18)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Common Stock Accumulated Other
Retained Comprehensive
(In thousands, except shares) Shares Amount Paid-In Capital Earnings Loss, Net of Taxes Total
Balance, September 30, 2016 46,479,536 46,479 488,135 586,662 (7,830) 1,113,446
Net income _ — — 131,792 — 131,792
Other comprehensive income _ _ _ — 3,308 3,308
Stock-based compensation(a) — — 3,966 — — 3,966
Dividends declared:
Common stock _ _ — (86,443) — (86,443)
Preferred stock _ _ _ (1,320) — (1,320)
Balance, September 30, 2017 46,479,536 46,479 492,101 630,691 (4,522) 1,164,749
Net income (loss) _ _ — (26,642) — (26,642)
Other comprehensive income _ _ — — 4,176 4,176
Stock-based compensation(a) — — (15,556) 4,197 — (11,359)
Capital contribution from parent _ . 402,728 _ _ 402,728
ASU 2018-02 adoption impact ®
_ _ — 1,484 (1,484) —
Dividends declared:
Common stock _ _ _ (89,568) — (89,568)
Preferred stock . _ _ (1,320) — (1,320)
Balance, September 30, 2018 46,479,536 $ 46479 $ 879273  $ 518,842 § (1,830) § 1,442,764
Net income _ _ _ 49,173 — 49,173
Other comprehensive income _ _ _ — (4,797) (4,797)
Capital contribution from parent — = 100,000 — — 100,000
Dividends declared:
Common stock _ _ — (24,237) — (24,237)
Preferred stock _ _ — (330) — (330)
Balance, December 31, 2018 46,479,536 46,479 979,273 543,448 (6,627) 1,562,573
Net income _ — — 99,812 — 99,812
Other comprehensive income _ _ _ _ 11,536 11,536
Loss on preferred stock extinguishment _ _ _ (556) _ (556)
Dividends declared:
Common stock _ _ (100,000) — (100,000)
Preferred stock _ _ _ (1,169) — (1,169)
Balance, December 31, 2019 46,479,536 46,479 979,273 541,535 4,909 1,572,196

(@ Stock-based compensation is based on the stock awards of WGL that are allocated to Washington Gas for its pro-rata share. We recorded $4.2 million accumulative adjustments to retained
earnings for the fiscal year 2018 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-09. We accelerated the vesting of stock-based awards upon the consummation of the Merger with
AltaGas during the fourth quarter of fiscal year ended September 2018, which reduced the paid-in capital. See Note 11 — Stock-Based Compensation for a further discussion.

®Amount related to the adoption of ASU 2018-02. Washington Gas reclassified a credit of $1.5 million from AOCI to retained earnings at September 30, 2018.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

Following the 2018 Merger Agreement, Washington Gas became an indirect, majority owned subsidiary of, among other entities, AltaGas and WGL. In
connection with the Merger and at the command of Washington Gas’ regulators, WGL formed a wholly owned subsidiary, Wrangler, a bankruptcy remote,
special purpose entity to own the common stock of Washington Gas. In addition, WGL owns all of the shares of common stock of certain affiliated non-utility
subsidiaries, some of which provide services to Washington Gas, and some of which own interests in other entities. On December 20, 2019, Washington Gas
redeemed all the outstanding shares of its preferred stock. As a result, Washington Gas is now an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of AltaGas and WGL. As
a public utility company, Washington Gas sells and delivers natural gas to more than one million customers primarily in the District of Columbia and the
surrounding metropolitan areas in Maryland and Virginia.

The Financial Statements of Washington Gas has been prepared in conformity with GAAP and under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEQ).

The Merger with AltaGas was recorded using the acquisition method of accounting. Under SEC regulations, Washington Gas elected to not apply push
down accounting to its stand-alone financial statements. The acquisition adjustments were recorded by AltaGas.

The information presented in this annual report on Form 10-K are presented solely for the registrant Washington Gas on a stand-alone basis.

Change of Fiscal Year End

On December 28, 2018, our Board of Directors approved a change of Washington Gas's fiscal year from the period beginning on October 1 and ending on
September 30 to the period beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31. This annual report on Form 10-K is for the twelve-month period from
January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019. References in this report to "calendar year" refer to the year ended December 31. References in this report to
"transition period" refer to the three-month transition period from October 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018. References in this report to "fiscal year" refer
to the twelve-month period ending on September 30.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

In accordance with GAAP, we make certain estimates and assumptions regarding: (i) reported assets and liabilities; (ii) disclosed contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and (iii) reported revenues, revenues subject to refund, and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at original cost, including labor, materials, taxes and overhead costs incurred during the construction period. The
cost of utility plant of Washington Gas includes an allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC) that is calculated under a formula prescribed by
our regulators in Maryland and the District of Columbia. AFUDC equity is reported on the statements of operations as non-cash income in "Other income
(expense)". AFUDC debt is reported as a non-cash offset to interest expense. After construction is completed, the company are permitted to recover these
costs through inclusion in rate base and the corresponding subsequent deprecation or amortization of those regulated assets. The rates for AFUDC for the
calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was 3.48%, 5.84%,
2.42% and 2.73%, respectively.

Costs of replacement and betterments that extend the useful life of property, plant, and equipment are also capitalized. The cost of maintenance and repairs,
which do not extend the useful life or increase the expected output of the asset, are expensed as incurred. Depreciation applicable to its utility gas plant in
service primarily uses a straight-line method over the estimated remaining life of the plant. The composite annual depreciation and amortization rate was
2.96%, 2.78%, 2.77%, and 2.80% for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September
30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. In accordance with regulatory requirements, such rates include a component related to asset removal costs for Washington
Gas. Washington Gas periodically reviews the adequacy of its depreciation rates by considering estimated remaining lives and other factors.
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The following table represents the components of Washington Gas' Property, Plant and Equipment at original cost.

December 31,

($ In millions)
2019 2018
Distribution, transmission and storage $ 5,148.1 863% $ 4,8884 85.7%
General, miscellaneous and intangibles 543.2 9.1% 542.9 9.5%
Construction work in progress (CWIP) 271.6 4.6% 271.6 4.8%
Total 5,962.9 100.0% 5,702.9 100.0%

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Management regularly reviews property and equipment and other long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable.

For our properties and equipment, the indicators of potential impairment may include a deteriorating business or legal climate, a significant adverse change
in asset condition, specific regulatory disallowance, advances in technology or plans to dispose of an asset significantly before the end of its useful life,
among others. Management performs a recoverability test whenever the indicators show a possible impairment. The amount used to test recoverability is
determined based on an estimate of undiscounted cash flows, and measurement of an impairment loss is determined based on the fair value of the asset, using
assumptions about future cash inflows and outflows over the life of an asset.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, Washington Gas recorded a $38.0 million impairment to Property, Plant and Equipment in connection
with an agreement ancillary to the merger proceeding not to seek recovery of certain costs incurred under the Formal Case 1027 mechanical coupling
program.

During the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, the three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, Washington
Gas did not record any impairments related to our long-lived assets.

Refer to Note 15 — Fair Value Measurements of the Notes to Financial Statements for further discussion of these assets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents represent funds that are restricted to satisfy designated liabilities. Restricted cash and cash equivalents available to
satisfy designated current liabilities are classified as current assets. Restricted cash and cash equivalents expected to satisfy non-current liabilities are
classified as non-current assets. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement with AltaGas, we funded rabbi trusts of retirement benefits for executives and select
management employees and deferred compensation benefits for outside directors in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. At December 31, 2019 and
2018, the rabbi trust funds are invested in money market funds which are considered as cash equivalents. The rabbi trust funds that are used for the settlement
of benefit plans in long-term liabilities are classified in “Deferred charges and other assets-other”. The rabbi trust funds to settle benefit plans in current
liabilities are classified in “Current Assets-Other” on Washington Gas’ balance sheet. Refer to Note 10 — Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits for a
further discussion of the rabbi trusts and Note 18 — Supplemental Cash Flow Information for a further discussion of restricted cash and cash equivalents.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects Washington Gas' estimate of losses inherent in its account receivable balances. Washington Gas estimates its
bad debt expense based on current sales and establishes the allowance. Periodically, Washington Gas evaluates the reasonableness of the allowance utilizing a
variety of factors including the length of time receivables are past due, the financial health of its customers, unusual macroeconomic conditions, and historical
payment and collection experience. If the financial condition of its customers deteriorates or other circumstances occur that impact the customers’ ability or
desire to make payments, Washington Gas considers these factors in its evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance. Accounts are written off to the allowance
when collection efforts are complete and future recovery is unlikely.

Leases
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Lessee. We determine if an arrangement is a lease and the lease classification at inception. For the operating leases in which we are the lessee, a right-of-use
(ROU) asset and a lease liability is recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. We use the rate
implicit in the lease to determine the present value of the lease payments when the rate is readily determinable or we use our incremental borrowing rate. Our
ROU assets are adjusted for lease incentives, any lease payments made in advance, and initial direct costs incurred. Lease expenses are recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The estimated lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we
will exercise that option. For our lessee building and certain equipment leases, we do not separate the lease and non-lease components. Variable lease
payments are recognized as lease expense when the related facts and circumstances occur, and are dependent on various external factors, including real estate
taxes, common area maintenance and usage charges.

For our multiple office location leases classified as operating leases, the lease term begins on the date when construction of the leasehold improvements can
start and the lessor has allowed us to occupy the respective locations. Leasehold improvement costs are classified as “Property, Plant, and Equipment” on the
balance sheet, and are being amortized to “Depreciation and amortization” expense on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelable period of the leases.

Lessor. We determine if an arrangement is a lease and the lease classification at inception. Lease payments under operating leases are recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. For our building leases, we do not separate the lease and non-lease components.

Revenue and Cost of Gas Recognition

Revenues. Washington Gas generally recognizes revenue from contracts with customers when natural gas is delivered. Washington Gas reads meters and
bills customers on a 19-day monthly cycle basis. The billing cycles for customers do not coincide with the accounting periods used for financial reporting
purposes; therefore, Washington Gas accrues unbilled revenues for gas delivered, but not yet billed, at the end of each accounting period. Refer to Note 2 —
Revenue from Contracts with Customers for further discussion of the Utility’s revenue from contracts with customers.

Alternative Revenue Programs. Certain ratemaking mechanisms of Washington Gas qualify as alternative revenue programs in accordance with ASC
Topic 980, Regulated Operations, if (i) the program is established by an order from a regulatory commission and allows for automatic adjustment of future
rates, (ii) additional program revenues (above those amounts currently reflected in base rates) are objectively determinable and probable of recovery, and (iii)
the collection of the additional revenues is allowed within 24 months of the end of the period in which they were recognized. The Company has determined
that its RNA, WNA and CRA billing adjustment mechanisms and APRPs are alternative revenue programs. Alternative revenue program revenues represent
the initial recognition of revenue related to these programs. When amounts are billed and collected from customers through rates, the amounts are recorded as
a recovery of the associated regulatory asset or liability.

Cost of Gas. Washington Gas’ jurisdictional tariffs contain mechanisms that provide for the recovery of the cost of gas incurred on behalf of firm
customers, including related pipeline transportation and storage capacity charges. Under these mechanisms, Washington Gas periodically adjusts its firm
customers’ rates to reflect increases and decreases in these costs. Under or over-collections of gas costs in the current cycle are charged or credited to deferred
charges or credits on the balance sheet as non-current regulatory assets or liabilities. Amounts deferred at the end of the cycle, August 31 of each year, are
fully reconciled and transferred to current assets or liabilities under the balance sheet captions “Gas costs and other regulatory assets” and “Gas costs and
other regulatory liabilities.” These balances are recovered or refunded to customers over the subsequent 12 month period.

Revenue Taxes. Revenue taxes such as gross receipts taxes, regulatory fees, franchise fees and energy taxes are reported gross in operating revenues.
During the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and for fiscal years September 30, 2018 and 2017, $81.8
million, $24.2 million, $82.5 million, and $75.1 million, respectively, were recorded to "Operating revenues" of Washington Gas' statements of operations.

Transportation Gas Imbalance. Interruptible shippers and third-party marketer shippers transport gas to Washington Gas’ distribution system as part of
the unbundled services offered. The delivered volumes of gas from third-party shippers into Washington Gas’ distribution system rarely equal the volumes
billed to third-party marketer customers, resulting in transportation gas imbalances. These imbalances are usually short-term in duration, and Washington Gas
monitors the activity and regularly notifies the shippers when their accounts have an imbalance. In accordance with regulatory treatment, Washington Gas
does not record a receivable from or liability to third-party marketers associated with gas volumes related to these transportation imbalances but, rather,
reflects the financial impact as a regulatory asset or liability related to its gas cost adjustment mechanism, thereby eliminating any profit or loss that would
occur because of the imbalance. The regulatory treatment combines the imbalance for all marketers, including our affiliate WGL Energy Services, into a
single “net”
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adjustment to the regulatory asset or liability. Refer to Note 16 — Related Party Transactions for further discussion of the accounting for these imbalance
transactions.

Asset Optimization Program. Washington Gas optimizes the value of its long-term natural gas transportation and storage capacity resources by entering
into physical and financial transactions in the form of forwards, futures and option contracts for periods when these resources are not being used to physically
serve utility customers. Refer to “Derivative Activities” below for further discussion of the accounting for derivative transactions entered into under this
program. Regulatory sharing mechanisms in all three jurisdictions outline how the profits from these transactions should be shared with Washington Gas’
customers.

All unrealized fair value gains and losses, and margins generated from the physical and financial settlement of these asset optimization contracts are
recorded in "Utility cost of gas" on the income statement or, in the case of amounts to be shared with rate payers, regulatory assets/liabilities on the balance
sheet.

Storage Gas

Prior to September 30, 2017, Washington Gas accounted for storage gas inventories using the first-in, first-out method under which the oldest inventory
items were recorded as being sold first. Starting in October 1, 2017, Washington Gas implemented a voluntary change in the application of an accounting
principle with respect to accounting for natural gas, propane, and odorant inventories. Washington Gas now applies the average cost methodology under
which the cost of units carried in inventory is based on the weighted average cost per unit of inventory. Washington Gas implemented the change in
accounting principle on a prospective basis in accordance with ASC Topic 980.

On October 1, 2017, Washington Gas adopted ASU 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330) - Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory. As a result of the new
standard, beginning October 1, 2017, our inventory balances are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Prior to October 1, 2017, our inventory
balances were stated at the lower of cost or market. Interim period inventory losses attributable to lower of cost or net realizable value adjustments may be
reversed if the net realizable value of the inventory is recovered by the end of the same year. In general, commodity costs and variable transportation costs are
capitalized as gas in underground storage. Fixed costs, primarily pipeline demand charges and storage charges, are expensed as incurred through the cost of
gas.

Washington Gas did not record a material lower-of-cost or net realizable value adjustment to net income for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019,
three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal year September 30, 2018, or a lower-of-cost or market adjustment to net income for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2017.

Derivative Activities

Washington Gas enters into both physical and financial derivative contracts for the purchase and sale of natural gas that are subject to mark-to-market
accounting. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments which are recoverable or refundable to customers when they settle are subject to ASC Topic
980 and are recorded as regulatory assets or liabilities while changes in the fair value of derivative instruments not affected by rate regulation are reflected in
earnings.

As part of its asset optimization program, Washington Gas enters into derivative contracts related to the sale and purchase of natural gas at a future price
with the primary objective of securing operating margins that Washington Gas expects to ultimately realize. The fair value changes of derivatives used under
this program may cause significant period-to-period volatility in earnings for the portion of net profits retained for shareholders; however, this earnings
volatility will not change the realized margins that Washington Gas expects to earn. In accordance with ASC Topic 815, all financially and physically settled
contracts under our asset optimization program are reported on a net basis in the statements of operations in “Utility cost of gas”.

Washington Gas historically utilized derivative instruments that are designed to minimize the risk of interest-rate volatility associated with planned
issuances of long-term debt. Gains or losses associated with these derivative transactions are deferred as regulatory assets or liabilities and amortized to
interest expense in accordance with regulatory accounting requirements. Refer to Note 14 — Derivatives for further discussion of our derivative activities.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred income tax assets and liabilities for all temporary differences between the financial statement basis and the tax basis of assets and
liabilities computed on a separate company basis. Our deferred income taxes include those that are currently excluded for ratemaking purposes of Washington
Gas. Regulatory assets or liabilities, corresponding to such additional deferred income tax assets or liabilities, may be recorded to the extent recoverable from
or payable to customers through the ratemaking process in future periods. Refer to Note 4 — Regulated Operations for Washington Gas’ regulatory assets
and liabilities associated with income taxes due from and due to customers. Amounts applicable to income taxes due
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from and due to customers primarily represent differences between the financial statement basis and tax basis of net utility plant in service. Refer to Note 9 —
Income Taxes which provides detailed financial information related to our income taxes.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation expense in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, or ASC Topic 710,
Compensation - General for certain awards that do not meet the definition of a stock-based award under ASC 718. All outstanding awards at December 31,
2019 and 2018 are liability-classified share-based awards.

We recognize stock-based compensation expense based on their fair value at the end of each reporting period. Compensation expense for awards subject to
ASC 710 is recognized based on the probable outcome of the award at the end of each reporting period. For all awards, we estimate forfeitures over the
requisite service period when recognizing compensation expense; these estimates are periodically adjusted to the extent to which actual forfeitures differ from
such estimates. Refer to Note 11 — Stock-Based Compensation for further discussion of the accounting for our stock-based compensation plans.

Asset Retirement Obligations

Washington Gas accounts for its AROs in accordance with ASC Subtopic 410-20, Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations—Asset Retirement
Obligations. Our AROs include the costs to cut, purge and cap Washington Gas' distribution and transmission system. These standards require recording the
estimated retirement cost over the life of the related asset by depreciating the present value of the retirement obligation, measured at the time of the asset’s
acquisition, and accreting the liability until it is settled. There are timing differences between the ARO-related accretion and depreciation amounts being
recorded pursuant to GAAP and the recognition of depreciation expense for legal asset removal costs that we are currently recovering in rates. These timing
differences are recorded as a reduction to “Regulatory liabilities—Accrued asset removal costs” in accordance with ASC Topic 980. We do not have any
assets that are legally restricted related to the settlement of asset retirement obligations.

Changes in Asset Retirement Obligations

Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Year
Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30,
(In millions)
2019 2018 2018 2017
Asset retirement obligations at beginning of the period $ 308.1 $ 3055 $ 2989 $ 206.6
Liabilities incurred in the period 1.7 — 1.4 2.0
Revaluation of asset retirement obligation (101.0) — — 89.5
Liabilities settled in the period (7.9) — (7.3) (7.2)
Accretion expense 10.2 2.6 12.5 8.0
Asset retirement obligations at the end of the period@ $ 211.6 $ 3081 $ 3055 % 298.9

(a)Includes short-term asset retirement obligations of $4.8 million, $7.3 million, $7.3 million and $7.1 million for calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018,
and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Accounting Standards Adopted in the Calendar Year and Other Newly Issued Accounting Standards

The following tables represent accounting standards adopted by Washington Gas during the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, and other newly
issued accounting standards that will be adopted by Washington Gas in the future.
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ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ADOPTED IN CALENDAR YEAR 2019

Standard

Description

Date of adoption

Effect on the financial statements or
other significant matters

ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842),
ASU 2018-01, Land Easement
Practical Expedient for Transition
to Topic 842, ASU 2018-11,
Targeted Improvements, and ASU
2018-20, Narrow-Scope
Improvements for Lessors,
including other subsequent ASUs
clarifying the guidance.

ASU 2016-02 requires recognition of a
right-to-use asset and lease liability by
lessees on the statement of financial
position and disclosure of key
information about leasing arrangements.
Lessor accounting remains substantially
unchanged but the standard modifies
what qualifies as a sales-type and direct
financing lease and eliminated real-estate
specific provisions. The standard requires
application using a modified
retrospective approach.

ASU 2018-01 provides an optional
election not to evaluate existing and
expired land easements not previously
accounted for as a lease.

ASU 2018-11 allows entities to elect to
report comparative periods presented
after adoption under the old lease
standard (ASC Topic 840, Leases) and
recognize a cumulative effect adjustment
to the opening balance at the date of
adoption. The update also provides
lessors a practical expedient not requiring
the separation of lease and non-lease
components provided that certain
conditions are met.

ASU 2018-20 allows lessors to include
and exclude certain costs from variable
payments. The ASU also requires lessors
to allocate certain variable payments to
the lease and non-lease components
when the changes in facts and
circumstances on which the variable
payments are based occur.

January 1, 2019

Leases, with terms longer than 12
months, for which Washington Gas is the
lessee have been reflected on the balance
sheet by recording an increase to non-
current assets and an increase to deferred
credits net of the current portion that is
recorded in current liabilities. Upon
adoption, Washington Gas recorded lease
liabilities of $58.9 million and a right-of-
use asset of $43.2 million, net of lease
incentives and prepaid or deferred rent
balances of $15.7 million. Washington
Gas utilized the transition practical
expedients which allow entities to not
have to reassess whether an arrangement
contains a lease and the lease
classification under the provisions of
ASC Topic 842, land easements, and not
separating out the lease and non-lease
components for certain classes of

assets. As a result of the transition
practical expedients, Washington Gas’
operating leases on transition are
consistent with its conclusions under
ASC Topic 840, Leases. Washington Gas
has also elected to present prior
comparative information under ASC
Topic 840. See Note 3 — Leases for
further information and the new required
lease disclosures.
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ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and
Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted
improvements to Accounting for
Hedging Activities and ASU 2018-
16, Inclusion of the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR)
Overnight Index Swap (OIS) Rate
as a Benchmark Interest Rate for
Hedge Accounting Purposes

ASU 2017-12 amends the hedge
accounting and recognition requirements
by expanding an entity’s ability to hedge
non-financial and financial risk
components and reduce the complexity in
fair value hedges of interest rate risk.
Additionally, this standard eliminates the
requirement to separately measure and
disclose the ineffective portion of the
hedge with the entire change in the fair
value of a hedging instrument to be
presented in the same statement of
operations line as the hedged item. Early
adoption is permitted.

January 1, 2019

ASU 2018-16 adds the OIS rate based on
SOFR as a fifth U.S. benchmark interest
rate for hedge accounting purposes. This
standard should be adopted in
conjunction with ASU 2017-12 if not
early adopted.

The adoption of this ASU did not have an
impact to our financial statements. The
guidance will only have an impact on
new transactions that are entered into and
where hedge accounting is elected.

ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-
Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use
Software (Subtopic 350-40):
Customer’s Accounting for
Implementation Costs Incurred in
a Cloud Computing Arrangement
That Is a Service Contract (a
consensus of the FASB Emerging
Issues Task Force)

The update aligns the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs
incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a
service contract with the requirements to
capitalize implementation costs incurred
to develop or obtain internal-use software
(and hosting arrangements that include an
internal-use software license). Capitalized
implementation costs should be presented
in the statement of financial position as a
prepaid expense and amortized over the
term of the hosting arrangement,
presented in the statements of operations
in the same line items as prepayment of
fees associated with the hosting
arrangement. The updates in this standard
may be applied on a prospective or
retrospective basis. Early adoption is
permitted.

January 1, 2019

We early adopted this standard on a
prospective basis. The adoption of this
ASU did not have a material effect on our
financial statements.
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OTHER NEWLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Standard

Description

Required date of adoption

Effect on the financial statements or
other significant matters

ASU 2016-13, Financial
Instruments-Credit Losses
(Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments, including other
subsequent ASUs further
amending and clarifying the
guidance.

For credit losses on financial

instruments measured at amortized

cost, this standard changes the current
incurred loss impairment methodology to
an expected loss methodology and
requires consideration of a broader range
of reasonable and supportable information
to determine credit loss estimates. In
addition, entities may make a one-time
irrevocable election on certain eligible
financial instruments to elect fair

value treatment on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. Early adoption is
permitted.

January 1, 2020

Cash equivalents, trade accounts
receivable, unbilled revenue, and contract
assets are within the scope of the new
standard. We will make a one-time
election to measure our cash equivalents
at fair value. We analyzed our current
methodology to recognize estimated
credit losses and we will be making
adjustments to our current methodology
at adoption to meet the requirements of
the new standard. These changes are not
expected to have a material effect on our
financial statements.

ASU 2018-13, Fair Value
Measurement (Topic 820):
Disclosure Framework—
Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement

This update modifies the disclosure
requirements on fair value measurements.
Early adoption is permitted.

January 1, 2020

It is not expected that the adoption of this
standard will have a material effect on
our financial statements.

ASU 2019-01, Leases (Topic
842) Codification
Improvements

This update addresses the determination of
the fair value of the underlying asset by
lessors that are not manufacturers or
dealers, provides guidance for the
presentation of the statement of cash flows
for sales-type and direct financing leases,
and clarifies transition disclosures related
to the adoption of ASC 842.

January 1, 2020

It is not expected that the adoption of this
standard will have a material effect on
our financial statements.

ASU 2018-14, Compensation—

Retirement Benefits—Defined
Benefit Plans—General
(Subtopic 715-20): Disclosure
Framework—Changes to the
Disclosure Requirements for
Defined Benefit Plans

This standard modifies the disclosure
requirements related to defined benefit
pension and other postretirement plans.
Early adoption is permitted.

December 31, 2020

It is not expected that the adoption of this
standard will have a material effect on
our financial statements.

ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes
(Topic 740) Simplifying the
Accounting for Income Taxes

As part of FASB's Simplification Initiative,
this standard amends ASC Topic 740 by
removing certain exceptions to the general
principles and clarifying and amending
other current guidance.

January 1, 2021

We are in the process of evaluating the
impact the adoption of this standard will
have on our financial statements.
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NOTE 2. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606) and subsequent ASUs clarifying the guidance on October 1,
2018, using the modified retrospective method of adoption. Under this approach, prior year results are not required to be restated. Adoption of this standard
did not change the timing or pattern of revenue recognition and a cumulative-effect adjustment was not recorded upon adoption. As a result, comparative
disclosures for operating results for calendar year 2018 is not applicable because implementing the new standard did not change the timing or pattern of
revenue recognition.

The Company recognizes revenue from contracts with customers to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount it expects to be
entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Washington Gas sells natural gas and distribution services to residential, commercial, industrial and
governmental customers through regulated tariff rates approved by regulatory commissions in the jurisdictions where it operates. Customers are billed
monthly based on regular meter readings. Customer billings are based on two main components: (i) a fixed service fee and (ii) a variable fee based on usage.
For customers who choose to purchase their natural gas from Washington Gas, the bill will include a usage based charge for the cost of the commodity.
Revenue is recognized over time as the natural gas is delivered or as the service is performed. As meter readings are performed on a cycle basis, Washington
Gas recognizes accrued revenue for any services rendered to its customers but not billed at month-end. The tariff sales are generally considered daily or “at-
will” contracts as customers may cancel their service at any time (subject to notification requirements in the tariff), and revenue generally represents the
amount Washington Gas is entitled to invoice. There are certain contracts that have terms of one year or longer. For these contracts, revenue is recognized
based on the amount Washington Gas is entitled to bill the customer.

Customers have the choice to purchase natural gas from competitive service providers. Washington Gas charges the competitive service providers balancing
fees to manage the natural gas transportation imbalances. Where regulations require, Washington Gas issues customers a consolidated bill to include the
natural gas supplied by the competitive service providers and distribution of natural gas. Washington Gas recognizes revenue only for distribution services
that it has provided to the customer, and the balancing fees for the services provided to the competitive service provider.

We disaggregate revenue by type of service. The following table disaggregates revenue for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 and three months
ended December 31, 2018:

Disaggregated Revenue by Type of Service

Calendar Year Ended Three Months Ended
(In millions) December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Revenue from contracts with customers
Gas and transportation sales
Gas sold and delivered $ 975.8 $ 303.2
Gas delivered for others 270.7 74.3
Other 46.5 12.5
Other revenues 5.6 1.5
Total revenue from contracts with customers $ 1,298.6 $ 391.5
Other sources of revenue
Revenue from alternative revenue programs (@ $ 19.6 $ 9.1
Leasing revenue ® 0.7 0.2
Other 11.8 1.3
Total revenue from other sources 32.1 10.6
Total Operating Revenue $ 1,330.7 $ 402.1

@ Washington Gas has determined that the Utility's RNA,WNA, and CRA billing adjustment mechanisms and APRPs are alternative revenue programs and accounted for under ASC Topic 980.
®) For the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, revenue generated from Washington Gas lessor operating leases was accounted for under ASC Topic 842, Leases. For the three months ended
December 31, 2018, revenue generated from Washington Gas lessor operating leases was accounted for under ASC Topic 840, Leases. See Note 3 — Leases for further information on leases.
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Washington Gas accrues unbilled revenues for gas delivered, but not yet billed at the end of each accounting period due to our customer billing

cycles. “Unbilled revenues” represent performance obligations that have been satisfied and to which Washington Gas has an unconditional right to payment,
except for contract assets related to Washington Gas’ area-wide contract, which requires project acceptance by federal government for the right to payment to
occur. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, contract assets of $44.2 million and $85.3 million, respectively, have been recorded for financed projects within
“Unbilled revenues” on the balance sheets. Washington Gas did not have any contract liabilities at December 31, 2019 and 2018. The Company does not have
transaction price amounts allocated to future performance obligations. The Company applies the practical expedient available under ASC Topic 606 and does
not disclose information about the remaining performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original expected length of one year or less, (ii) contracts for
which revenue is recognized at the amount to which the Company has the right to invoice for performance completed, and (iii) contracts with variable
consideration that is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance obligation or to a wholly unsatisfied promise to transfer a distinct good or service
that forms part of a single performance obligation.

NOTE 3. LEASES

On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (ASC Topic 842) and the following subsequent ASUs which amended the guidance:
ASU 2018-01, Land Easement Practical Expedient for Transition to Topic 842, ASU 2018-10, Codification Improvements, and ASU 2018-11, Leases
Targeted Improvements, and ASU 2018-20, Narrow-Scope Improvements for Lessors. The new leasing standard requires lessees to recognize a ROU asset
and lease liability for leases classified as an operating lease. The significant effects of adopting this standard and the qualitative and quantitative disclosures
required to enable users of the financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases are included in Note 1 —
Accounting Policies and below.

Adoption of the new standard had a material impact on our balance sheets but did not have a material impact on our statements of operations. On January 1,
2019, the Company recorded ROU assets of $43.2 million (net of lease incentives and prepaid or deferred rent of $15.7 million), current lease liability of $2.8
million and non-current lease liability of $56.1 million related to our operating leases. The Company currently does not have finance leases. We elected to
implement the new leasing standard retrospectively at the beginning of the period of adoption through a cumulative-effect adjustment. Under this approach,
prior year results are not required to be restated and disclosures associated with prior periods are reported under ASC Topic 840.

Lessee Leases

The Company elected to use the transition practical expedient which allows an entity not to reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are, or
contain, leases; the lease classification for any expired or existing leases; and the initial direct costs for any existing leases. The practical expedient also
allows an entity not to reassess whether existing or expired land easements that were not previously accounted for as a lease under ASC Topic 840 was also
elected. The Company elected not to separate lease and non-lease components for its building leases and has elected not to record a ROU asset and lease
liability for short-term leases. Short-term leases are defined as leases with a term of 12 months or less at the commencement date, including extension options
that are reasonably certain of being exercised, and do not include an option to purchase the underlying asset. Short-term lease costs for the period were not
material.

Washington Gas has operating leases for our corporate headquarters and other corporate offices, communication tower space, and certain office equipment.
Our leases have remaining lease terms from 1 to 22 years. Some of the leases include options to extend the lease terms for 1 to 5 years with prior written
notice or automatically renew if either party does not provide intent to terminate. The leases generally have options to terminate with notice prior to the end of
the lease term based on the contract terms. Refer to Note 16 — Related Party Transactions for discussion of leases with associated companies.

The following table provides our expected operating lease payments at December 31, 2019.

Maturity of Operating Lease Liabilities

(In millions) December 31, 2019

2020 $ 6.0

2021 5.6

2022 5.5

2023 5.5

2024 5.6

Thereafter 46.3

Total lease payments $ 74.5

Less: Interest (15.0)
Present Value of Lease Liabilities $ 59.5

Rent expense for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and
2017 was $5.2 million, $0.6 million, $5.8 million and $5.3 million, respectively.

The following table provides supplemental cash flow information related to operating leases for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019.

53



Washington Gas Light Company
Part IT
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data (continued)
Notes to Financial Statements

Supplemental Cash Flow Information Related to Operating Leases

Calendar Year Ended December

($ in millions) 31, 2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the lease liabilities in the operating cash flows $ 2.9
Operating lease cost (including variable lease costs of $1.9 million) $ 7.1
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 1.5

At December 31, 2019, the weighted average remaining lease term for operating leases was 13.3 years, and the weighted average discount rate was 3.32%.

Lessor Leases

The Company also has lessor leases for land, office space and communication tower space that are classified as operating leases. The accounting for these
operating leases remained unchanged upon the adoption of ASC 842. Washington Gas has elected not to separate the lease and non-lease components for its
building leases. Our leases have remaining lease terms ranging from less than a year to 81 years. Some of the leases include options to extend the lease terms
for 1 to 5 years with prior written notice or automatically renew if the lessee does not provide intent not to renew. The leases generally have options to
terminate the leases with notice prior to the end of the lease term based on the contract terms. The lease agreements do not contain material residual value
guarantees.

The following table summarizes the future operating lease payments to be received associated with these leases.

Maturity of Operating Lease Payments©@

(In millions) December 31, 2019

2020 $ 0.9
2021 0.7
2022 0.7
2023 0.7
2024 0.6
Thereafter 57.8
Total lease payments $ 61.4

(@ The payments are presented on an undiscounted basis

The property, plant and equipment associated with these leases are not material. For information on the lease income recognized during the period, see the
Disaggregated Revenue by Type of Service table in Note 2 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

During the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, Washington Gas did not record any impairments related to our leased assets.

NOTE 4. REGULATED OPERATIONS

Washington Gas accounts for its regulated operations in accordance with ASC Topic 980. This standard includes accounting principles for companies
whose rates are determined by independent third-party regulators. When setting rates, regulators may require us to record expense in different periods than
may be appropriate for unregulated enterprises. When this occurs, Washington Gas defers the associated costs as assets (regulatory assets) on its balance sheet
and records them as expenses on its statements of operations as it collects the revenues designed to recover these costs through customers’ rates. Further,
regulators can also impose liabilities upon a company for gains previously realized or for amounts previously collected from customers for expenses expected
to be incurred in the future (regulatory liabilities).

When Washington Gas files a request with certain regulatory commissions to modify customers’ rates, it may be permitted to charge customers new rates,
subject to refund, until the regulatory commission renders a final decision on the amount of the authorized change in rates. During this interim period,
Washington Gas records a provision for a rate refund regulatory liability based on the difference between the amount it collects in rates and the amount it
expects to recover from a final regulatory decision. Similarly, Washington Gas periodically records provisions for rate refunds related to other transactions.
Actual results for these regulatory contingencies are often difficult to predict and could differ significantly from the estimates reflected in the financial
statements. Refer to Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies for further discussion of regulatory matters and related contingencies.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we recorded the following regulatory assets and liabilities on our balance sheets. These assets and liabilities will be
recognized as revenues or expenses in future periods as they are reflected in customers’ rates.
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Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

Regulatory Assets Regulatory Liabilities
December 31, December 31,
(In millions) 2019 2018 2019 2018
Current:
Gas costs due from/to customers(@ $ 59 $ 56 $ 4.2 $ 46.9
Interruptible sharing(@ 2.1 0.4 0.3 1.7
Revenue normalization mechanisms for Maryland and Virginia(® — — 4.0 3.6
Accelerated replacement recovery mechanisms(” 1.9 — 0.3 3.8
Rates subject to refund(©@ — — 31.1 —
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act rate refunds(@ — — 25.5 19.2
Total current $ 99 $ 6.0 $ 1054 $ 75.2
Deferred:
Accrued asset removal costs(™ $ — 5 — $ 254.4 $ 264.6
Deferred gas costs@® 98.7 141.6 — —
Pension and other post-retirement benefits
Deferred pension costs—trackers(® — 5.7 — —
ASC Topic 715 unrecognized costs/income(@(®
Pensions 39.4 80.8 — —
Other post-retirement benefits — — 199.7 121.3
Total pension and other post-retirement benefits 39.4 86.5 199.7 121.3
Other:
Income tax-related amounts due from/to customers®©@ 26.0 41.6 400.6 427.2
Losses/gains on issuance and extinguishment of debt and interest-rate
derivative instruments(a)(h) 13.9 15.0 1.2 1.3
Rights-of-way fees@ — — 2.4 2.5
Business process outsourcing and related costs(@ 1.9 3.2 — —
Non-retirement employee benefits(@(® 14.9 15.6 — —
Deferred distribution integrity management (9)0) 2.0 5.4 — —
Recoverable portion of abandoned liquid natural gas facility® 2.3 2.7 — —
Environmental response costs(@® 7.0 5.8 — —
Energy efficiency program-Maryland™ 9.3 3.4 — —
Other regulatory expenses 7.6 6.4 0.5 0.9
Total other $ 849 $ 99.1 $ 404.7 $ 431.9
Total deferred $ 223.0 $ 3272 $ 858.8 $ 817.8
Total $ 2329 $ 333.2 $ 964.2 $ 893.0

(@Washington Gas does not earn its overall rate of return on these assets. Washington Gas is allowed to recover and required to pay, using short-term interest rates, the carrying costs related to
billed gas costs due from and to its customers in the District of Columbia and Virginia jurisdictions.

®Includes fair value of derivatives, which are not included in customer bills until settled.

(IRepresents estimated refunds related to customers billed at a higher rate during the interim period as part of the 2019 Virginia Rate Case.

(@Represents amounts accrued for future refunds due to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. For a further discussion, see "Rates and Regulatory Matters" section of Management's Discussion
Analysis and Note 9 — Income Taxes in the Notes to Financial Statements.

(Relates to the District of Columbia jurisdiction. The amortization of the regulatory tracker ended in 2019.

mRefer to Note 10 — Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans for a further discussion of these amounts.

@This balance represents amounts due from customers for deferred tax liabilities related to tax benefits on deduction flowed directly to customers prior to the adoption of income tax normalization
for ratemaking purposes and to tax rate changes including the latest reduction as a result of the Tax Act.

(WThe losses or gains on the issuance and extinguishment of debt and interest-rate derivative instruments include unamortized balances from transactions executed in prior fiscal years. These
transactions create gains and losses that are amortized over the remaining life of the debt as prescribed by regulatory accounting requirements.

(Represents the timing difference between the recognition of workers compensation and short-term disability costs in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and the recovery of
these costs through rates.

WThis balance represents amounts for deferred expenditures associated with Washington Gas’ Distribution Integrity Management Program (DIMP) in Virginia.
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®This balance represents allowed environmental remediation expenditures at Washington Gas sites to be recovered through rates for Maryland and the District of Columbia. The recovery period is
over several years.

(Balance represents amounts deferred over collections or under collections of surcharges associated with Washington Gas' accelerated pipeline recovery programs in the District of Columbia,
Maryland and Virginia compared the amounts reflected in revenues.

(mRefer to Note 1 — Accounting Policies for a further discussion of these amounts.

(MBalance represents amounts for costs incurred associated with Washington Gas' participation in the energy conservation and efficiency program EmPOWER in Maryland that are recovered from
customer over time.

As required by ASC Topic 980, Washington Gas monitors its regulatory and competitive environment to determine whether the recovery of its regulatory
assets remains probable. If Washington Gas were to determine that recovery of these assets is no longer probable, it would write off the assets against
earnings. We have determined that ASC Topic 980 continues to apply to our regulated operations. During the calendar year ended December 31, 2019,
Washington Gas recorded a $2.0 million write down of the regulatory asset related to our distribution integrity management program based on the HE’s
recommendations and Commission's Final Order related to Virginia rate case (Refer to Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies for further discussion on
the Virginia Rate case). During the three months ended December 31, 2018, Washington Gas recorded a $2.5 million write down to the regulatory asset
associated with business process outsourcing costs, which was disallowed as a result of the Maryland Rate Case.

NOTE 5. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The table below provides details for the amounts included in “Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities” on the balance sheets.

(In millions) December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Accounts payable—trade $ 1543 $ 228.9
Employee benefits and payroll accruals 39.2 28.0
Wages payable 22.2 22.6
Accrued interest 17.3 14.5
Other accrued liabilities 34.4 31.5
Total $ 267.4 $ 325.5

NOTE 6. SHORT-TERM DEBT

Washington Gas satisfies the short-term financing requirements through the sale of commercial paper, financing arrangements with third-party lenders, or
through bank borrowings. Due to the seasonal nature of our operations, short-term financing requirements can vary significantly during the year. Revolving
credit agreements are maintained to support outstanding commercial paper and to permit short-term borrowing flexibility. The policy of Washington Gas is to
maintain bank credit facilities in amounts equal to or greater than the expected maximum commercial paper position.

Credit Facility

On July 19, 2019, Washington Gas entered into an amended and restated senior unsecured revolving credit facility with a term of five years, plus two one-
year extension options, available with the bank group’s approval. The Credit Facility amended and restated Washington Gas’ prior $350 million credit facility
and permits Washington Gas to borrow up to $450 million with an option to increase the facility by an additional $100 million, with the bank group’s
approval, for a total potential maximum borrowing of $550 million. Washington Gas incurs Credit Facility fees, which in some cases are based on the long-
term debt ratings of Washington Gas. If the long-term debt ratings were downgraded below certain levels, Washington Gas would be required to pay higher
fees. There are five different levels of fees. Under the terms of the Credit Facility, the lowest level facility fee is 0.06% and the highest is 0.175%. The interest
rate of loans made under the Credit Facility will be a fluctuating rate per annum that is set using certain parameters at the time each loan is made.
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The following is a summary of committed credit available at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Committed Credit Available

(In millions) December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Committed credit agreements

Unsecured revolving credit facility $450.0 $350.0

Less: Commercial Paper outstanding @) (400.0) (296.0)

Net committed credit available $50.0 $54.0
Weighted average interest rate 2.04% 2.93%

(@ The amount presents principal amount of commercial paper.
At December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no outstanding bank loans from Washington Gas’ revolving credit facilities.

Under the terms of the Credit Facility, the ratio of financial indebtedness to total capitalization may not exceed 0.65 to 1.0 (65.0%). At December 31, 2019
and 2018, Washington Gas' ratios of consolidated financial indebtedness to consolidated total capitalization was 52% and 47%, respectively. In addition,
Washington Gas is required to inform lenders of changes in corporate existence, financial conditions, litigation and environmental warranties that might have
a material adverse effect. Failure to inform the lenders’ agent of these material changes might constitute default under the agreements. Should Washington
Gas fail to pay principal or interest when due on any other indebtedness, such failure may be deemed to constitute a default. Such defaults, if not remedied,
could lead to suspension of further loans and/or acceleration in which obligations become immediately due and payable. At December 31, 2019 and 2018,
Washington Gas was in compliance with all of the covenants under its Credit Facility.

Commercial Paper

Total commercial paper recorded was $399.5 million and $296.0 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In December 2019, we classified
$100.0 million commercial paper balance as "Long-term debt" on Washington Gas' balance sheets due to its ability and intent to refinance these balances on a
long-term basis. Accordingly, $299.5 million of commercial paper remained in “Note payable and project financing” at December 31, 2019.

Project Financing

Washington Gas previously obtained third-party project financing on behalf of the federal government to provide funds for the construction of certain
energy management services projects entered under Washington Gas’ area-wide contract resulting in a project financing obligation recorded in “Notes
payable and project financing” on the balance sheet. As the construction work was performed, Washington Gas established a contract asset in “Unbilled
revenue” representing the government’s obligation to remit principal and interest, and recorded a “Payable to associated company” to WGL Energy Systems
for the construction work performed for the same amount. WGL Energy Systems now directly obtains third-party project financing for energy management
services projects with the federal government under Washington Gas’s area-wide contract. As work is performed, Washington Gas establishes a contract asset
in “Unbilled revenue” representing the government’s obligation to remit principal and interest and records a “Payable to associated company” to WGL
Energy Systems for the construction work performed for the same amount.

At December 31, 2019, Washington Gas recorded $44.2 million of contract assets in “Unbilled revenues” and a $44.2 million payable to WGL Energy
Systems in “Payables to associated companies,” respectively, for energy management services projects financed by WGL Energy Systems that were not
complete. There was no project financing obligation on Washington Gas’ balance sheet at December 31, 2019.

At December 31, 2018, Washington Gas recorded $85.3 million of contract assets in "Unbilled revenues", $15.5 million in a corresponding short-term
obligation to third-party lenders in "Notes payable and project financing", and $69.7 million obligation to WGL Energy Systems in "Payables to associated
companies" for energy management services projects that were not complete.

In October 2018, WGL Energy Systems repaid $53.0 million drawn by Washington Gas from a third-party lender for a specific project that the lender
demanded repayment for due to delays in achieving final acceptance from the federal government agency customer. The $53.0 million was included in
"Payables to associated companies" on Washington Gas' balance sheets at December 31, 2018. In February 2019, WGL sold the receivables, and accordingly,
Washington Gas reversed the associated amount in “Payables to associated companies” and “Unbilled revenue” on its balance sheets.
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Washington Gas did not record a corresponding reserve for bad debits related to these contract assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018, based on our previous
collection experience with receivables that have been financed for government agencies with minimal credit risk.

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT

First Mortgage Bonds

The Mortgage of Washington Gas dated January 1, 1933 (Mortgage), as supplemented and amended, securing any First Mortgage Bonds (FMBs) it issues,
constitutes a direct lien on substantially all property and franchises owned by Washington Gas, other than a small amount of property that is expressly
excluded. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Washington Gas had no debt outstanding under the Mortgage. Any FMBs that may be issued in the future will
represent indebtedness of Washington Gas.

Shelf Registration

At December 31, 2019, Washington Gas had remaining capacity under a shelf registration statement that was filed in May 2018 to issue up to $425.0
million of additional medium-term notes (MTN's).

Unsecured Notes

Washington Gas issues long-term debt that are unsecured long-term notes in the form of MTNs and private placement notes with individual terms regarding
interest rates, maturities and call or put options. These notes can have maturity dates of one or more years from the date of issuance.

The indenture for the unsecured MTNs and the note purchase agreement for the private placement notes provide that Washington Gas will not issue any
FMBs under its Mortgage without securing all MTNs and the private placement notes with the Mortgage.

Certain of Washington Gas’ outstanding MTNs and private placement notes have a make-whole call feature that pays the holder a premium based on a
spread over the yield to maturity of a U.S. Treasury security having a comparable maturity if that particular note were to be called by Washington Gas before
its stated maturity date. With the exception of this make-whole call feature, Washington Gas is not required to pay call premiums for calling debt prior to the
stated maturity date.
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The following table shows the outstanding notes with maturities in calendar years at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Long Term Debt Outstanding
(% In millions) December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Washington Gas Unsecured Notes

Due 2019, 4.76% $ — 50.0
Due 2023, 6.65% 20.0 20.0
Due 2025, 5.44% 40.5 40.5
Due 2026, 6.62% to 6.82% 53.0 53.0
Due 2027, 6.40% to 6.57% 72.0 72.0
Due 2028, 6.57% to 6.85% 52.0 52.0
Due 2030, 7.50% 8.5 8.5
Due 2036, 5.70% to 5.78% 50.0 50.0
Due 2040, 5.21% 75.0 75.0
Due 2043, 5.00% 75.0 75.0
Due 2044, 4.22% to 4.24% 150.0 150.0
Due 2046, 3.80% 450.0 450.0
Due 2049, 3.65% 300.0 —
Commercial Paper due in various years (© $ 100.0 $ —
Total Long-Term Debt® $ 1,446.0 $ 1,096.0
Unamortized discount 4.3) 2.9)
Unamortized debt expense (10.8) 8.1)
Less—current maturities — 50.0
Total Long-Term Debt $ 1,4309 $ 1,035.0
Weighted average interest rate® 4.52% 4.77%

@ Includes MTNs and private placement notes. The amount represents face value of long-term debt including current maturities.

®) Weighted average interest rate is for the Washington Gas unsecured notes including current maturities.

© In December 2019, we classified $100.0 million commercial paper balance as "Long-term debt" on Washington Gas' balance sheets due to its ability and intent to refinance these balances on a
long-term basis. Refer to Note 6 - Short-term debt for discussion on the credit facility.
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The following table shows the issuances and retirements of Washington Gas' unsecured notes for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months
ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal year ended September 30, 2017. There were no issuances or retirements during the fiscal year ended September 30,
2018.

Washington Gas' Unsecured Notes Issuances and Retirements

Interest Nominal Maturity

(In millions) Principal@®© Rate® Effective Cost® Date
Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2019

Issuances:

09/13/2019 $ 300.0 3.65% 3.72% 9/15/2049

Retirements:

11/1/2019 $ 50.0 4.76% 4.76% 11/1/2019
Three Months Ended December 31, 2018

Retirements:

12/05/2018 $ 50.0 7.46% 7.46% 12/5/2018
Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2017

Issuances:

9/18/2017 $ 200.0 3.80% 9/15/2046

(@Represents face amount of notes.
®) Represents the interest rate and effective cost at the trade date of the debt.

On September 13, 2019, Washington Gas issued medium-term notes with an aggregate principal amount of $300 million and 3.65% fixed interest rate that
are due in September 2049. The interest will be paid semi-annually in March and September of each year. The notes have a make-whole call provision at a
U.S. Treasury rate plus 25 basis points prior to March 15, 2049, and then are callable at par after March 15, 2049.

NOTE 8. PREFERRED STOCK

On December 20, 2019, Washington Gas redeemed all outstanding shares of its preferred stock for the respective call price per share for a total amount of
$28.7 million, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends. A loss of $0.6 million was recorded in "Loss on preferred stock extinguishment" on Washington Gas'
statements of operations. The following table lists Washington Gas' three series of preferred stock including the call price at which they were redeemed. The
redemption was funded primarily through borrowings in the commercial paper program. Following the redemption, Washington Gas no longer pays quarterly
preferred stock dividends. Since Washington Gas’ preferred shares had voting rights, as a result of this redemption, Washington Gas

became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of AltaGas.

Preferred Stock

Liquidation Preference

Preferred
Per Share Call Price
Series Shares
Involuntary Voluntary Per Share
$4.80 150,000 $100 $101 $101
$4.25 70,600 $100 $105 $105
$5.00 60,000 $100 $102 $102

NOTE 9. INCOME TAXES
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Through July 6, 2018 and prior to the Merger with AltaGas, WGL and its wholly owned subsidiaries filed a consolidated federal income tax return and
various state income tax returns where they had a business presence. WGL and each of its subsidiaries participated in a tax sharing agreement that
apportioned the consolidated tax among the subsidiaries on the separate return method.

Effective with the Merger and beginning July 7, 2018, our tax year end changed to December 31 and Washington Gas was included with AltaGas’ wholly
owned US subsidiaries’ consolidated income tax return with AltaGas Services (U.S.), (ASUS) being the parent company of the consolidated group.
Accordingly, Washington Gas filed a final return as part of the WGL's consolidated income tax return for the short tax year from October 1, 2017 to July 6,
2018. WGL and its wholly owned subsidiaries were included in the AltaGas' consolidated income tax returns beginning with the period from July 7, 2018 to
December 31, 2018. We have established a new tax sharing policy with ASUS that allocates consolidated tax liabilities and benefits using a ratio determined
by the separate taxable income for each member applied to the consolidated return tax liability of the group. Income taxes recorded for the period October 1,
2017 through July 6, 2018 were based on amounts we incurred as standalone corporations. State income tax returns are filed on a separate company basis in
most states and on a unitary basis as required, where we or the consolidated ASUS group have operations and/or a requirement to file.

At December 31, 2019, Washington Gas recorded $5.5 million receivable and $0.6 million payable with associate companies under the ASUS tax sharing
policy. The amounts were recorded in "Receivable from associated companies" and "Payable to associated companies" on Washington Gas' balance sheets.

Impact of US Federal Income Tax Reform of 2017

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law. As of December 31, 2018, Washington Gas has completed its assessment of the accounting for
applicable effects of the Tax Act and recorded the following measurement period adjustments in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (SAB
118).

Bonus depreciation: Under the Tax Act, regulated public utility property is ineligible for bonus depreciation and is depreciated under the Modified
Accelerated Cost Recovery System (MACRS) while non-utility property is eligible for 100% bonus depreciation. In accordance with the August 8, 2018
proposed depreciation regulations and the transitional rule above, an amount of $86.2 million of additional depreciation deduction for the short period ended
July 6, 2018 was recorded in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. We recognized an additional $17.4 million of bonus eligible assets for the three
months ended December 31, 2018.

Decrease in regulated revenues: In January 2018, Washington Gas filed applications for approval to reduce the distribution rates it charges customers in
Maryland, Virginia and the District of Columbia to reflect the impact of the Tax Act. These applications proposed to reduce rates in these jurisdictions by a
combined amount of $41.2 million annually, until base rates are reestablished in a separate rate proceeding. As described further below, the portion of this
reduction in regulated revenues represented by the re-measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities was recorded as a net regulatory liability under ASC
980, Regulated Operations. The net regulatory liability recorded is the amount we considered probable of regulatory treatment and refunded to customers in
future periods. In addition, a portion of this reduction in regulated revenues relates to the federal tax expense at the new federal rate of 21% included in
current base rates, effective January 1, 2018. For the three months ended December 31, 2018, the revenues were lowered by an additional $13.7 million. For
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, revenues were lowered by $27.5 million to reflect the regulatory impact of the Tax Act.

Uncertain tax position: For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the re-measurement of Washington Gas’ uncertain tax position related to temporary
difference associated with repairs expense was a decrease in the amount of $14.8 million. Generally, a reserve for uncertain tax benefits related to prior years
would not be re-measured if the tax exposure related to prior years where the federal income tax rate was 35%. However, Washington Gas' reserve for
uncertain tax benefits relates solely to repair deductions for which the tax consequence of any disallowed deductions related to these temporary differences is
expected to be prospective only. For the three months ended December 31, 2018, there was no additional impact recognized associated with re-measurement.

Re-measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities: Under ASC Topic 740, the tax rate used to measure deferred tax assets and liabilities are the tax
rates expected to be in place when the liability is expected to be ultimately settled or the asset recovered. We re-measured deferred tax balances as of
September 30, 2017. The re-measurement of our deferred tax assets and liabilities includes the impact on our cumulative prior year deferred tax asset net
operating loss (DTA NOL), investment tax credit and related attributes and deferred taxes associated with our benefit plans.

As of September 30, 2018, the effect of the re-measurement at a federal tax rate of 21% resulted in a net decrease in deferred tax liabilities in the amount of
$421.7 million, including net tax gross-up, primarily related to the impact on plant-related
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deferred tax liabilities. The re-measurement of deferred tax assets not associated with rate-making were recorded as income tax expense of $7.0 million.

Under ASC Topic 980, we recorded a regulatory liability for excess deferred income taxes of $431.0 million including tax gross-up for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2018. Included in this amount. we recorded a decrease for flow-through depreciation related items and an increase for the re-measurement of
non-plant excess deferred taxes (including the net operating loss carryforward deferred tax asset). These adjustments both included the appropriate tax gross-
up.

For the three months ended December 31, 2018, the final re-measurement implementation resulted in a net increase in deferred tax liabilities in the amount
of $5.9 million, including net tax gross-up, and an increase to income tax expense of $1.2 million.

For the three months ended December 31, 2018, under ASC Topic 980, we reduced the net regulatory liability for excess deferred income taxes of $6.1
million including tax gross-up.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the Company had cumulative taxable losses, and as a result, the Company recorded its deferred tax liabilities
at a federal rate of 21% because all amounts will reverse in future years when the rate is expected to be 21%.

Components of Income Tax Expense or Benefit

The following tables provide the components of income tax expenses for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31,
2018, and for fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.

Components of Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30,
(In thousands) 2019 2018 2018 2017
Current:
Federal $ — $ — $ — 1,722
State — — 1,274 1,283
Total current — — 1,274 3,005
Deferred:
Federal 12,216 9,031 (36,331) 64,590
State 7,474 (1,019) 9,896 12,996
Total deferred® 19,690 8,012 (26,435) 77,586
Amortization of investment tax credits (658) (165) (702) (751)
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ 19,032 $ 7,847 $ (25,863) $ 79,840

@ Includes tax expense of $1.2 million and $7.0 million related to re-measurement of deferred income taxes for three months ended December 31, 2018 and the fiscal year ended September 30,
2018, respectively.

Rate Reconciliation

The effective income tax rate from continuing operations varies from the U.S. Federal statutory rate principally due to the following:
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Reconciliation Between the Statutory Federal Income Tax Rate and Effective Tax Rate

Fiscal Years

Calendar Year Ended  Three Months Ended
Ended
December 31, December 31,
September 30,
(In thousands) 2019 2018 2018 2017
Income taxes at statutory federal income tax
rate® 24,957 21.00 % 11,974 21.00 % (11,026) 21.00 % 74,071 35.00 %
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting
from:
Plant basis differences 699 0.59 (4,261) (7.47) 1,079 (2.06) 2,213 1.05
Allowance for funds used during construction — — (520) (0.91) (70) 0.13 (291) (0.14)
Amortization of investment tax credits (658) (0.56) (165) (0.29) (703) 1.34 (751) (0.35)
Amortization of excess deferred taxes (18,020) (15.16) (2,431) (4.26) (9,798) 18.66 (196) (0.09)
Cost of removal 5,837 491 (28) (0.05) (1,561) 2.97 (2,944) (1.39)
State income taxes-net of federal benefit 6,440 5.42 2,737 4.80 (2,659) 5.06 9,482 4.48
Re-measurement — — 1,243 2.18 7,031 (13.39) — —
ASU 2016-09 adoption — — — — (3,223) 6.14 — —
Return to provision adjustment (1,666) (1.40) — — (4,669) 8.89 (4,859) (2.30)
Compensation Limitation under 162(m) and
280G 1,032 0.87 — — — — — —
Other items-net 411 0.34 (702) (1.23) (264) 0.50 3,115 1.47
Total income tax expense (benefit) and
effective tax rate $ 19,032 16.01% $ 7,847 13.77% $  (25,863) 49.24% $ 79,840 37.73 %

@As a result of the merger with AltaGas, Washington Gas is subject to two separate short periods and accompanying returns. The first period through July 6, 2018 is subjected to a higher, blended

federal statutory tax rate. Due to the net operating loss for federal tax purposes through September 30, 2018, all the year activity is ultimately taxed at 21%. As such, for presentational purposes, we

applied a 21% rate to the entire fiscal year 2018 activity.

Components of accumulated deferred income tax assets and liabilities

The following table provides the components of accumulated deferred income tax assets (liabilities) for Washington Gas at December 31, 2019 and 2018,

and September 30, 2018.
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Components of Accumulated Deferred Income Tax Assets (Liabilities)

(In thousands) December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Deferred income tax assets:
Pensions $ 16,923 $ 25,629
Uncollectible accounts 4,856 1,680
Inventory overheads 3,504 4,088
Employee compensation and benefits 30,461 40,960
Derivatives 6,522 8,737
Income taxes recoverable through future rates 130,946 96,256
Net operating loss 132,774 84,674
Total assets 325,986 262,024
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Other post-retirement benefits 86,994 63,540
Accelerated depreciation and other plant related items 691,134 636,196
Losses/gains on reacquired debt 499 571
Deferred gas costs 9,831 14,928
Other 3 1,037
Total liabilities 788,461 716,272
Net accumulated deferred income tax assets (liabilities) $ (462,475) $ (454,248)

The Company’s net operating losses generated through December 31, 2019 have expiration dates beginning in 2033. The Company's net operating losses
will be utilized under the settlement of the tax sharing policy with affiliated companies.

Tabular Reconciliation of Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The following table summarizes the change in unrecognized tax benefits during calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31,
2018, and fiscal years of 2018 and 2017, and our total unrecognized tax benefits at the periods under the provisions of ASC Topic 740:

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30,

(In thousands) 2019 2018 2018 2017

Total unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of the periods $ 35,906 $ 43,567 $ 48,009 $ 42,283

Increases resulting from current period tax positions — 2,574 10,947 10,766

Decreases resulting from prior period tax positions (9,447) (10,235) (15,389) (5,040)
Total unrecognized tax benefits at end of the periods $ 26,459 $ 35,906 $ 43567 $ 48,009

During the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, the three months ended December 31, 2018 and the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the
unrecognized tax benefits for Washington Gas decreased by approximately $9.4 million, $7.7 million and $4.4 million, respectively, relating to uncertain tax
positions, primarily due to the change in tax accounting for repairs and closed periods. If the amounts of unrecognized tax benefits are eventually realized, it
would not materially impact the effective tax rate. It is reasonably possible that the amount of the unrecognized tax benefit with respect to some of
Washington Gas’ uncertain tax positions will significantly increase or decrease in the next 12 months, if the IRS were to finalize and issue its proposed
revenue procedure for gas distribution repair deductions.

Amounts of Interest and Penalties Recognized

Washington Gas recognizes any accrued interest associated with uncertain tax positions in interest expense and recognizes any accrued penalties associated
with uncertain tax positions in other expenses in the statements of income. During the calendar
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year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018 and the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, there were no accrued
interest expense or penalties associated with uncertain tax positions.

NOTE 10. PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Washington Gas maintains a qualified, trusteed, non-contributory defined benefit pension plan (qualified pension plan) covering most active and vested
former employees of Washington Gas and certain employees of WGL subsidiaries. The non-contributory defined benefit pension plan is closed to all
employees hired on or after January 1, 2010 and instead employees are eligible to receive supplemental contributions to their defined-contribution savings
plan.

Several executive officers of Washington Gas also participate in a defined benefit supplemental executive retirement plan (DB SERP), a non-qualified
pension plan. The DB SERP was closed to new entrants beginning January 1, 2010 and instead, executive officers are eligible to participate in a defined
contribution SERP (DC SERP). In addition, effective January 1, 2010, Washington Gas established a non-funded defined benefit restoration plan (DB
restoration) for the purpose of providing supplemental pension and pension-related benefits to a select group of management employees. There are rabbi
trusts associated with the DB SERP and DB restoration plans that were funded pursuant to the Merger Agreement. The rabbi trusts can be used to make
payments to the participants or the payments can be made from operating funds. At December 31, 2019, the rabbi trust balance associated with these two
plans were $40.0 million, of which $19.5 million was recorded in “Current Assets-Other” and $20.5 million was recorded in “Deferred Charges and Other
Assets - Other”, along with other rabbi trust balances. Washington Gas accounts for the qualified pension plan, DB SERP and DB restoration plans under the
provisions of ASC Topic 715, Compensation-Retirement Benefits.

Washington Gas offers defined-contribution savings plans to all eligible employees. These plans allow participants to defer on a pre-tax or after-tax basis, a
portion of their salaries for investment in various alternatives. We made matching contributions of $5.2 million, $1.1 million, $5.0 million, and $4.6 million
during the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. All employees not earning benefits in the qualified pension plan receive an employer provided supplemental contribution ranging from 4% to
6% depending on years of service. Total supplemental contributions to the plans were $3.2 million, $0.7 million, $2.7 million, and $2.2 million during the
calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Washington Gas provides certain healthcare and life insurance benefits for retired employees of Washington Gas and certain employees of WGL
subsidiaries. Substantially all employees of Washington Gas may become eligible for such benefits if they attain retirement status while working for
Washington Gas. For eligible retirees and dependents not yet receiving Medicare benefits, Washington Gas provides medical, prescription drug and dental
benefits through the Washington Gas Light Company Retiree Medical Plan (Retiree Medical Plan). For Medicare-eligible retirees age 65 and older, eligible
retirees and dependents participate in a special tax-free Health Reimbursement Account plan (HRA plan) effective January 1, 2015. Participating retirees and
dependents receive an annual subsidy to help purchase supplemental medical, prescription drug and dental coverage in the marketplace as well as additional
reimbursement for catastrophic prescription drug costs. Washington Gas accounts for healthcare and life insurance benefits under the provisions of ASC
Topic 715.

On September 25, 2015, the Retiree Medical Plan was amended to limit the aggregate cost of applicable employer-sponsored coverage, thereby avoiding
the 40% excise tax enacted by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010. The resolution, which was effective September 30, 2015 applies to
plan years beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

Almost all costs associated with Washington Gas’ defined benefit post-retirement plans have historically been, and are expected to be, recovered through
Washington Gas’ rates. Therefore, in accordance with ASC Topic 980 and ASC Topic 715, Washington Gas established a regulatory asset/liability for the
substantial majority of the unrecognized costs/income associated with its defined benefit post-retirement plans. To the extent these amounts will not be
recovered through Washington Gas’ rates, they are recorded directly to “Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of taxes.”

Obligations and Assets

Washington Gas uses a measurement date of December 31 for its pension and retiree health care and life insurance benefits plans upon the changing of
fiscal years in 2018. Previously, Washington Gas used a measurement date of September 30. The following table provides certain information about
Washington Gas’ post-retirement benefits:
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Post-Retirement Benefits

Pension Benefits@ Health and Life Benefits
Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended

December 31, December 31, September 30, December 31, December 31, September 30,
(In millions) 2019 2018 2018 2017 2019 2018 2018 2017
Change in projected benefit
obligation®
Benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 971.8 $ 989.8 $ 1,0475 $ 1,069.3 $ 2779 $ 2833 $ 309.0 $ 324.3
Service cost 12.3 3.0 14.9 16.5 5.0 1.3 563) 5.8
Interest cost 41.2 10.6 39.6 38.4 11.9 3.0 11.7 11.7
Change in plan benefits 0.2 0.2 — — — _ _ 1.1
Actuarial loss (gain) 103.6 (17.3) (65.2) (28.2) (12.3) (6.2) (28.7) (18.9)
Plan participants' contribution — — — — 1.6 0.9 1.9 1.8
Settlements (19.4) — — — — — — —
Benefits paid (50.6) (14.5) (47.0) (48.5) (15.8) (4.4) (15.9) (16.8)
Other 0.8 — — — 0.9 — — —

Projected benefit obligation at end of
period® $ 1,059.9 $ 971.8 $ 989.8 $ 11,0475 $ 269.2 $ 2779 $ 2833 $ 309.0

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of

period $ 807.0 $ 8639 $ 8725 $ 850.0 $ 528.8 $ 569.3 $ 540.5 $ 505.0
Actual return on plan assets 176.7 (42.3) 38.8 68.6 123.4 (32.0) 43.0 48.1
Company contributions 21.5 0.4 1.8 4.4 — 1.3 5.0 8.2
Plan participants' contribution — — — — 1.6 0.9 1.9 1.8
Settlements (19.4) — = = = = = —
Expenses — (0.5) 2.2) (2.0) — (6.3) (5.2) (5.8)
Benefits paid (50.6) (14.5) (47.0) (48.5) (15.8) 4.4) (15.9) (16.8)
Fair value of plan assets at end of
period $ 935.2 $ 807.0 $ 8639 $ 8725 $ 638.0 $ 5288 $ 569.3 $ 540.5
Funded status at end of period (124.7) (164.8) (125.9) (175.0) 368.8 250.9 286.0 231.5
Allocation to affiliates (0.8) (1.6) (1.3) 1.7) 2.3 1.4 1.7 1.2
Adjusted funded status at end of
period $ (123.9) $ (163.2) $ (124.6) $ (173.3) $ 3665 $ 2495 $ 2843 $ 230.3
Total amounts recognized on balance
sheet
Non-current asset $ — $ — $ — 3 — 3 366.5 $ 2495 $ 2843 $ 230.3
Current liability (19.6) (20.2) (20.2) (6.5) — — — —
Non-current liability (104.3) (143.0) (104.4) (166.8) — - == =
Total recognized $ (123.9) $ (163.2) $ (124.6) $ (173.3) $ 366.5 $ 2495 $ 2843 $ 230.3

(@The DB SERP and DB Restoration, included in pension benefits in the table above, does not include the amounts funded in rabbi trust.
®For the Health and Life Benefits, the change in projected benefit obligation represents the accumulated benefit obligation.
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The following table provides the projected benefit obligation (PBO) and accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) for the qualified pension plan, DB SERP and
DB Restoration at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Projected and accumulated benefit obligation

Qualified Pension Plan DB SERP DB Restoration
December 31, December 31, December 31,
(In millions) 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Projected benefit obligation $ 1,002.3 $ 906.2 $ 523 $ 615 $ 54 $ 4.1
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 9432 $ 847.1 $ 523 $ 59.8 $ 48 $ 3.2

Amounts Recognized in Regulatory Assets/Liabilities and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table provides amounts recorded to regulatory assets, regulatory liabilities and accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) at
December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Unrecognized Costs/Income Recorded on the Balance Sheet

Pension Benefits Health and Life Benefits
December 31, December 31,

(In millions) 2019 2018 2019 2018
Actuarial net loss (gain) $ 552 $ 9.1 $ (137.3) $ (26.0)
Prior service cost (credit) 1.0 1.0 (87.0) (102.8)
Total®@ $ 562 $ 97.1 $ (224.3) $ (128.8)
Regulatory asset (liability) $ 394 $ 80.8 $ (199.7) $ (121.1)
Pre-tax accumulated other comprehensive loss (income)® 16.6 15.9 (23.2) (6.9)
Total $ 56.0 $ 96.7 $ (222.9) $ (128.0)

@Pension benefits include amounts allocated to affiliates of $0.2 million and $0.4 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively; Health and Life Benefits includes amounts allocated to
affiliates of $1.4 million and $0.8 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

®)The total amount of accumulated other comprehensive income recorded on our balance sheet at December 31, 2019 is net of an income tax expense of $1.7 million; The total accumulated other
comprehensive loss recorded on our balance sheet at December 31, 2018 is net of an income tax benefit of $2.4 million.

The following table provides amounts that are included in regulatory assets/liabilities and accumulated other comprehensive loss associated with our
unrecognized pension and other post-retirement benefit costs that were recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost before allocations to affiliates
and capital during the calendar year ended December 31, 2019.

Amounts Recognized During the Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2019

Accumulated other

Regulatory assets/liabilities comprehensive income (loss)
Pension Health and Pension Health and
(In millions) Benefits Life Benefits Benefits Life Benefits
Actuarial net loss $ 37  $ — 3 1.6 $ —
Prior service cost (credit) 0.1 (15.0) 0.2 (0.7)
Total $ 38 $ (15.0) $ 1.8 $ 0.7)

The following table provides amounts that are included in regulatory assets/liabilities and accumulated other comprehensive loss associated with our
unrecognized pension and other post-retirement benefit costs that are expected to be recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost before allocations
to affiliates during 2020.
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Amounts to be Recognized During Calendar Year 2020

Accumulated other

Regulatory assets/liabilities comprehensive income (loss)
Pension Health and Pension Health and
(In millions) Benefits Life Benefits Benefits Life Benefits
Actuarial net loss (gain) $ 96 $ 04 $ 49 $ —
Prior service cost (credit) 0.1 (12.2) 0.2 (1.4)
Total $ 9.7 $ (126) $ 51§ (1.4)

Additionally, Washington Gas expects partial settlements of the DB SERP to occur in the first and third quarter of 2020, which will result in estimated
losses of $1.1 million and $2.3 million, respectively.

Realized and unrealized gains and losses for assets under Washington Gas’ post-retirement benefit plans are spread over a period of five years. Each year,
20% of the prior five years’ asset gains and losses are recognized. The market-related value of assets is equal to the market value of assets less the following
percentages of prior years’ realized and unrealized gains and losses on equities: 80% of the prior year, 60% of the second prior year, 40% of the third prior
year and 20% of the fourth prior year.

Net Periodic Benefit Cost

The components of the net periodic benefit costs (income) for calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal
years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 related to pension and other post-retirement benefits were as follows

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs (Income)

Pension Benefits Health and Life Benefits
Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30, December 31, December 31, September 30,
(In millions) 2019 2018 2018 2017 2019 2018 2018 2017
Service cost $ 123 $ 30 $ 149 $ 165 $ 50 $ 1.3 $ 53 $ 58
Interest cost 41.2 10.6 39.6 38.4 11.9 3.0 11.7 11.7
Expected return on plan assets (43.0) (10.9) (42.3) (41.0) (24.49) (6.1) (23.7) (22.1)
Recognized prior service cost (credit) 0.3 0.1 0.3 0.3 (15.8) 4.4 (176) @17.7)
Recognized actuarial loss 5.3 1.4 15.6 22.0 — — — 1.9
Settlement charge 5.5 — — — — — — —
Other adjustments — — — — 0.7 — — —
Net periodic benefit cost (income) 21.6 4.2 28.1 36.2 (22.6) (6.2) (24.3) (20.4)
Allocation to affiliates (1.8) (0.4) “4.2) 2.9) 2.6 0.8 3.1 1.4
Adjusted net periodic benefit cost
(income) 19.8 3.8 23.9 33.3 (20.0) (5.4) (21.2) (19.0)
Amount allocated to construction
projects® (1.9) (0.6) “4.7) (6.4) (0.8) 0.2) 4.0 4.6
Amount deferred as regulatory asset
(liability)-net allocations 0.6 1.5 5.9 6.9 — — — —
Amount charged (credited) to expense $ 185 $ 47 $ 251 $ 338 $ (20.8) $ (5.6) $ (17.2) $ (14.9)

@On October 1, 2018, Washington Gas prospectively adopted ASU 2017-07. As a result, only the service cost component of net periodic benefit costs (income) is eligible for capitalization.

Amounts included in the line item “Amount deferred as regulatory asset/liability-net,” as shown in the table above, represent the amortization of previously
unrecovered costs of the applicable pension benefits or the health and life benefits as approved in the District of Columbia through 2019. The amounts are
fully amortized as of December 31, 2019.
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On October 1, 2018, Washington Gas adopted ASU 2017-07. This standard requires entities to report the service cost component in the same financial
statement line item as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees during the period. The other components of net
benefit cost are to be presented separately from service cost and outside of operating income. Washington Gas includes the other components in "Other
Income (expense)-net" on the Statement of Operations. In addition, only the service cost component of net benefit cost is eligible for capitalization. Changes
to the presentation of service costs and other components of net benefit cost were applied retrospectively. As a result of the retrospective adoption, we
reclassified $11.3 million and $3.9 million, respectively, of net periodic benefit income from "Operation and maintenance" expense to "Other income
(expense)-net" on the statements of operations for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. Changes in capitalization practices were implemented

prospectively.

Assumptions
The weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit obligations and net periodic benefit costs were as follows:

Benefit Obligations Assumptions

Pension Benefits Health and Life Benefits
Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30, December 31, December 31, September 30,
2019 2018 2018 2017 2019 2018 2018 2017
Discount rate(® 3.4%-3.5% 4.3%-4.4% 4.3%-4.4% 3.6%-3.9% 3.5% 4.4% 4.4% 3.9%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0%-3.5% 3.5%-4.1% 3.5%-4.1% 3.5%-4.1% 3.5% 4.1% 4.1% 4.1%

“The decrease in the discount rate in the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 compared to prior years primarily reflects the decrease in long-term interest rates.

Net Periodic Benefit Cost Assumptions

Pension Benefits Health and Life Benefits
Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30, December 31, December 31, September 30,
2019 2018 2018 2017 2019 2018 2018 2017

Discount rate® 4.3%-4.4% 4.3%-4.4% 3.6%-3.9% 3.4%-3.7% 4.4% 4.4% 3.9% 3.7%
Expected long-term return on
plan assets® 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.25% 5.25% 5.50% 5.50%

Rate of compensation
increase®© 3.5% -4.1% 3.5%-4.1% 3.5%-4.1% 3.5%-4.1% 4.1% 4.1% 4.1% 4.1%

(@ The changes in the discount rates over the prior periods primarily reflect the changes in long-term interest rates.
® For health and life benefits, the expected returns for certain funds may be lower due to certain portions of income that are subject to an assumed income tax rate of 42.2%.
(© The changes in the rate of compensation reflects the best estimates of actual future compensation levels including consideration of general price levels, productivity, seniority, promotion, and

other factors such as inflation rates.

Discount Rate

Washington Gas determines the discount rate based on a portfolio of high quality fixed-income investments (AA- as assigned by Standard & Poor’s or Aa3
as assigned by Moody’s or better) whose cash flows would cover our expected benefit payments.

Expected long-term return on plan assets

Washington Gas determines the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets by averaging the expected earnings for the target asset portfolio. In
developing the expected rate of return assumption, Washington Gas evaluates an analysis of historical actual performance and long-term return projections,
which gives consideration to our asset mix and anticipated length of obligation of our plan.

Mortality Assumptions
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Beginning in October 2014, the SOA began publishing annual updates to its mortality tables for U.S. plans, starting with the RP-2014 base mortality table
and the MP-2014 improvement scale. The improvement scale has been updated each year.

In October 2019, the SOA issued an updated base mortality table (the Private Retirement Plans Mortality table for 2012 (Pri-2012)) as well as an updated
improvement scale (MP-2019). The white-collar Pri-2012 mortality table and MP-2019 improvement scale were used to determine the benefit obligation as of
December 31, 2019.

The RP-2014 mortality table and MP-2018 improvement scale were used to determine the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2018. We modified the
MP-2014 improvement scale to (a) adjust the ultimate long-term rate of mortality improvement from to per annum up to age 85 trending down to between age
85 and age 115; and (b) shorten the convergence period from short term to ultimate rates of improvement from the 20-year period to a 15-year period.

Healthcare cost trend

Washington Gas assumed the healthcare cost trend rates related to the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation at December 31, 2019, for non-
Medicare eligible retirees, to be 6.25% for calendar year 2020. Washington Gas expects the trend rate to decrease to 2.0% in calendar year 2021 and remain at
that level thereafter.

Healthcare Trend
One Percentage-Point One Percentage-Point
(In millions) Increase Decrease
Increase (decrease) total service and interest cost components $ 06 $ (0.5)
Increase (decrease) post-retirement benefit obligation $ 58 $ (5.1)

For Medicare eligible retirees age 65 and older that will receive a subsidy each year as a benefit from the HRA plan, Washington Gas assumed no increase
to the annual subsidy in calendar years 2020 - 2024, 4.0% increase in calendar year 2025 and 2% increase in calendar year 2026 and thereafter in order to
approximate possible future increases to the stipend. While the plan terms do not guarantee increases to the stipend, Washington Gas intends to review the
stipend annually.

Investment Policies and Strategies

The investment objective of the qualified pension, healthcare, and life insurance benefit plans (“Plan” or “Plans”) is to allocate each Plan’s assets to
appropriate investment asset classes (asset categories) so that the benefit obligations of each Plan are adequately funded, consistent with each Plan’s and
Washington Gas’ tolerance for risk.

Washington Gas' portion of retired employee healthcare and life insurance benefits obligation is funded through two trusts: (i) the Washington Gas Light
Company Post Retirement Benefit Master Trust for Retired Previously Union-Eligible Employees ("union-eligible trust") and (ii) the Washington Gas Light
Company Post Retirement Benefit Master Trust for Retired Management Employees ("management trust").

In order to best achieve the investment objectives for each Plan, strategic allocation targets and ranges are established that control exposure to selected
investment asset classes. At December 31, 2019, target qualified pension plan trust asset allocations are 32% U.S. Equities, 8% International Equities, 5%
Real Estate and 55% Fixed Income. Target union-eligible trust asset class allocations are 40% U.S. Large-Cap Equities and 60% Fixed Income and target
management trust asset class allocations are 50% U.S. Large-Cap Equities and 50% Fixed Income. Actual asset balances are reviewed monthly and allowed
to range within plus or minus 5% or less of the target allocations. Assets are generally rebalanced to target allocations before actual amounts fall below or rise
above the allowable ranges.

Asset/liability modeling (ALM) is used to test the benefits and risks of several potential strategic asset allocation mixes. Simulated investment performance
results based on assumptions about expected return, volatility, and correlation characteristics of the selected asset classes are tested for their effects on
contributions, pension expense, PBO funded status, and downside Value at Risk metrics over a ten-year planning time horizon. Important outcomes from past
ALM studies include decisions to increase fixed income exposure, lengthen the duration of those fixed income assets and implement a dynamic asset
allocation strategy that allows for de-risking of the qualified pension plan portfolio over time.

Qualified pension plan ALM studies were completed during February 2018 and January 2020. An outcome of the 2018 ALM study was that the target fixed
income allocation percentage will be increased by 10% for each 5% improvement in the qualified pension plan’s funded ratio. The 2020 ALM study indicated
that the current target asset class allocations represent a prudent trade-off between risk and reward. As a result of the 2020 ALM study, no significant
investment strategy changes were adopted.

A management trust ALM study was completed during January 2020. The ALM study did not result in any significant

70



Washington Gas Light Company
Part IT
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data (continued)
Notes to Financial Statements

investment strategy changes.

Union-eligible trust ALM study was finished in January 2020. The outcome of this study was that target asset class allocations were adjusted from 40%
U.S. Large-Cap Equities and 60% Fixed Income to 30% U.S. Large-Cap Equities and 70% Fixed Income starting January 2020.

Significant amounts of each various Plan's assets are managed by the same financial institution. Each Plan has a high exposure to U.S. based investments.
There are no other significant risk concentrations related to investments in any entity, industry, country, commodity, or investment fund.

Commingled funds are employed in the management of qualified pension plan, management trust, and union-eligible trust assets. In addition, a publicly
offered mutual fund and separately managed portfolios are employed in the management of a qualified pension plan trust. The management trust also uses a
separately managed portfolio.

U.S. and international equity assets are diversified across sectors, industries, and investment styles. Fixed income assets are primarily diversified across
U.S. government and investment grade corporate debt instruments, with some exposure to foreign and non-investment-grade securities. Real estate is
diversified geographically across the U.S. by property type.

The qualified pension plan’s investment policy allows the use of futures, options, and other derivatives for purposes of reducing portfolio risk and as a low-
cost option for gaining market exposure, but derivatives may not be used for leverage. The qualified pension plan’s investment policy prohibits investments in
Washington Gas securities. The prohibition applies to separately managed portfolios but does not apply to any commingled fund investments.

The following tables present the fair value of the pension plan assets and health and life insurance plan assets by asset category at December 31, 2019 and
2018.

Pension Plan Assets

% of
(In millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total Total
At December 31, 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 42 $ — 3 4.2 0.4 %
Equity securities
Preferred Securities — 0.2 0.2 —
Fixed income securities
U.S. Treasuries — 145.2 145.2 15.5
U.S. Corporate Debt — 234.8 234.8 25.1
U.S. Agency Obligations and Government Sponsored Entities — 56.7 56.7 6.1
Asset-Backed Securities — 0.8 0.8 0.1
Municipalities — 9.9 9.9 1.1
Non-U.S. Corporate Debt — 45.1 45.1 4.8
Other@ — 6.3 6.3 0.7
Mutual Funds® 48.2 — 48.2 5.2
Derivatives(© — (0.1) (0.1) —
Total investments in the fair value hierarchy $ 524 $ 498.9 $ 551.3 59.0 %
Investments measured at net asset value using the NAV practical expedient(@
Commingled Funds and Pooled Separate Accounts® 358.6 38.3 %
Private Equity/Limited Partnership® 42.8 4.6 %
Total fair value of plan investments 952.7 101.9 %
Net payable @ (17.5) 1.9)
Total plan assets at fair value ® $ 935.2 100.0 %
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Pension Plan Assets

% of
(In millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total Total
At December 31, 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 0.7 $ — 5 0.7 0.1%
Equity securities
Preferred Securities — 1.9 1.9 0.2
Fixed income securities
U.S. Treasuries — 133.2 133.2 16.5
U.S. Corporate Debt — 216.4 216.4 26.8
U.S. Agency Obligations and Government Sponsored Entities — 27.5 27.5 34
Asset-Backed Securities — 0.5 0.5 0.1
Municipalities — 8.3 8.3 1.0
Non-U.S. Corporate Debt — 46.7 46.7 5.8
Other@ — 4.9 4.9 0.6
Mutual Funds® 36.4 — 36.4 4.5
Derivatives(© — 6.8 6.8 0.8
Total investments in the fair value hierarchy $ 37.1 $ 446.2 $ 483.3 59.8 %
Investments measured at net asset value using the NAV practical expedient(@
Commingled Funds and Pooled Separate Accounts® 289.6 35.9 %
Private Equity/Limited Partnership® 35.3 4.4 %
Total fair value of plan investments 808.2 100.1
Net payable(® 1.2) (0.1)%
Total plan assets at fair value @ $ 807.0 100.0 %

@ This category primarily includes non-U.S. government bonds as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
® At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the investment in a mutual fund consisted primarily of common stock of non-U.S. based companies.

(©At December 31, 2019 and 2018, this category included a combination of long-term U.S. Treasury interest rate future contracts, currency forwards, currency option interest rate swaps, and put

and call options on both interest rate swaps and credit default swap index products.

@ In accordance with ASC Topic 820, these investments are measured at fair value using NAV per share as a practical expedient and, therefore, have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliations of the fair value hierarchy to the statements of net assets available for plan benefits.

© At December 31, 2019, investments in commingled funds and a pooled separate account consisted of approximately 90% common stock U.S companies; 8% income producing properties located
in the United States; and 2% short-term money market investments. At December 31, 2018 investments in commingled funds and a pooled separate account consisted of approximately 89%

common stock U.S companies; 9% income producing properties located in the United States; and 1% short-term money market investments.
(DAt December 31, 2019 and 2018, investments in a private equity/limited partnership consisted of common stock of international companies.
@ Net payable primarily represents pending trades for investments purchased net of pending trades for investments sold and interest receivable.

) This table does not include rabbi trust investments located in "Current Assets-Other" and "Deferred Charges and Other Assets-Other" on our balance sheets. Refer to Note 15 — Fair Value

Measurements for fair value of rabbi trust investments.

72



Washington Gas Light Company
Part IT
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data (continued)
Notes to Financial Statements

Healthcare and Life Insurance Plan Assets

% of
(In millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total Total
At December 31, 2019
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 34 $ — 3 3.4 0.5%
Fixed Income Securities
U.S Agency Obligations — 2.2 2.2 0.3
U.S. Treasuries — 55.5 55.5 8.7
U.S. Corporate Debt — 56.3 56.3 8.8
Municipalities — 5.9 5.9 0.9
Non-U.S. Corporate Debt — 11 1.1 1.7
Other(@ — 2.9 2.9 0.6
Total investments in the fair value hierarchy
$ 34 $ 1339 $ 137.3 21.5%
Investments measured at net asset value using the NAV practical expedient®
Commingled Funds(® 499.6 78.3%
Total fair value of plan investments 636.9 99.8%
Net receivable(@ 1.1 0.2
Total plan assets at fair value $ 638.0 100.0%
Healthcare and Life Insurance Plan Assets
% of
(In millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total Total
At December 31, 2018
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 32 % — 3 3.2 0.6%
Fixed Income Securities
U.S Agency Obligations — 1.9 1.9 0.4
U.S. Treasuries — 51.2 51.2 9.7
U.S. Corporate Debt — 51.6 51.6 9.8
Municipalities — 4.5 4.5 0.8
Non-U.S. Corporate Debt — 8.5 8.5 1.6
Other(@ — 3.3 3.3 0.6
Total investments in the fair value hierarchy
$ 32 % 121.0 $ 124.2 23.5%
Investments measured at net asset value using the NAV practical expedient®
Commingled Funds(® 403.3 76.3%
Total fair value of plan investments 527.5 99.8%
Net receivable(@ 1.3 0.2
Total plan assets at fair value $ 528.8 100.0%

@At December 31, 2019 and 2018, this category consisted primarily of non-U.S. government bonds.

®In accordance with ASC Topic 820, these investments are measured at fair value using Net Asset Value (NAV) per share as a practical expedient and, therefore, have not been classified in the fair
value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliations of the fair value hierarchy to the statements of net assets available for plan benefits.

(©At December 31, 2019, investments held by commingled funds in which the plan invests consisted of 58% of common stock of large-cap U.S. companies, 18% of US Govt fixed income securities
and 24% corporate bonds. At December 31, 2018, investments held by commingled funds in which the plan invests consisted primarily of 54% of common stock of large-cap U.S. companies, 20%
of U.S. Government fixed income securities and 26% of corporate bonds.

@Net receivable primarily represents pending trades for investments sold and interest receivable net of pending trades for investments purchased.

Valuation Methods
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Equity securities are traded on a securities exchange and are valued at the closing quoted market price as of the balance sheet date.

Mutual funds, commingled funds, pooled separate accounts and private equity/limited partnerships are valued at the quoted net asset value (NAV) per
share, which is computed as of the close of business on the balance sheet date. Mutual funds with a publicly quoted NAV per share are classified as Level 1.
The remaining asset types are not classified in the fair value hierarchy.

Fixed income securities are valued using pricing models that consider various observable inputs such as benchmark yields, reported trades, broker quotes
and issuer spreads to determine fair value.

Benefit Contribution

For the qualified pension plan, Washington Gas’ funding policy is to contribute an amount sufficient to satisfy the minimum annual funding requirements
under the Pension Protection Act. Any contributions above the minimum annual funding requirements would be limited to amounts that are deductible under
appropriate tax law. For the healthcare and life insurance benefit plans, Washington Gas’ funding policy is to contribute amounts that are collected from
ratepayers.

During the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, Washington Gas did not contribute to its qualified pension but did contribute $21.5 million to its DB
SERP plan. During calendar year 2020, Washington Gas does not expect to make a contribution to its qualified pension plan and expects to contribute $19.6
million to its DB SERP, which is expected to be funded by the rabbi trust. During calendar year 2019, Washington Gas did not make contributions for its
health and life insurance benefit plans. Washington Gas does not expect to make a contribution to its health and life insurance benefit plans during calendar
year 2020.

Expected Benefit Payments

Expected benefit payments, including benefits attributable to estimated future employee service, which are expected to be paid over the next ten calendar
years are as follows:

Expected Benefit Payments

Pension Health and

(In millions) Benefits Life Benefits

2020 $ 68.6 $ 16.1
2021 52.7 15.1
2022 58.1 14.9
2023 55.2 14.7
2024 56.1 14.4
2025—2029 290.0 72.9

Regulatory Matters

A significant portion of the estimated pension and post-retirement medical and life insurance benefits apply to our regulated activities. Each regulatory
commission having jurisdiction over Washington Gas requires it to fund amounts reflected in rates for post-retirement medical and life insurance benefits into
irrevocable trusts.

District of Columbia Jurisdiction

The PSC of DC has approved a level of rates sufficient to recover annual costs associated with the qualified pension and other post-retirement benefits.
Expenses of the SERP allocable to the District of Columbia are not recovered through rates. On March 3, 2017, the Commission issued an order that
continued the amortization for prior unrecovered pension and other post-retirement benefits through 2019.

Maryland Jurisdiction

In Washington Gas’ most recent rate case that was finalized in December 2018, the PSC of MD denied recovery through rates of the expenses of the SERP,
resulting in a reclassification of $2.9 million from "Regulatory assets" to "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" on the balance sheet. Prior to December
2018, the PSC of MD approved 50% recovery through rates of the SERP expenses. The PSC of MD has approved a level of rates sufficient to recover pension
and other post-retirement benefit costs as determined under GAAP.

Virginia Jurisdiction
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On September 28, 1995, the SCC of VA issued a generic order that allowed Washington Gas to recover most costs determined under GAAP for post-
retirement medical and life insurance benefits in rates over twenty years. The SCC of VA, however, set a forty-year recovery period of the transition
obligation. As prescribed by GAAP, Washington Gas amortizes these costs over a twenty-year period. With the exception of the transition obligation, the SCC
of VA has approved a level of rates sufficient to recover annual costs for all pension and other post-retirement medical and life insurance benefit costs
determined under GAAP.

NOTE 11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock-Based Compensation for Key Employees

We have stock-based awards outstanding in the form of performance units, restricted units and stock options. In December 2019, Washington Gas adopted a
new Long-Term Incentive Plan which will be used for future grants. In addition, certain executives of Washington Gas may be awarded stock options under
the AltaGas Share Option Plan.

Prior awards were granted under the WGL shareholder-approved Omnibus Plan, which included grants made in shares of WGL stock. Effective upon the
Merger with AltaGas, WGL no longer has common stock outstanding and no new awards will be issued in WGL stock.

Description of Current Awards

Washington Gas has stock-based awards outstanding in the form of ALA performance units, performance units and restricted units. ALA performance units
and performance units have a three-year vesting period, are settled in cash and are accounted for as liability awards. Restricted units have annual vesting over
the three-year period, are settled in cash and are accounted for as deferred compensation under ASC 710.

ALA Performance Units

ALA performance units earned pursuant to terms of the grant are paid in cash and are valued at an average ALA stock price per performance unit at
vesting.

The ALA performance units vest from zero to 200 percent of the target award based on AltaGas' total shareholder return relative to a selected peer group of
companies, which is a market condition under ASC Topic 718 and AltaGas' three-year adjusted funds from operation compounded growth per share during
the performance period, which is a performance condition under ASC Topic 718.

The ALA performance units are accounted for as liability awards under ASC 718 as they only settle in cash; therefore, we measure and record
compensation expense for these awards based on their fair value at the end of each period until their vesting date. The percentage of the fair value that is
accrued as compensation expense at the end of each period equals the percentage of the requisite service that has been rendered at that date. Consequently,
fluctuations in earnings may result.

Performance Units
Performance units earned pursuant to terms of the grant are paid in cash and are valued at $1.00 per performance unit.

A portion of the performance units vest from zero to 200 percent of the target award based on our return on equity ratio achieved during the performance
period, which is a performance condition under ASC Topic 718 (ROE Award). The resulting payout is also adjusted from 80 to 120 percent by a modifier
based on AltaGas' total shareholder return relative to a selected peer group of companies (TSR Modifier), which is a market condition under ASC Topic 718.

A portion of the performance units vest from zero to 200 percent of the target award based on our three-year adjusted funds from operation compounded
growth during the performance period, which is a performance condition under ASC Topic 718 (AFFO Award). The resulting payout is also adjusted by a
TSR Modifier.

Our performance units are accounted for as liability awards under ASC 718 as they only settle in cash; therefore, we measure and record compensation
expense for these awards based on their fair value at the end of each period until their vesting date. The percentage of the fair value that is accrued as
compensation expense at the end of each period equals the percentage of the requisite service that has been rendered at that date. Consequently, fluctuations in
earnings may result.

Restricted Units

Restricted units earned pursuant to terms of the grant are paid in cash at the end of each year and are valued at $1.00 per restricted unit.
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One third of the restricted units vest at the end of each year in the three-year period if AltaGas pays a dividend during that period.

Our restricted units are accounted for under ASC 710 as they only settle in cash and do not have a market condition; therefore, we measure and record
compensation expense for these awards based on the probable payment at the end of each period. The percentage of the probable payment that is accrued as
compensation expense at the end of each period equals the percentage of the requisite service that has been rendered at that date.

The following tables summarize information regarding performance unit and restricted unit activity during the calendar year ended December 31, 2019.

Current Award Activity
Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2019
Number of ALA Number of Number of
Performance Units  Performance Units Restricted Units
Non-vested and outstanding, beginning of the year — 5,934,828 2,253,585
Granted 27,707 — —
Settled — — —
Vested — — (620,382)
Canceled/forfeited — (2,376,117) (692,789)
Non-vested and outstanding, end of year 27,707 3,558,711 940,414

For the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, we recognized $1.6 million compensation expense related to the performance units and restricted units. As
of December 31, 2019, total unrecognized compensation expense related to the performance unit and restricted unit awards is $1.9 million, which will be
recognized over a period of 1.75 years. As of December 31, 2019, we recorded a deferred liability of $1.8 million related to the grants in “Deferred Credits-
other” and a current liability of $0.2 million in "Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities-other". As of December 31, 2019, total unrecognized
compensation expense related to the ALA performance unit award is $0.5 million.

For the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, we paid $0.6 million in cash to settle restricted unit awards.

Stock Options

At December 16, 2019, 143,561 stock options were granted. One third of the options vest at the end of each year in the three-year vesting period, and expire
after six years. The option strike price was $18.78 Canadian Dollars.

Description of Prior Awards

Prior to the Merger with AltaGas, Washington Gas had stock-based awards outstanding in the form of performance shares and performance units. All stock-
based awards outstanding had a three-year vesting period. Performance shares were accounted for as equity awards, and performance units were accounted
for as liability awards as they were settled in cash. Both awards were subject to certain market or performance conditions and provided for accelerated vesting
upon a change in control of WGL under certain circumstances. Upon the Merger with AltaGas, the awards granted in fiscal years 2017 and 2016 were
accelerated and became fully vested. The awards granted in fiscal year 2018 were converted to a fixed cash amount and still require vesting over the three-
year period. See the "Modification Event" section below for a more detailed discussion of the impact.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, we recognized $15.8 million compensation expense, of which $7.7 million related to the modification event
described below. A $4.9 million income tax benefit was related to the compensation expense.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, we recognized stock-based compensation expense of $12.2 million and related income tax benefits of $6.1
million.

Performance Shares

For performance shares granted in fiscal years 2017 and 2016, half of the performance shares vested from zero to 200 percent of the target award based on
WGL's total shareholder return relative to a selected peer group of companies (TSR Award). The
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remaining half of the performance shares granted vested if our non-GAAP operating earnings per share on a diluted basis exceed dividends paid per share of
common stock during the performance period (Dividend Coverage Award).

For performance shares granted in fiscal year 2018, half of the performance shares were ROE Awards. The remaining half of the performance shares
granted in fiscal year 2018 were Dividend Coverage Awards.

The total intrinsic value of performance shares vested during the year ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $16.7 million and $9.9 million, respectively.

Performance Units
Performance units earned pursuant to terms of the grant were paid in cash and valued at $1.00 per performance unit.

For performance units granted in fiscal years 2017 and 2016, half of the performance units were TSR Awards and half were ROE Awards. All the
performance units granted in fiscal year 2018 were ROE Awards.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, we paid $6.7 million in cash to settle performance unit awards. During the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2018, we paid an additional $8.5 million in cash to settle performance unit awards that vested before the Merger.

Modification Event

Upon the Merger with AltaGas, the vesting for the stock-based awards granted in fiscal years 2017 and 2016 was accelerated and the awards were paid in
cash, with no additional service required. All performance shares were converted into cash at a value of $88.25 per share. All performance units remained at a
value of $1.00 per unit. The TSR Awards were paid at the greater of actual total shareholder return performance or the target award value. The ROE Awards
and Dividend Coverage Awards were paid at the target award value. Any dividend equivalents for the performance share awards were also paid in cash.
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, we paid $30.0 million in cash to settle the fiscal year 2017 and 2016 awards that were accelerated.

The stock-based awards granted in fiscal year 2018 were converted to a fixed cash amount at the target award level, and still require vesting in accordance
with the original three-year period, except for certain employees who may have a change in control event and accelerate vesting. All performance shares were
converted into cash at a value of $88.25 per share. All performance units remained at a value of $1.00 per unit. These awards are accounted for under ASC
Topic 710 for the remaining service period.

For the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 and the three months ended December 31, 2018, we recognized compensation expense of $2.0 million and
$1.0 million, respectively, for the fiscal year 2018 grant. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to these
awards was $0.7 million and $2.7 million, respectively, which will be recognized ratably through September 30, 2020, adjusted for forfeitures or accelerated
vesting as a result of a change in control event. At December 31, 2018, we recorded a deferred liability of $3.7 million related to the grant in “Deferred
Credits-other” and a current liability of $2.9 million in "Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities-other". At December 31, 2019, there was no deferred
liability related to the grant, and a current liability of $4.3 million "Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities-other".

Stock Grants to Directors

Prior to the Merger with AltaGas, non-employee directors received a portion of their annual retainer fee in the form of WGL common stock through the
Directors’ Stock Compensation Plan. Up to 270,000 shares of common stock were available under the plan. Shares granted to directors were approximately
9,000 and 10,000 for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. For those years, the weighted average fair value of the stock on the
grant dates was $85.84 and $76.28, respectively. Shares awarded to the participants; (i) vest immediately and cannot be forfeited; (ii) may be sold or
transferred (subject to WGL's stock ownership guidelines) and (iii) have voting and dividend rights. For each of the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, WGL recognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock grants of $0.8 million. No new common stock awards will be granted to
directors.

NOTE 12. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
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We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations related to environmental matters. These laws and regulations may require expenditures over a
long time frame to control environmental effects. Almost all of the environmental liabilities we have recorded are for costs expected to be incurred to
remediate sites where we or a predecessor affiliate operated manufactured gas plants (MGPs). Estimates of liabilities for environmental response costs are
difficult to determine with precision because of the various factors that can affect their ultimate level. These factors include, but are not limited to, the
following:

. the complexity of the site;

. changes in environmental laws and regulations at the federal, state and local levels;

. the number of regulatory agencies or other parties involved;

. new technology that renders previous technology obsolete or experience with existing technology that proves ineffective;

. the level of remediation required; and

. variations between the estimated and actual period of time that must be dedicated to respond to an environmentally-contaminated site.

Washington Gas has identified up to ten sites where it or its predecessors may have operated MGPs. Washington Gas last used any such plant in 1984. In
connection with these operations, we are aware that coal tar and certain other by-products of the gas manufacturing process are present at or near some former
sites and may be present at others.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Washington Gas reported a liability of $10.7 million and $11.3 million, respectively, on an undiscounted basis related to
future environmental response costs. These estimates principally include the minimum liabilities associated with a range of environmental response costs
expected to be incurred. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Washington Gas estimated the maximum liability associated with all of its sites to be approximately
$30.7 million and $29.4 million, respectively. The estimates were determined by Washington Gas’ environmental experts, based on experience in remediating
MGRP sites and advice from legal counsel and environmental consultants. The variation between the recorded and estimated maximum liability primarily
results from differences in the number of years that will be required to perform environmental response processes and the extent of remediation that may be
required.

Washington Gas is currently remediating its East Station property, located adjacent to the Anacostia River in Washington D.C., including ground water
pump and treat, tar recovery, soil encapsulation and other treatment. Under a 2012 consent decree with the District of Columbia and the federal government,
Washington Gas is also conducting a remedial investigation and feasibility study on an adjacent property owned by the District of Columbia. Additional
remediation may be required at this property.

In addition, at another adjoining property known as the “Boat Club Property,” located to the east of the property owned by the District of Columbia,
Washington Gas agreed to perform a site investigation and report the findings pursuant to oversight by the District of Columbia Department of Energy and
Environment (DOEE). This property was subject to a July 12, 2019, Administrative Order from the DOEE. This Administrative Order has been withdrawn
and a consent order is being negotiated.

Washington Gas received a letter in February 2016 from the DOEE and National Park Service regarding the Anacostia River Sediment Project, indicating
that the District of Columbia is conducting a separate remedial investigation and feasibility study of the river to determine if and what cleanup measures may
be required and to prepare a natural resource damage assessment. On December 27, 2019, DOEE issued an Anacostia River Sediment Project Proposed Plan,
a River-wide Feasibility Study, and supporting documents for public comment. Although the Proposed Plan identifies East Station as one of fifteen potential
environmental cleanup sites, DOEE is proposing to continue the remediation of East Station under Washington Gas’ existing Consent Decree rather than as
part of the Anacostia River Sediment Project. DOEE is proposing to issue an Interim Record of Decision for remediation of “Early Action Areas” (that do not
include East Station) in the Anacostia River by September 30, 2020. We are not able to estimate the total amount of potential costs or timing associated with
the District of Columbia’s environmental investigation on the Anacostia River at this time. While an allocation method has not been established, Washington
Gas has accrued an amount for estimated study costs based on a potential range of estimates.

Regulatory orders issued by the PSC of MD allow Washington Gas to recover the costs associated with the sites applicable to Maryland over the period
ending in 2025. Regulatory orders issued by the PSC of DC allow Washington Gas a three-year recovery of prudently incurred environmental response costs
and allow Washington Gas to defer additional costs incurred between rate cases. Regulatory orders from the SCC of VA have generally allowed the recovery
of prudent environmental remediation costs to the extent they were included in the underlying financial data supporting an application for rate change.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Washington Gas reported a regulatory asset of $7.0 million and $5.8 million, respectively, for the portion of
environmental response costs that are expected to be recoverable in future rates.
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NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments
Natural Gas Contracts—Minimum Commitments

At December 31, 2019, Washington Gas had service agreements with four pipeline companies that provide direct service for firm transportation and/or
storage services. These agreements, which have expiration dates ranging from calendar years 2020 to 2044, require Washington Gas to pay fixed charges each
month. Additionally, Washington Gas had agreements for other pipeline and peaking services with expiration dates ranging from 2021 to 2028. These
agreements were entered into based on current estimates of growth of the Washington Gas system, together with other factors, such as current expectations of
the timing and extent of unbundling initiatives in the Washington Gas service territory. In addition, Washington Gas has agreements for minimum contractual
payments to purchase natural gas at prices based on market conditions with expiration dates ranging from 2020 to 2033.

The following table summarizes the minimum contractual payments that Washington Gas will make under its pipeline transportation, storage and peaking
contracts, as well as minimum contractual payments to purchase natural gas during the next five calendar years and thereafter.

Washington Gas Contract Minimums

Pipeline Gas Purchase

(In millions) Contracts Commitments@

2020 $ 272.7  $ 3144
2021 259.5 356.6
2022 254.4 340.6
2023 245.2 317.9
2024 212.8 321.0
Thereafter 791.4 1,969.8
Total $ 2,036.0 $ 3,620.3

@ Includes known and reasonably likely commitments to purchase natural gas. Cost estimates are based on forward market prices at December 31, 2019.

When a customer selects a third-party marketer to provide supply, Washington Gas generally assigns pipeline and storage capacity to unregulated third-
party marketers to deliver gas to Washington Gas’ city gate. In order to provide the gas commodity to customers who do not select an unregulated third-party
marketer, Washington Gas has a commodity acquisition plan to acquire the natural gas supply to serve the customers.

To the extent these commitments are to serve its customers, Washington Gas has rate provisions in each of its jurisdictions that would allow it to continue to
recover these commitments in rates. Washington Gas also actively manages its supply portfolio to ensure its sales and supply obligations remain balanced.
This reduces the likelihood that the contracted supply commitments would exceed supply obligations. However, to the extent Washington Gas were to
determine that changes in regulation would cause it to discontinue recovery of these costs in rates, Washington Gas would be required to charge these costs to
expense without any corresponding revenue recovery. If this occurred, depending upon the timing of the occurrence, the related impact on our financial
position, results of operations and cash flows would likely be significant.

Merger Commitments

In connection with the Merger, Washington Gas and AltaGas have made commitments related to the terms of the PSC of DC settlement agreement and the
conditions of approval from the PSC of MD and the SCC of VA. Among other things, these commitments included rate credits distributable to both
residential and non-residential customers, gas expansion and other programs, various public interest commitments, and safety programs. As of December 31,
2019, the cumulative amount of merger commitments expensed was $136.6 million, of which, $17.0 million has not been paid. In addition, there are certain
additional regulatory commitments that were and will be expensed as the costs are incurred, including the hiring of damage prevention trainers in each
jurisdiction for a total of $2.4 million over 5 years; investing up to $70.0 million over a 10-year period to further extend natural gas service; and spending
$8.0 million for leak mitigation within 3 years after the Merger close. Additionally, there are a number of operational commitments that will have an impact
on the ongoing business of Washington Gas, including reductions of leak backlogs, conducting a root cause analysis related to customer service, increasing
supplier
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diversity, achieving synergy savings benefits, developing protocols for moving meters from inside to outside customers’ premises, as well as reporting and
tracking related to all the commitments.

The following table presents the future payments of merger commitments by calendar years

Merger Commitments Payments
(In millions) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total
Merger commitments $ 63 $ 29 % 1.5  $ 1.5  $ 1.5  $ 33 § 17.0

Financial Guarantees

At December 31, 2019, there were no guarantees to external parties.

Contingencies

We account for contingent liabilities utilizing ASC Topic 450, Contingencies. By their nature, the amount of the contingency and the timing of a contingent
event and any resulting accounting recognition are subject to our judgment of such events and our estimates of the amounts. Actual results related to
contingencies may be difficult to predict and could differ significantly from the estimates included in reported earnings.

Silver Spring, Maryland Incident

On April 23, 2019, the National Transportation and Safety Board (NTSB) held a hearing during which it found, among other things, that the probable cause
of the August 10, 2016, explosion and fire at an apartment complex on Arliss Street in Silver Spring, Maryland “was the failure of an indoor mercury service
regulator with an unconnected vent line that allowed natural gas into the meter room where it accumulated and ignited from an unknown ignition source.
Contributing to the accident was the location of the mercury service regulators where leak detection by odor was not readily available.” Washington Gas
disagrees with the NTSB’s probable cause findings. Following this hearing, on June 10, 2019, the NTSB issued an accident report.

In connection with the incident, a total of 37 civil actions related to the incident were filed against WGL and Washington Gas in the Circuit Court for
Montgomery County, Maryland. All of these suits sought unspecified damages for personal injury and/or property damage.

All personal injury and property damage claims asserted by residents at the Flower Branch Apartments have been settled and paid. The Company has been
reimbursed by its insurers for the amounts paid in the settlements.

Also, in connection with the incident, on September 5, 2019, the PSC of MD ordered the Company, within 30 days, to (i) provide a detailed response to the
NTSB’s probable cause findings and (ii) provide evidence regarding the status of a 2003 mercury regulator replacement program and, if the program was not
completed, to show cause why the PSC of MD should not impose a civil penalty on the Company. See further discussion below in Regulatory Contingencies.

Antero Contract

In June 2019, a jury trial was held in the County Court for Denver, Colorado to consider a contractual dispute relating to gas pricing between Washington
Gas and WGL Midstream (together, the Companies) and Antero Resources Corporation (Antero). Following the trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of
Antero for $95.9 million, of which $11.2 million was against Washington Gas, and $84.7 million against WGL Midstream. Following the official entry of the
judgment, the Company filed an appeal on August 16, 2019.

As aresult of this verdict, it was determined that a loss contingency is probable and Washington Gas has recorded an estimated liability of $11.2 million in
“Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” on the balance sheet at December 31, 2019, of which $2.6 million had already been recorded in a prior period.
Washington Gas has also recorded a receivable from our trading partner of $1.3 million in “Deferred charges and other assets-Other”, and sharing with
customers as the contract relates to asset optimization of $4.7 million in “Regulatory assets - Gas costs”. In addition, Washington Gas has recorded an accrual
for estimated court fees of $0.1 million, and an accrual of interest expense of $0.3 million associated with the liability.

For the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, the net pre-tax loss recorded as a result of the verdict was approximately $3.0 million in “Utility cost of
gas” on Washington Gas’ statements of operations.
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Regulatory Contingencies

Certain legal and administrative proceedings incidental to our business, including regulatory contingencies, involve Washington Gas. In our opinion, we
have recorded an adequate provision for probable losses or refunds to customers for regulatory contingencies related to these proceedings.

Application for Approval of Reduction of Distribution Rates

On January 12, 2018, Washington Gas filed applications to reduce customer rates in Maryland, Virginia, and the District of Columbia to reflect the impact
of the Tax Act, including both the impact of the re-measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities and reduction of the federal tax rate to 21%. Washington
Gas began tracking the impact of the Tax Act on revenue requirements beginning January 1, 2018, recording all impacts to regulatory assets and liabilities. In
Maryland and the District of Columbia, rates have been adjusted for the impact of the Tax Act. In Virginia, the SCC of VA dismissed the application on
March 15, 2018. Washington Gas filed a new general rate case on July 31, 2018 incorporating the effects of the Tax Act.

Virginia Jurisdiction

Virginia Rate Case - 2018. On July 31, 2018, Washington Gas filed an application with the SCC of VA to increase its base rates for natural gas service by
$37.6 million, which includes $14.7 million of revenue associated with natural gas pipeline replacement initiatives previously approved by the SCC of VA
and paid by customers through a monthly rider. Additionally, the requested revenue increase incorporated the effects of The Tax Act. Interim rates became
effective, subject to refund, for usage in the January 2019 billing cycle. On September 16, 2019, the HE issued a report that made certain recommendations, to
which the Company responded on October 21, 2019. Thereafter, on December 20, 2019, the SCC of VA issued a Final Order that accepted some of the HE’s
findings and either rejected or made adjustments to others. The Final order included approval of (i) an increase in base rates of $13.2 million to reflect the
transfer of $101.9 million of SAVE investment from the SAVE Rider to rate base (no additional revenue increase); and (ii) amortization of unprotected plant-
related and non-plant-related excess deferred income tax over 8 years.

For the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, Washington Gas made the following pre-tax adjustments based on the HE’s recommendations and
Commission's Final Order: (i) reduced “Operating revenues” by $7.9 million to accrue additional amounts of liability subject to refund; (ii) reduced
“Operating revenues” by $9.0 million associated with the revised amortization of the Tax Act liability; and (iii) wrote off $2.0 million in “Regulatory Assets -
Other” and charged to “Operation and maintenance” expense. Additionally, the Company reduced income tax expense by $8.5 million related to the
amortization of excess deferred income tax, and recorded $5.5 million after-tax impairment of a tax regulatory asset related to flow through income taxes. The
total impact from the adjustments for the calendar year 2019 was a $18.9 million reduction in "Income before income taxes" and a $10.9 million reduction in
"Net Income" on Washington Gas' statements of operations.

On January 9, 2020, Washington Gas filed a petition for reconsideration regarding the Commission’s decision to disallow recovery through base rates of the
$7.1 million regulatory asset related to previously flowed through income taxes. On January 30, 2020, the Commission issued its Order on Reconsideration
denying the Company’s petition, and directing the Company to issue rate refunds, as well as to begin return of regulatory liabilities over a twelve-month
period, within 90 days of the date of the Order on Reconsideration.

Maryland Jurisdiction

Maryland Show-Cause Order. Following the NTSB hearing that examined the August 10, 2016, explosion and fire at an apartment complex in Silver
Spring, Maryland, on September 5, 2019, the PSC of MD ordered the Company, within 30 days, to (i) provide a detailed response to the NTSB’s probable
cause findings, and (ii) provide evidence regarding the status of a 2003 mercury regulator replacement program, and if the program was not completed, to
show cause why the Commission should not impose a civil penalty on the Company. On September 16, 2019, the PSC of MD granted the Company a 14-day
extension to file its Response to the Show-Cause Order. On October 18, 2019, the Company filed its Response to the Show-Cause Order, (i) providing a
detailed response to the NTSB’s probable cause findings and (ii) providing evidence regarding the status of a 2003 mercury regulator replacement program
and why the Commission should not impose a civil penalty on the Company.

On November 18, 2019 the Technical Staff of the PSC of MD, OPC, Montgomery County, MD and AOBA filed written comments on the Company’s
Response to the Show-Cause Order. Technical Staff commented that the PSC of MD may impose a civil penalty but did not expressly recommend same.
Montgomery County, MD, OPC and AOBA requested that the PSC of MD impose a civil penalty on the Company.
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On December 17, 2019 the PSC of MD held a public hearing near the apartment complex at Arliss Street, at which some residents requested that the
Company accelerate and complete its mercury service regulator program and that the Company absorb the cost of same.

The Company intends to file comments with the PSC of MD responding to all written comments and resident testimony. Management believes that the
likelihood of a civil penalty is probable and has accrued $330,000 to reflect the minimum liability expected to result from the proceeding. Though the
Company is unable to estimate the maximum possible penalty, other parties recommended penalties ranging from $32.0 million (AOBA argued the Company
should absorb all costs of removal and relocation of mercury service regulators) to $123.3 million (OPC argued the Company should absorb all costs of
removal and relocation of mercury service regulators and pay a fine of $25,000 per day for each day mercury service regulators remain on the Company’s
system).

NOTE 14. DERIVATIVES

Derivative Instruments

Washington Gas enters into contracts that qualify as derivative instruments and are accounted for under ASC Topic 815. These derivative instruments are
recorded at fair value on our balance sheets and Washington Gas does not currently designate any derivatives as hedges under ASC Topic 815. Washington
Gas’ derivative instruments relate to: (i) Washington Gas’ asset optimization program; (ii) managing price risk associated with the purchase of gas to serve
utility customers and (iii) managing interest rate risk.

Asset Optimization. Washington Gas optimizes the value of its long-term natural gas transportation and storage capacity resources during periods when
these resources are not being used to physically serve utility customers. Specifically, Washington Gas utilizes its transportation capacity assets to benefit from
favorable natural gas prices between different geographic locations and utilizes its storage capacity assets to benefit from favorable natural gas prices between
different time periods. As part of this asset optimization program, Washington Gas enters into physical and financial derivative transactions in the form of
forward, futures and option contracts with the primary objective of securing operating margins that Washington Gas will ultimately realize. The derivative
transactions entered into under this program are subject to mark-to-market accounting treatment under ASC Topic 820.

Regulatory sharing mechanisms provide for the annual realized profit from these transactions to be shared between Washington Gas’ shareholders and
customers; therefore, changes in fair value are recorded through earnings, or as regulatory assets or liabilities to the extent that it is probable that realized
gains and losses associated with these derivative transactions will be included in the rates charged to customers when they are realized. Unrealized gains and
losses recorded to earnings may cause significant period-to-period volatility; this volatility does not change the operating margins that Washington Gas
expects to ultimately realize from these transactions through the use of its storage and transportation capacity resources.

Washington Gas has a collaborative arrangement with a third party to facilitate the asset optimization program. The collaborative arrangement allocates a
tiered percentage of profits or losses to the third party as compensation for its participation. The costs recorded by Washington Gas related to the collaborative
arrangement totaled $6.0 million, $2.1 million, $9.5 million and $13.0 million for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December
31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. These amounts were recorded in “Utility cost of gas” on Washington Gas’
statements of operations. Either party may terminate the collaborative arrangement through the delivery of a termination notice. In such an event, Washington
Gas may make a payment upon termination.

All physically and financially settled contracts under our asset optimization program are reported on a net basis in the statements of operations in “Utility
cost of gas”. Total net margins recorded to “Utility cost of gas” after sharing and management fees associated with all asset optimization transactions for the
calendar year ended December 31, 2019 was a net gain of $18.5 million including an unrealized gain of $5.4 million and $3.0 million loss related to Antero
contract. During the three months ended December 31, 2018, we recorded a net gain of $1.1 million including an unrealized loss of $4.2 million. During the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, we recorded a net gain of $34.3 million including an unrealized gain of $10.4 million. During the fiscal year ended
September 31, 2017, we recorded a net gain of $82.9 million including an unrealized gain of $49.3 million.

Managing Price Risk. To manage price risk associated with acquiring natural gas supply for utility customers, Washington Gas enters into physical and
financial derivative transactions in the form of forward, option and other contracts, as authorized by its regulators. Any gains and losses associated with these
derivatives are recorded as regulatory liabilities or assets, respectively, to reflect the rate treatment for these economic hedging activities.
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Managing Interest-Rate Risk. Washington Gas may utilize derivative instruments that are designed to minimize the risk of interest-rate volatility
associated with planned issuances of debt securities. Any gains and losses associated with these types of derivatives are recorded as regulatory liabilities or
assets, respectively, and amortized in accordance with regulatory requirements, typically over the life of the related debt. At December 31, 2019 and 2018,
Washington Gas does not have any interest rate swaps in derivatives.

Operations

The following table presents the balance sheet classification for all derivative instruments at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Absolute Notional Amounts

of Open Positions on Derivative Instruments

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Natural Gas (In millions of therms)
Asset optimization & trading 11,671.0 13,051.0
Other risk-management activities 976.0 1,072.0

The following table presents the balance sheet classification for all derivative instruments at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Balance Sheet Classification of Derivative Instruments®

(In millions)

Gross Gross

Derivative Derivative Netting of
December 31, 2019 Assets Liabilities Collateral Total@
Current Assets—Derivatives $ 29 $ 37 $ — 5 6.6
Deferred Charges and Other Assets—Derivatives 9.9 0.5 — 3 104
Current Liabilities—Derivatives 0.7 (11.0) 62 $ 4.1)
Deferred Credits—Derivatives (0.5) 97.2) — 3 97.7)
Total $ 13.0 $ (104.0) $ 62 $ (84.8)
December 31, 2018
Current Assets—Derivatives $ 257 $ 6.2) $ — % 19.5
Deferred Charges and Other Assets—Derivatives 11.3 — — 11.3
Current Liabilities—Derivatives 1.1 (21.4) — (20.3)
Deferred Credits—Derivatives — (116.8) — (116.8)
Total $ 381 $ (144.4) $ — 5 (106.3)

(@ Washington Gas has elected to offset the fair value of recognized derivative instruments against the right to reclaim or the obligation to return collateral for derivative instruments executed under
the same master netting arrangement in accordance with ASC Topic 815. All recognized derivative contracts and associated financial collateral subject to a master netting arrangement or
similar that is eligible for offset under ASC Topic 815 have been presented net in the balance sheet.

®) Washington Gas did not have derivative instruments outstanding that were designated as hedging instruments at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

The following tables present all gains and losses associated with derivative instruments for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months
ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.
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Washington Gas Light Company Gains and (Losses) on Derivative Instruments

Twelve Months Three Months Ended  Fiscal Years Ended
(In millions) Ended December 31, December 31, September 30,
2019 2018 2018 2017
Recorded to income
Utility cost of gas 5.5 (3.2) (2.1) 50.1
Recorded to regulatory assets
Gas costs 14.0 (6.0) (7.6) 77.2
Total $ 195 §$ 9.2 $ (9.7 $127.3
Collateral

Washington Gas utilizes standardized master netting agreements, which facilitate the netting of cash flows into a single net exposure for a given
counterparty. As part of these master netting agreements, cash, letters of credit and parent company guarantees may be required to be posted or obtained from
counterparties in order to mitigate credit risk related to both derivatives and non-derivative positions. Under Washington Gas’ offsetting policy, collateral
balances are offset against the related counterparties’ derivative positions to the extent the application would not result in the over-collateralization of those
derivative positions on the balance sheet. Any collateral posted that is not offset against derivative assets and liabilities is included in “Other prepayments” on
the balance sheet. Collateral received and not offset against derivative assets and liabilities is included in “Customer deposits and advance payments” on the
accompanying balance sheet.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Washington Gas had $5.2 million and $7.4 million, respectively, in collateral deposits posted with counterparties that are
not offset against derivative asset and liabilities. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Washington Gas had $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, cash
collateral held representing an obligation, and are not offset against derivative asset and liabilities.

Certain derivative instruments of Washington Gas contain contract provisions that require collateral to be posted if the credit rating of Washington Gas falls
below certain levels or if counterparty exposure to Washington Gas exceeds a certain level (credit-related contingent features). At December 31, 2019 and
2018, Washington Gas was not required to post collateral related to a derivative liability that contained a credit-related contingent feature.

The following table shows the aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments with credit-related contingent features that are in a liability position, as well
as the maximum amount of collateral that would be required if the most intrusive credit-risk-related contingent features underlying these agreements were
triggered on December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Potential Collateral Requirements for Derivative Liabilities
with Credit-Risk-Contingent Features

(In millions) December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Derivative liabilities with credit-risk-contingent features $ 04 $ 1.1
Maximum potential collateral requirements 0.4 1.0

We do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We are exposed to credit risk from derivative instruments with wholesale counterparties, which is represented by the fair value of these instruments at the
reporting date. We actively monitor and work to minimize counterparty concentration risk through various practices. At December 31, 2019, three
counterparties each represented over 10% of Washington Gas’ credit exposure to wholesale derivative counterparties for a total credit risk of $25.7 million.

NOTE 15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Recurring Basis

We measure the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities using a combination of the income and market approaches in accordance with ASC Topic
820. These financial assets and liabilities primarily consist of derivatives recorded on our balance sheet under ASC Topic 815 and short-term investments,
commercial paper and long-term debt outstanding required to be
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disclosed at fair value. Under ASC Topic 820, fair value is defined as the exit price, representing the amount that would be received in the sale of an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. To value our financial instruments, we use market
data or assumptions that market participants would use, including assumptions about credit risk (both our own credit risk and the counterparty’s credit risk)
and the risks inherent in the inputs to valuation.

We enter into derivative contracts in the futures and over-the-counter (OTC) wholesale and retail markets. These markets are the principal markets for the
respective wholesale and retail contracts. Our relevant market participants are our existing counterparties and others who have participated in energy
transactions at our delivery points. These participants have access to the same market data as Washington Gas. Valuations are generally based on pricing
service data or indicative broker quotes depending on the market location. We measure the net credit exposure at the counterparty level where the right to set-
off exists. The net exposure is determined using the mark-to-market exposure adjusted for collateral, letters of credit and parent guarantees. We use published
default rates from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services and Moody’s Investors Service as inputs for determining credit adjustments.

ASC Topic 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy
under ASC Topic 820 are described below:

Level 1. Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy consists of assets or liabilities that are valued using observable inputs based upon unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the reporting date. Washington Gas did not have any Level 1 derivatives at December 31, 2019 or 2018.

Level 2. Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy consists of assets or liabilities that are valued using directly or indirectly observable inputs either corroborated
with market data or based on exchange traded market data. Level 2 includes fair values based on industry-standard valuation techniques that consider various
assumptions: (i) quoted forward prices, including the use of mid-market pricing within a bid/ask spread; (ii) discount rates; (iii) implied volatility and
(iv) other economic factors. Substantially all of these assumptions are observable throughout the full term of the instrument, can be derived from observable
data or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed in the relevant market. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Level 2 financial assets
and liabilities included energy-related physical and financial derivative transactions such as forward, option and other contracts for deliveries at active market
locations.

Level 3. Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy consists of assets or liabilities that are valued using significant unobservable inputs at the reporting date. These
unobservable assumptions reflect our assumptions about estimates that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including natural gas
basis prices and annualized volatilities of natural gas prices. A significant change to any one of these inputs in isolation could result in a significant upward or
downward fluctuation in the fair value measurement. These inputs may be used with industry standard valuation methodologies that result in our best estimate
of fair value for the assets or liabilities at the reporting date.

Our Commodity and Market Risk (C&MR) Group determines the valuation policies and procedures. The C&MR Group reports to AltaGas’ Vice President
of Commodity Risk. In accordance with Washington Gas valuation policy, we may utilize a variety of valuation methodologies to determine the fair value of
Level 3 derivative contracts, including internally developed valuation inputs and pricing models. The prices used in our valuations are corroborated using
multiple pricing sources, and we periodically conduct assessments to determine whether each valuation model is appropriate for its intended purpose. The
C&MR Group also evaluates changes in fair value measurements on a daily basis.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Level 3 derivative assets and liabilities included: (i) physical contracts valued at illiquid market locations with no
observable market data; (ii) long-dated positions where observable pricing is not available over the majority of the life of the contract; (iii) contracts valued
using historical spot price volatility assumptions and (iv) valuations using indicative broker quotes for inactive market locations.

The following table sets forth financial instruments recorded at fair value at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. A financial instrument’s
classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Our assessment of the
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their
placement within the fair value hierarchy.
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Fair Value Measurements Under the Fair Value Hierarchy

(In millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At December 31, 2019
Assets $ — 5 08 $ 122§ 13.0
Liabilities $ — 5 (7.0) $ 97.0) $ (104.0)
At December 31, 2018
Assets $ — 3 9.8 $ 283 $ 38.1
Liabilities $ —  § 95 $ (134.9) $ (144.4)

The following table includes quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of our Level 3 financial
instruments and the respective fair values of the net derivative asset and liability positions, by contract type, at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

(In millions) Net Fair Value Valuation Techniques Unobservable Inputs Range
Natural Gas Basis Price (per
December 31, 2019 ($84.8) Discounted Cash Flow dekatherm) ($0.905)-$2.523
Natural Gas Basis Price (per
December 31, 2018 ($106.6) Discounted Cash Flow dekatherm) ($1.028)-$5.34

The following table is a summary of the changes in the fair value of our natural gas related derivative instruments that are measured at net fair value on a
recurring basis in accordance with ASC Topic 820 using significant Level 3 inputs during the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended
December 31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Level 3 Inputs

Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30,
In millions
¢ ) 2019 2018 2018 2017
Balance at beginning of period $ (106.6) $ 94.1) $ (122.6) $ (251.6)
Realized and unrealized gains (losses)
Recorded to income 7.2 4.4) (4.5) 44.2
Recorded to regulatory assets—gas costs 17.8 (5.8) (10.0) 69.7
Transfers into Level 3 (6.7) — (6.9) 0.4)
Transfers out of Level 3 7.9 — 8.9 0.4)
Settlements 4.9) 2.3) 41.0 15.9
Balance at end of period $ (84.8) $ (106.6) $ 941 $ (122.6)

Transfers between different levels of the fair value hierarchy may occur based on fluctuations in the valuation inputs and on the level of observable inputs
used to value the instruments from period to period. It is our policy to show both transfers into and out of the different levels of the fair value hierarchy at the
fair value as of the beginning of the period. Transfers out of Level 3 were due to valuations that experienced an increase in observable market inputs.
Transfers into Level 3 were due to an increase in unobservable market inputs, primarily pricing points. All amounts recorded to income are from the utility
cost of gas.

Unrealized gains (losses) attributable to derivative assets and liabilities measured using significant Level 3 inputs were recorded as follows for the calendar
year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively:
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Unrealized Gains (Losses) Recorded for Level 3 Measurements

Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30,
(In millions) 2019 Jo18 2018 2017
Recorded to income
Utility cost of gas $9.9 $(4.0) $2.3 $31.0
Recorded to Regulatory
Gas costs 21.6 (5.3) 0.2 51.0
Total $31.5 $(9.3) $2.5 $82.0

The following table presents the carrying amounts recorded at amortized cost on Washington Gas' balance sheets and estimated fair values of our financial
instruments at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Carrying Carrying

(In millions) Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Money market funds@ $ 551 $ 551 $ 69.7 $ 69.7
Commercial paper ® $ 3995 $ 3995 § 296.0 $ 296.0
Project financing ® $ — 5 — 5 155 $ 15.5
Current maturities of long-term debt

$ — — 5 500 $ 50.0
Long-term debt(©@ $ 13309 $ 14808 $ 10350 $ 1,096.3

(@ The balance at December 31, 2019 includes $11.0 million money market funds located in "Cash and cash equivalents", $19.5 million rabbi trust investment located in "Current Assets-Other", and
$24.6 million rabbi trust investments located in "Deferred Charges and Other Assets-Other" of the accompanying balance sheets; The balance at December 31, 2018 includes $4.4 million money
market funds located in "Cash and cash equivalents", $20.2 million rabbi trust investment located in "Current Assets-Other" and $45.1 million rabbi trust investments located in "Deferred Charges
and Other Assets-Other".

®The balance at December 31, 2019 includes $299.5 million located in "Notes payable and project financing", and $100.0 million located in “Long-term debt” on the accompanying balance
sheets; The balance at December 31, 2018 was located in "Notes payable and project financing" on the balance sheets.

@© Includes adjustments for current maturities and unamortized discounts, as applicable. The amount excludes the commercial paper.

Our money market funds are Level 1 valuations and their carrying amount approximates fair value. The carrying cost of our commercial paper
approximates fair value using Level 2 inputs. Due to the nature of our project financing arrangements, the carrying cost approximates fair value using Level 2
inputs. Due to the short term nature of current maturities of long-term debt, the carrying cost approximates fair value using Level 2 inputs. The fair value of
long-term debt was estimated based on valuation techniques using indirectly observable inputs corroborated with market data and therefore is classified as
Level 2.

NOTE 16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Corporate Service Allocation

As a subsidiary of AltaGas and effective with the close of the Merger on July 6, 2018, Washington Gas is charged a proportionate share of corporate
governance and other shared services costs from AltaGas, primarily related to human resources, employee benefits, finance, legal, accounting, tax,
information technology services, and office services. AltaGas charges Washington Gas for the total shared service costs and Washington Gas in turn allocates
a portion of the costs to WGL’s other subsidiaries at the lower of cost or market. Washington Gas records a payable of the total shared service costs allocated
to all of WGL's subsidiaries in "Payable to associated companies" and a receivable of the shared service costs allocated to WGL’s other subsidiaries in
“Receivables from associated companies” on the balance sheet.
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At December 31, 2019, Washington Gas recorded a $5.0 million liability to “Payables to associated companies,” reflecting Washington Gas’ unpaid shared
service cost payable to AltaGas, and a receivable of $5.3 million to “Receivables from associated companies” on the balance sheet related to the shared
service costs allocated to WGL’s subsidiaries. The net expenses of $18.2 million was included in “Operation and maintenance” on the statements of
operations for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, reflecting the shared service cost allocated to Washington Gas.

At December 31, 2018, Washington Gas recorded a receivable from associated companies of $0.6 million on the balance sheet related to the shared service
costs allocated to WGL's subsidiaries, and $4.5 million net expenses included in "Operation and maintenance" of the statements of operations for the three
months ended December 31, 2018, reflecting the shared service cost allocated to Washington Gas. There is no payable balance related to the shared service
cost as of December 31, 2018.

In addition, Washington Gas provides accounting, treasury, legal and other administrative and general support to WGL’s subsidiaries, and files consolidated
tax returns that include affiliated taxable transactions. Effective upon the approvals by the SCC of Virginia and beginning in January 2019 and June 2019,
respectively, Washington Gas also provides accounting, legal, tax and other administrative and general support to various AltaGas U.S. entities and AltaGas.
Washington Gas bills affiliates to which it provides services in accordance with regulatory requirements for the actual cost of providing these services, which
approximates their market value. To the extent such billings are outstanding, they are reflected in “Receivables from associated companies” on Washington
Gas’ balance sheet. Washington Gas assigns or allocates these costs directly to its affiliates and, therefore, does not recognize revenues or expenses associated
with providing these services. Washington Gas believes that allocations based on broad measures of business activity are appropriate for allocating expenses
resulting from common services. Affiliate entities are allocated a portion of common services based on a formula driven by appropriate indicators of activity,
as approved by management.

Project Financing

Washington Gas previously obtained third-party project financing on behalf of the federal government to provide funds during the construction of certain
energy management services projects entered into under Washington Gas’ area-wide contract. Washington Gas recorded a contract asset in “Unbilled
revenues” representing the government’s obligation and an account payable to WGL Energy Systems in “Payable to associated companies” for the
construction work performed for the same amount. Refer to Note 6 — Short Term Debt of the Notes to Financial Statements for further discussions of the
project financing.

Related Party Transactions with Hampshire

Hampshire owns full and partial interests in underground natural gas storage facilities, including pipeline delivery facilities located in and around
Hampshire County, West Virginia, and operates those facilities to serve Washington Gas, which purchases all of the storage services of Hampshire.
Washington Gas includes the cost of these services in the bills sent to its customers and records the cost of the services in "Operation and maintenance" in its
statements of operations. Hampshire operates under a “pass-through” cost of service-based tariff approved by the FERC and adjusts its billing rates to
Washington Gas on a periodic basis to account for changes in its investment in utility plant and associated expenses. The arrangement between Hampshire
and Washington Gas is classified as an operating lease. A ROU asset and lease liability was not recognized upon the adoption of ASC 842 because all the
costs associated with the arrangement are variable. Washington Gas recorded $7.4 million, $1.7 million, $6.9 million, and $6.8 million of the expenses related
to the cost of services provided by Hampshire in Washington Gas' statements of operations for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months
ended December 2018, and calendar year ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The outstanding balance not cleared between Washington Gas
and Hampshire at the end of the reporting period was recorded in "Receivables from associated companies" of Washington Gas' balance sheet. Refer to Note
3- Leases for further discussion of ASC 842.

Other Related Party Transactions

In connection with billing for unregulated third-party marketers, including WGL Energy Services and with other miscellaneous billing processes,
Washington Gas collects cash on behalf of affiliates and transfers the cash in a reasonable time period. Cash collected by Washington Gas on behalf of its
affiliates but not yet transferred is recorded in “Payables to associated companies” on Washington Gas’ balance sheet.

Washington Gas provides gas balancing services related to storage, injections, withdrawals and deliveries to all energy marketers participating in the sale of
natural gas on an unregulated basis through the customer choice programs that operate in its service territory, These balancing services include the sale of
natural gas supply commodities related to various peaking arrangements contractually supplied to Washington Gas and then partially allocated and assigned
by Washington Gas to the energy marketers, including WGL Energy Services. Washington Gas records revenues in " Operating revenue" of its statements
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of operations for these balancing services pursuant to tariffs approved by the appropriate regulatory bodies. The following table shows the amounts
Washington Gas charged WGL Energy Services for balancing services.

Washington Gas - Gas Balancing Service Charges

Calendar Year Ended Three Month Ended
December 31, December 31, Fiscal Years Ended September 30,
(In millions) 2019 2018 2018 2017
Gas balancing service charge $ 200 $ 46 $ 185 $ 23.6

As aresult of these balancing services, an imbalance is created for volumes of natural gas received by Washington Gas that are not equal to the volumes of
natural gas delivered to customers of the energy marketers. Washington Gas recorded a $2.1 million payable to WGL Energy Services and a $0.7 million
receivable from WGL Energy Service at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to an imbalance in gas volumes. The receivable and payable are
recorded in "Accounts receivable" and "Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities" on Washington Gas' balance sheet. Refer to Note 1—Accounting
Policies of the Notes to Financial Statements for further discussion of these imbalance transactions.

Washington Gas participates in a purchase of receivables (POR) program as approved by the PSC of MD and separate program approved by the PSC of
DC, whereby it purchases receivables from participating energy marketers at approved discount rates. WGL Energy Services is one of the energy marketers
that participates in these POR programs whereby it sells its receivables to various utilities, including Washington Gas, at approved discount rates. The
receivables purchased by Washington Gas are included in “Accounts receivable” in the accompanying balance sheet. At December 31, 2019 and 2018,
Washington Gas had balances of $7.9 million and $6.4 million, respectively, of purchased receivables from WGL Energy Services.

NOTE 17. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The following table shows the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for Washington Gas by component for the calendar year ended
December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018, and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) by Component

Calendar Year Three Months
Ended Ended Fiscal Years
December 31, December 31, Ended September 30,
(In thousands) 2019 2018 2018 2017
Beginning Balance $ (6,627) $ (1,830) $ (4,522) $ (7,830)
Amortization of prior service credit (¥® (649) (226) (675) (767)
Amortization of actuarial loss (@(®) 1,590 351 1,704 2,255
. . - . (@
Actuarial gain (loss) arising during the period 14,672 (6,597) 4,620 3,977
Current-period other comprehensive income (loss) 15,613 (6,472) 5,649 5,465
Income tax expense (benefit) related to pension and other post- 4,077 (1,675) 2,957 2157

retirement benefit plans
Ending Balance $ 4909 $ 6,627) $ (1,830) $ (4,522)

@These accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) components are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. Refer to Note 10 — Pension and other post-retirement benefit plans

for additional details.
® Amortization of prior service cost and amortization of actuarial gain (loss) represent the amounts reclassified out of AOCI to “Other income (expense)” of statements of operations for the
reporting periods.
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NOTE 18. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

The following table details the changes in operating assets and liabilities from operating activities, cash payments that have been included in the
determination of earnings and non-cash investing and financing activities:

Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, September 30,
(In thousands) 2019 2018 2018 2017
CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues $ (16,494) $ (222,098) $ (13,557) $ (107,195)
Receivables from associated companies (7,602) (1,874) 30,135 (18,563)
Gas costs and other regulatory assets/liabilities—net 26,374 40,028 27,994 3,430
Storage gas 15,952 (2,550) (8,626) (10,280)
Prepaid taxes (7,383) (9,461) 5,618 (6,524)
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities (56,925) 61,029 18,378 17,921
Payables to associated companies 240 20,662 (73,296) 29,074
Customer deposits and advance payments (14,318) (29,288) 19,464 (16,742)
Accrued taxes (4,670) 1,024 14,619 (4,831)
Other current assets (13,591) (28) (14,605) (4,123)
Other current liabilities (2,474) (121) 154 280
Deferred gas costs—net 33,044 (51,936) (8,306) 2,467
Deferred assets—other 4,981 483 (5,895) (15,088)
Deferred liabilities—other (28,004) (7,072) (21,499) (4,667)
Pension and other post-retirement benefits (15,677) (638) (14,521) (9,806)
Other—net — — 893 3,409
Changes in operating assets and liabilities $ (86,547) $ (201,840) $ (43,050) $ (141,238)
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW
INFORMATION
Income taxes paid (refunded)—net $ 15,623 $ 3,782 % (2,983) $ —
Interest paid $ 57,922 §$ 4982 $ 57,036 $ 50,539
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH
INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Extinguishment of project debt financing $ (15,460) $ (53,018) $ (28,312) $ (27,927)
Capital expenditure accruals included in accounts payable and
other accrued liabilities $ 26,590 $ 33,245 $ 53,367 $ 37,049

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within Washington Gas’ balance sheets that sums to the
total of such amounts shown on the statements of cash flows

December 31, September 30,
(in thousands) 2019 2018 2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 17,069 $ 6,082 $ 19 1
Restricted cash included in Current assets-Other $ 19,464 $ 20,207 $ 20,207 $ —
Restricted cash included in Deferred charges and other assets-Other $ 24,615 $ 45134 $ 44775 $ —
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the
statement of cash flows $ 61,148 $ 71,423 $ 64,983 $ 1
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Restricted cash included in "Current assets—Other" and "Deferred charges and other assets—Other" on the balance sheets represents amount of investment
in rabbi trusts to fund deferred compensation, pension and other post-retirement benefits for certain management personnel and directors. The rabbi trusts
were funded pursuant to the agreement of merger with AltaGas. The funds in the rabbi trusts can only be used to pay for plan participant benefits and other
plan expenses such as investment fees or trustee fees. The funds are invested in money market funds at end of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and September
30, 2018. We did not have any restricted cash at end of September 30, 2017. Refer to Note 10 — Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans for further
discussion of rabbi trusts.

NOTE 19. COMPARATIVE DATA

The following table presents financial information for calendar years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 and three months ended December 31, 2018 and
2017.

Calendar Years Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, December 31,
2019 2018 2018 2017
(In thousands) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
OPERATING REVENUES $ 1,330,651 $ 1,272,694 $ 402,101 $ 377,470
OPERATING EXPENSES
Utility cost of gas 461,574 438,939 156,641 124,745
Operation and maintenance 404,961 564,536 102,728 82,372
Depreciation and amortization 142,565 136,373 34,948 33,646
General taxes and other assessments 149,618 146,747 38,552 39,983
Total Operating Expenses 1,158,718 1,286,595 332,869 280,746
OPERATING INCOME 171,933 (13,901) 69,232 96,724
Other income (expense) — net 9,478 (5,127) 3,494 1,029
Interest expense 62,567 59,237 15,706 14,973
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES 118,844 (78,265) 57,020 82,780
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) 19,032 (42,870) 7,847 24,854
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 99,812 $ (35,395) $ 49,173 $ 57,926
Loss on preferred stock extinguishment 556 — — —
Dividends on preferred stock 1,169 1,320 330 330
NET INCOME (LOSS) APPLICABLE TO COMMON STOCK $ 98,087 $ (36,715) $ 48,843 $ 57,596
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The following table presents cash flows for calendar years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 and three months ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Calendar Years Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, December 31,
2019 2018 2018 2017
(In thousands) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) $ 99,812 $ (35,395) 49,173 $ 57,926
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Depreciation and amortization 142,565 136,373 34,948 33,646
Amortization of:
Other regulatory assets and liabilities—net 8,491 7,142 1,859 1,634
Debt related costs 1,501 1,561 382 401
Deferred income taxes—net 19,690 (25,809) 8,012 7,386
Accrued/deferred pension and other post-retirement benefit cost (1,466) 8,399 (330) 2,398
Compensation expense related to stock-based awards 3,626 15,902 1,353 4,518
Provision for doubtful accounts 17,266 22,236 5,940 3,928
Impairment loss 2,042 40,422 2,453 —
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative contracts (5,429) (7,625) 4,200 1,446
Amortization of investment tax credits (658) (688) (165) (179)
Other non-cash charges (credits)—net 2,436 (2,706) (453) (197)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (86,547) (103,526) (201,840) (141,364)
Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities 203,329 56,286 (94,468) (28,457)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital contributions from parent — 402,728 100,000 100,000
Long-term debt issued 298,482 — — —
Long-term debt retired (50,000) (50,000) (50,000) —
Debt issuance costs (3,130) (130) _ (236)
Long-term commercial paper issued (retired)—net 100,000 — — —
Notes payable issued (retired)—net 3,483 134,001 200,999 39,000
Project financing — 53,018 — —
Dividends on common stock and preferred stock (100,736) (90,820) (24,078) (22,166)
Payment for preferred stock extinguishment (28,729) — — —
Other financing activities—net — — — (6,197)
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 219,370 448,797 226,921 110,401
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures (excluding AFUDC) (432,974) (443,550) (126,013) (75,293)
Insurance proceeds related to investing properties — 3,238 — —
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (432,974) (440,312) (126,013) (75,293)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH (10,275) 64,771 6,440 6,651
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash at Beginning of the Year 71,423 6,652 64,983 1
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash at End of the Year $ 61,148 $ 71,423 71,423 $ 6,652
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Income taxes paid (refunded)—net 15,623 1,757 3,782 (958)
Interest paid 57,922 59,041 4,982 2,977
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
ACTIVITIES:
Extinguishment of project debt financing (15,460) (81,330) (53,018) —
Capital expenditure accruals included in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 26,590 33,245 33,245 25,325
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The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within WGL’s consolidated balance sheets that sums to
the total of such amounts shown on the statements of cash flows

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

(In thousands) (Unaudited)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 17,069 $ 6,082 $ 6,652
Restricted cash included in Current assets-Other 19,464 20,207 —
Restricted cash included in Deferred charges and other assets-Other 24,615 45,134 —
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash flows $ 61,148 $ 71,423 $ 6,652

NOTE 20. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited)

All adjustments necessary for a fair presentation have been included in the quarterly information provided below. Due to the seasonal nature of our
business, we report substantial variations in operations on a quarterly basis.

Quarters Ended

(In thousands) March 31 June 30 September 30@ December 31
2019

Operating revenues $ 593,653 $ 198,484 $ 122,305 $ 416,209
Operating income (loss) $ 152,580 $ (10,138) $ (73,050) 102,541
Net income (loss) $ 112,996 $ (20,591) $ (65,799) $ 73,206
Net income (loss) applicable to common stock $ 112,666 $ (20,921) $ (65,799) $ 72,141
2018

Operating revenues $ 532,040 $ 199,512 $ 139,041 $ 402,101
Operating income (loss) $ 148,978 $ (6,649) $ (225,462) 69,232
Net income (loss) $ 108,084 $ (11,499) $ (181,153) $ 49,173
Net income (loss) applicable to common stock $ 107,754  $ (11,829) $ (181,483) $ 48,843

“During the quarter ended September 30, 2018, Washington Gas recorded $200.2 million of merger related costs due to the Merger with AltaGas.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholder and the Board of Directors of Washington Gas Light Company
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Washington Gas Light Company (the Company) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the related
statements of operations, comprehensive income, common shareholder's equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and three months ended
December 31, 2018, the related notes, and the schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion,
the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and three months ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

Adoption of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842)

As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases due to the adoption of ASU No. 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 842), and the amendments in ASU’s 2018-01, 2018-11, and 2018-20, effective January 1, 2019.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as Washington Gas Light Company’s auditor since 2018.

Tysons, Virginia
February 28, 2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholder and the Board of Directors of Washington Gas Light Company
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying statements of income, comprehensive income, common shareholder’s equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in
the period ended September 30, 2018, the related notes, and the schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”)
of Washington Gas Light Company ("Washington Gas"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the results of
operations and cash flows of Washington Gas for each of the two years in the period ended September 30, 2018, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of Washington Gas’ management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Washington Gas’ financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
and are required to be independent with respect to Washington Gas in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Washington Gas is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Washington Gas’ internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
McLean, Virginia
November 19, 2018 (March 1, 2019, as to the effects of the adoption of ASU2017-07 during the three months ended December 31, 2018).

We began serving as Washington Gas' auditor in 2002. In 2018 we became the predecessor auditor.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation Of Disclosure Controls And Procedures

Senior management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Washington Gas,
evaluated the effectiveness of Washington Gas’ disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019. Based on this evaluation, the President and
Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that Washington Gas’ disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2019.

Management's Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of Washington Gas is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Washington Gas’ internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding
of controls, material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Accordingly, even internal controls determined to be effective can
provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Furthermore, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that such controls may become inadequate due to changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of Washington Gas’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 based upon the criteria
set forth in the Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based
on its assessment, management has concluded that Washington Gas maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019.

This annual report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of Washington Gas’ registered public accounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting pursuant to rules of the SEC.

Changes In Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the internal control over financial reporting of Washington Gas during the quarter ended December 31, 2019 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the internal control over financial reporting of Washington Gas.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OF THE REGISTRANT

Washington Gas meets the conditions set forth in General Instruction I(1) of Form 10-K and has omitted the information called for by this Item pursuant to
General Instruction I(2) of Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Washington Gas meets the conditions set forth in General Instruction I(1) of Form 10-K and has omitted the information called for by this Item pursuant to
General Instruction I(2) of Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Washington Gas meets the conditions set forth in General Instruction I(1) of Form 10-K and has omitted the information called for by this Item pursuant to
General Instruction I(2) of Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Washington Gas meets the conditions set forth in General Instruction I(1) of Form 10-K and has omitted the information called for by this Item pursuant to
General Instruction I(2) of Form 10-K.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Aggregate fees billed by (a) Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”), the company’s independent public accounting firm for the fiscal years ended September
30, 2018 and 2017, for services rendered with respect to the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, and (b) Ernst & Young LLP ("EY"), the
company's independent registered public accounting firm for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 and three months ended December 31, 2018, for
services rendered with respect to the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 and three months ended December 31, 2018, respectfully, are below.

Calendar Year Three Months Fiscal Years
Ended December 31, Ended December 31, Ended September 30,
(amounts in dollars)
2019 2018 2018 2017

Audit Fees® $ 1,342,192 $ 642,479 $ 1,709,225 $ 1,335,278
Audit Related Fees®@ $ 272,000 $ — 3 — 3 102,000
Tax Fees® $ 20,462 $ — 370,064 $ 240,490
All Other Fees® $ — $ — % 13,670 $ 14,388
TOTAL FEES $ 1,634,654  $ 642,479 $ 2,092,959 $ 1,692,156

Services Provided by Deloitte and EY

All services rendered by Deloitte and EY are permissible under applicable laws and regulations and were pre-approved by the Audit Committee or by the
Chair of the Audit Committee by delegated authority as required by law. The fees paid to Deloitte and EY for services listed in the above table are described
in the categories listed below.

(1) Audit Fees. These are fees for professional services performed by (a) Deloitte for the audit of the company’s annual financial statements and review of
financial statements included in the company’s quarterly filings on Form 10-Q, and services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and
regulatory filings or engagements during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 and (b) EY for the audit of the company’s annual financial
statements and review of financial statements included in the company’s quarterly filings on Form 10-Q, and services that are normally provided in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements during the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 and three month ended December 31,
2018.

(2) Audit Related Fees. These are fees for services performed by (a) Deloitte related to the audit of the company’s annual financial statements for the fiscal
years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 and (b) EY related to the audit of the company's financial statements for the calendar year ended December 31,
2019 and three month ended December 31, 2018.

(3) Tax Fees. These are fees for professional services performed by (a) Deloitte with respect to tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning during the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 and (b) EY with respect to tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning during the calendar year ended
December 31, 2019 and three month ended December 31, 2018. In each case, this includes review of tax returns for the Company.

(4) All Other Fees. These are fees for other permissible work performed by (a) Deloitte during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 and (b)
EY during the calendar year ended December 31, 2019 and three month ended December 31, 2018.

These services are actively monitored (as to both spending level and work content) by the Washington Gas Audit Committee to maintain the appropriate
objectivity and independence in Deloitte’s and EY's core work, which is the audit of the company’s financial statements and the assessment of internal
controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Pre-Approval Policy for Audit and Non-Audit Services

In accordance with the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, all audit and non-audit services provided to the company by its independent public
accounting firm must be pre-approved by the Audit Committee. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 permits the Audit Committee to delegate to one of its
members the authority to approve audit and non-audit services by the company’s independent public accounting firm when the Audit Committee is not in
session. Until December 31, 2019 when the Audit Committee adopted a new charter, the Audit Committee maintained a policy that allowed the Chair of the
Audit Committee to approve audit-related services provided by the Company’s independent public accounting firm between meetings of the Audit Committee
if the fees for the services did not exceed $100,000. The Chair of the Audit Committee would report as soon as possible to the other Audit Committee
members if the Chair was required to use this delegated authority between Audit
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Committee meetings. However, under the policy, the entire Audit Committee was required to approve any non-audit related services to be provided by the
Company’s independent public accounting firm prior to the provision of such services. All services reported in the preceding schedule for calendar year ended
December 31, 2019 and fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 were pre-approved by either the full Audit Committee or by the Chair of the Audit
Committee, by delegated authority.
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statement Schedules

(@®)

All of the financial statements and financial statement schedules filed as a part of the annual report on Form 10-K are included in Item 8.
(@)

Schedule II should be read in conjunction with the financial statements in this report. Schedules not included herein have been omitted because they are not
applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

Schedule/

Exhibit Description

II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019, three months ended December 31, 2018
and for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.

@@3) Exhibits
Exhibits Filed Herewith:

4.6 Description of Securities Registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

24 Power of Attorney for Washington Gas Light Company

31.1 Certification of Donald M. Jenkins, President of Washington Gas Light Company, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

31.2 Certification of Douglas I. Bonawitz, the Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Washington Gas Light Company,
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32 Certification of Donald M. Jenkins, the President, and Douglas I. Bonawitz, the Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer,
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules (continued)

Description

4.1

4.2
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—_
o
~

Exhibits Incorporated by Reference:
Articles of Incorporation & Bylaws:

Washington Gas Light Company Charter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Registration Statement on Washington Gas Light
Company's Form S-3 filed July 21, 1995).

Bylaws of Washington Gas Light Company, as amended effective July 6, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Washington Gas
Light Company’s Form 8-K filed July 12, 2018).

Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders including Indentures:

Indenture, dated September 1, 1991 between Washington Gas Light Company and The Bank of New York, as Trustee, regarding issuance of
unsecured notes (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to Washington Gas Light Company's Form 8-K filed September 19, 1991).

Supplemental Indenture, dated September 1, 1993 between Washington Gas Light Company and The Bank of New York, as Trustee,
regarding the addition of a new section to the Indenture dated September 1, 1991 (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to Washington Gas
Light Company's Form 8-K filed September 10, 1993).

Terms Agreement, dated September 13, 2016, between Washington Gas Light Company, MUFG Securities Americas Inc., Wells Fargo
Securities, LLC, BB&T Securities, LLC, TD Securities (USA) LLC and The Williams Capital Group, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 1.1 to Washington Gas Light Company's Form 8-K filed September 19, 2016).

Terms Agreement, dated September 13, 2017, between Washington Gas Light Company, MUFG Securities Americas Inc. and RBC Capital
Markets, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Washington Gas Light Company's Form 8-K filed September 19, 2017).

Terms Agreement, dated September 10, 2019, between Washington Gas Light Company, MUFG Securities Americas Inc. and TD Securities
(USA) LLC, as representatives of the agents (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to Washington Gas Light Company’s Form 8-K filed
September 16, 2019).

Material Contracts
Other Services Contracts

Master Services Agreement, effective June 19, 2007, with Accenture LLP, related to business process outsourcing, and service technology
enhancements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to WGL Holdings, Inc.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 filed
August 9, 2007). Portions of this exhibit were omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment submitted to the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Securities Distribution Agreements

Distribution Agreement, dated January 8, 2019, by and among Washington Gas Light Company and BB&T Capital Markets, a division of
BB&T Securities, LL.C, as agent, relating to the issuance and sale from time to time of up to $725,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the
Company's Medium-Term Notes, Series L (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Washington Gas Light Company's Form 8-K filed
January 14, 2019).

Debt and Credit Agreements

Stockholder Agreement, dated as of July 6, 2018, between Washington Gas Light Company and Wrangler SPE LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to WGL Holdings, Inc.’s Form 8-K filed July 12, 2018).

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2019 among Washington Gas Light Company, and the lenders parties thereto,
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent; Branch Banking and Trust Company, MUFG Bank, Ltd. and TD Bank,
N.A., as co-syndication agents; and Wells Fargo Securities LLC, BB&T Capital Markets, MUFG Bank, Ltd. and TD Securities (USA) LLC,
as joint lead arrangers and joint book runners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Washington Gas Light Company’s Form 8-K filed
July 25, 2019).
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Washington Gas Light Company
Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules (continued)

Schedule/

Exhibit Description

10.5 Agent Accession Letter, dated September 10, 2019, between Washington Gas Light Company, MUFG Securities Americas Inc., TD
Securities (USA) LLC, CIBC World Markets Corp., RBC Capital Markets, LLC, U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc. and The Williams Capital
Group, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Washington Gas Light Company’s Form 8-K filed September 16, 2019).

16 Letter re change in certifying accountant

16.1 Letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP, dated October 12, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 to Washington Gas Light Company
form 8-K filed October 15, 2018).

18 Letter re change in accounting principles

18.1 Preferability Letter Regarding Change in Accounting Principles for Washington Gas (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 18.2 to WGL

Holdings, Inc.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2017 filed February 8, 2018).
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Washington Gas Light Company

Part IV

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2019, Three Months Ended December 31, 2018, and Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

(In thousands)

Balance at

Additions Charged To

Beginning
of Period

Costs and
Expenses@

Other
Accounts®

Deductions(©

Balance at
End of
Period

Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2019

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Deducted from Assets in the Balance Sheet:

$

29,461 ($

16,572

2,565

29,890

18,708

Three Months Ended December 31, 2018

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Deducted from Assets in the Balance Sheet:
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

29,622 ($

5,902

581

6,644

29,461

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2018

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Deducted from Assets in the Balance Sheet:
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

23,741 |$

19,946

1,409

15,474

29,622

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2017

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Deducted from Assets in the Balance Sheet:
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

$

20,220 |$

14,320

1,821

12,620

23,741

(@Represent the amount of bad debt expense recorded to the income statement.
(®)Recoveries on receivables previously written off as uncollectible and unclaimed customer deposits, overpayments, etc.

@ Includes deductions for accounts charged-off.
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not Applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY

/s/ Douglas 1. Bonawitz

Douglas I. Bonawitz
Senior Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Date: February 28, 2020

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Donald M. Jenkins

(Donald M. Jenkins)

/s/ Douglas 1. Bonawitz

(Douglas I. Bonawitz)

/s/ Gunnar J. Gode

(Gunnar J. Gode)

*

(Randall L. Crawford)

5

(James W. Dyke, Jr.)

5

(Linda R. Gooden)

*

(M. Elise Hyland)

*

(Dale S. Rosenthal)

%

(Deborah S. Stein)

/s/ Douglas 1. Bonawitz

(Douglas I. Bonawitz)
Attorney-in-Fact

President - US Utilities and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer

(Principal Financial Officer)

Vice President and Controller

(Principal Accounting Officer)

Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020



Exhibit 4.6

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED UNDER SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

Washington Gas has the authority to issue 81,500,000 shares of capital stock, divided into 80,000,000 shares of Common Stock,
par value $1.00, and 1,500,000 shares of Serial Preferred Stock, without par value.

Our Common Stock is registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK

The following is a summary of, and is qualified by reference to, the provisions of the Company's Charter, as amended, relating
to its Common Stock, $1.00 par value.

In addition to the amount outstanding, the Company is authorized by its regulatory commissions to: (1) issue up to 3,500,000
shares of its Common Stock through one or more public offerings, (2) issue up to 1,152,615 shares of Common Stock under the
Dividend Reinvestment and Common Stock Purchase Plan and other employee benefit plans, and (3) issue up to 3,000,000
additional shares of Common Stock to support the potential issuance of either debt securities or preferred stock shares which are
convertible into shares of Common Stock. The presently outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company are validly issued,
fully paid and nonassessable.

Dividend Rights

Subject to the preferential rights of the holders of the Preferred Stock to receive full cumulative dividends, both past and
current, and the restrictions set forth below, the holders of the Common Stock are entitled to receive such dividends as may be
declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefor.

Voting, Liquidation and Other Rights

Common stockholders of record are, together with holders of record of shares of voting Preferred Stock, entitled to one vote for
each share on matters voted upon by stockholders except that whenever dividends on Preferred Stock are in arrears in an aggregate
amount equal to four full quarterly dividends on all outstanding shares of such stock, the holders of the Preferred Stock (whether
voting or non-voting) have the right, as a class, until all dividends then in default have been paid, to elect the largest number of
directors that does not exceed 25% of the Board of



Directors, but in no event less than two directors; and the holders of Common Stock will be entitled to elect the remaining
directors.

Upon liquidation, the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to share ratably in the distribution of the remaining assets
available for distribution after satisfaction of the preferential liquidation requirements of, and accumulated unpaid dividends on, the
Preferred Stock. The Common Stock and all series of Preferred Stock have no preemptive rights.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for the Company's Common Stock is The Bank of New York. The Bank of New York extends
credit to the Company, along with other banks, under revolving credit agreements. From time to time the Company has entered into
contracts with The Bank of New York for the sale, on a recourse basis, of certain non-utility accounts receivable. The Bank of New
York also serves as transfer agent and registrar for the Company's Preferred Stock.



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-224669 on Form S-3 of our report dated November 19, 2018 (March 1, 2019,
as to the effects of the adoption of ASU2017-07 during the three months ended December 31, 2018) relating to the financial statements of Washington Gas
Light Company, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Washington Gas Light Company for the year ended December 31, 2019.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
McLean, Virginia
February 28, 2020



Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-224669) of Washington Gas Light Company of our report

dated February 28, 2020, with respect to the financial statements and financial statement schedule of Washington Gas Light Company included in this Annual
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2019.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Tysons, Virginia
February 28, 2020



Exhibit 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below does hereby constitute and appoint, Donald M. Jenkins, Karen M. Hardwick, Douglas I. Bonawitz, and Gunnar J.
Gode, or any of them singly, as such person’s true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution, resubstitution and revocation to
execute, deliver and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, for and on such person’s behalf, and in any and all capacities, the Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, of Washington Gas Light Company and any and all amendments thereto, under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to
do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done as fully to all intents and purposes as such person might or could do in person,
hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent or such person’s substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof.

Name Title Date

/s/ Randall L. Crawford Director February 20, 2020
(Randall L. Crawford)

/s/ James W. Dyke, Jr. Director February 20, 2020
(James W. Dyke, Jr.)

/s/ Linda R. Gooden Director February 20, 2020
(Linda R. Gooden)

/s/ M. Elise Hyland Director February 20, 2020
(M. Elise Hyland)

/s/ Dale S. Rosenthal Director February 20, 2020
(Dale S. Rosenthal)

/s/ Deborah S. Stein Director February 20, 2020
(Deborah S. Stein)




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY

I, Donald M. Jenkins, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Washington Gas Light Company;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2020

/s/ Donald M. Jenkins

Donald M. Jenkins
President



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY

I, Douglas I. Bonawitz, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Washington Gas Light Company;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2020

/s/ Douglas 1. Bonawitz

Douglas I. Bonawitz

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRESIDENT AND THE EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND TREASURER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Washington Gas Light Company on Form 10-K for the year period ended December 31, 2019, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Donald M. Jenkins, President, and Douglas I. Bonawitz, Senior Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, each hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to
the best of their knowledge, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations.

This certification is being made for the exclusive purpose of compliance by the President and the Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer with the requirements of Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and may not be disclosed, distributed, or used by any person for any
reason other than as specifically required by law.

/s/ Donald M. Jenkins

Donald M. Jenkins
President

/s/ Douglas I. Bonawitz

Douglas I. Bonawitz

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

February 28, 2020



